A.D. MDLXII

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI SASSARI

SCUOLA DI DOTTORATO DI RICERCA Scienze e Biotecnologie dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari



Indirizzo di Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche

Ciclo XXVI

Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy

dr.ssa Maria Gabriella Serra

Direttore della Scuola Referente di Indirizzo Docente Guida Tutor

prof.ssa Alba Pusino prof. Nicolò P.P. Macciotta dr. Alberto S. Atzori prof. Antonello Cannas A mia Madre, a mie Sorelle, e ad Alessandro,

con tanto affetto e gratitudine

"S'eliche non bocata castanza"

Acknowledgments

During my PhD I worked with a great number of people. Each one of them participated in a different way in my work, and it is a pleasure for me to express all my gratitude to them in my acknowledgments.

In the first place, I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Alberto S. Atzori. His wide knowledge, great patience, constant help, and friendship were fundamental for the realization of this thesis.

I am grateful to Professor Antonello Cannas for his personal guidance, detailed and constructive comments, and trust in me during these three years. I gratefully thank Professor Giuseppe Pulina for his precious advices and support. I express my gratitude to Prof. Nicolò P.P. Macciotta, Prof. Lelia Murgia, Prof. Francesco Giunta, Dr. Giovanni Pruneddu, Dr. Gianni Battaccone, Dr. Anna Nudda, and to Dr. Antonio Pais for their support and scientific help.

I would reserve a special thanks to Prof. Salvatore P.G. Rassu for his advices and friendship, and for everything he taught me during my bachelor; his teachings proved to be very useful during my PhD. I am also grateful to Prof. Laura Marongiu for her friendly help and complicity.

I gratefully thank Dr. Corrado Dimauro and Dr. Massimo Cellesi for their invaluable help in statistical analysis, and for making me love this so much feared topic.

My sincere thanks goes also to my friends Gavino Biddau and Emilio Usai for their constant presence, friendship, and indispensable help in bureaucratic matters. I am also grateful to Dr. Rita Marras and to Ms. Marina Pischedda for their constant help and support.

A special and big acknowledgment to Dr. Ana H.D. Francesconi for her friendship, infinite patience and understanding, and indispensable help for the editing of my thesis.

Antonio Mazza, Antonio Fenu, and Gesumino Spanu for their collaboration and friendship.

Roberto Rubattu, Dr. Roberta Boe and Dr. Maria Grazia Manca who taught me the basic techniques for chemical analyses.

I also thank my colleagues of the Section of Animal Science: Dr. Oscar Boaventura Neto, Dr. Gabriele Marras, Dr. Giuseppe Todde, Dr. Elisa Ortu, Dr. Osman Karimi, Dr. Rossella Manca, Dr. Maura Lovicu, Dr. Claudio Carzedda, Dr. Gianfranco Gaias, Dr. Maria Annunziata Pintus, Dr. Elia Pintus, Dr. Matteo Sini, Dr. Sara Saba, Dr. Fabio Correddu, Dr. Antonio Puledda, Dr. Caterina Canalis, Dr. Giustino Gaspa, Dr. Marco Giuseppe Pinna and Dr. Alessandra Marzano for their collaboration and friendship.

I convey a special acknowledgement to Professor Luis Orlindo Tedeschi for his hospitality and for the precious advices and teachings that he gave me during my period abroad in the Texas A&M University. A special thanks to Luigi, Mozart, Michele, Uyara, Marcia and Ana Virginia who made my American experience unforgettable.

I would like to reserve a special thank to the group that collaborated in the project "Indagine sulle emissioni di gas serra in aziende bovine da latte" for their professional and constant support: the director of the Filiera A.Q. s.r.l. Dr. Gianpiero Calzolari, and the responsibles Dr. Giampaolo Zanirato and Dr. Andrea Serraino; the director Dr. Francesco Casula and the technicians of the Cooperative 3A, Dr. Mauro Panetto, Dr. Antonio Schintu, Dr. Roberto Cocco, Dr. Agata Marongiu and Dr. Silvia Fiori; the director Dr. Andrea Breveglieri, and the technicians of the Cooperative Granlatte, Dr. Filippo Nettis and Dr. Marcello Pinto; the director Dr. Angela Zarro, and the technician of the Cooperative Asso.Lac., Dr. Arnaldo Perfetti; the director Dr. Salvatore Cascone, and the technician of the Cooperative Progetto Natura, Dr. Giovanni Capuzzello, and all

the farmers of the 4 Cooperatives for the precious time that they have reserved to us and to our project.

My loving thanks to my mother and my sisters for their loving support, and to all my friends for their indirect contribution to my PhD.

Last, but certainly far from least, I would like to acknowledge my wonderful boyfriend Alessandro for his constant help, understanding, and accurate and interesting discussions about the work of my thesis. Without his encouragement it would have been impossible for me to finish this work.

ABSTRACT

This thesis focused on the global warming potential of dairy farms, using a sample of 285 farms which are members of 4 milk cooperatives operating in Southern Italy (3A -Sardinia, Granarolo - Puglia and Basilicata, Asso.La.C. - Calabria, Progetto Natura -Sicilia). The first study estimated the carbon footprint (CF) of milk collected from the member farms of the cooperatives and defined the incidence of the main emission sources in respect to total emissions. A weighted mean of 1.35 kg of CO₂eq per average kg of fat-and-protein corrected milk (FPCM) collected by the cooperative was obtained (1.66 kg as farm mean). Farms with the highest milk production level per cow (MYL) and high feed efficiency use had the lowest values of CF. The second study compared 8 approaches (different in number and type of predictors) to estimate enteric emissions for the same farms. All approaches were accurate for methane quantification, although more detailed approaches could be more informative for high-MYL farms. The third study analyzed the developed database with a multivariate approach (discriminant analysis). The most limiting factors for good environmental performance were herd profile, nutritional efficiency and diet digestibility, especially in farms with low MYL, and agronomic efficiency and herd management parameters in farms with high MYL. Further investigations on the same data is needed to identify the best strategies for mitigating GHG emissions in the studied cooperatives.

Table of contents

INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. The Ecological footprint: a new method to estimate the environmental impact of human activities	n 1
1.1.1. Estimation of Ecological footprint	5
1.1.2. Estimation of the environmental impact of a product by Life Cycle Assessment	7
1.2. Climate Change and Global Warming: the responsibility of human activities	11
1.2.1. Origin and amount of greenhouse gas emissions	13
1.2.2. Environmental impact of the agricultural sector	17
1.2.3. Ecological footprint of the agricultural sector	18
1.2.4. LCA application on agricultural systems	22
1.3. The Carbon footprint of the dairy sector	22
1.3.1. GHG emissions sources in the dairy sector	24
1.3.2. Physiological basis of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide production	27
1.3.2.1. Carbon dioxide production	27
1.3.2.2. Methane production	29
1.3.2.3 Nitrous oxide production	34
1.4. Estimation of Carbon footprint	40
1.4.1. In vivo estimation of methane	40
1.4.2. In vitro estimation of methane	43
1.4.3. Estimation of nitrous oxide	45
1.4.4. Analytical estimation of GHGs by equations and mathematical models	46
1.4.5. The IPCC 2006 method	48
1.4.6. The application of the IPCC 2006 method to the dairy sector	48
1.5. CF estimation methods for the dairy sector	49
1.5.1. The selection of the boundaries	50
1.5.2. The selection of the allocation system	52
1.5.3. The selection of the emission sources	54
1.5.4. The selection of equations and coefficients for the CF estimation	55
1.5.5. Milk production level and CF	57
REFERENCES	69

apter 2

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari Carbon Footprint of Southern Italy dairy cattle farms

2.1 Introduction	
2.2. Materials and methods	
2.3. Results	
2.4. Discussion	
2.5. Conclusions	
2.6. References	

Comparison of different approaches to obtain values of methane enteric emissions to be used in carbon footprint calculations for dairy cattle farms

3.1. Introduction	127
3.2 Material and methods	129
3.3 Results	
3.4 Discussions	135
3.5 Conclusions	138
3.6. References	139

Identification of production and management variables of dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy with the highest impact on their emissions of green house gases

4.1. Introduction	149
4.2. Materials and methods	151
4.3. Results	154
4.4. Discussions	156
4.5. Conclusions	159
4.6. References	160

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Ecological footprint: a new method to estimate the environmental impact of human activities

The ecological footprint (EF), as firstly defined by Rees and Wackernagel, is "*a measure of the 'load' imposed by a given population on nature*" (Rees and Wackernagel, 1996a) expressed in terms of the area of productive land and water that is needed to sustain the rate of resources consumption and waste discharge of that population (Kitzes et al., 2008a).

Ecological footprint estimation is calculated to have an overview of global resources exploitation, to find critical points inside ecosystem balance and to find the sustainability level of Earth's population within the biosphere's regenerative capacity. Calculations used to estimate the EF are divided into two steps: the first step consists of the evaluation of the total amount of products consumed in a well-defined area divided by the population that lives there; the second step calculates the amount of land and water required to yield the products used and to assimilate the wastes that will derive from production processes and consumption. The assimilation of wastes is referred to the space needed for the disposal of every kind of waste that can derive from a production process; wastes can be represented by pollutant wastewaters, chemical substances, exhaust oils and lubricants, or garbage in general. Each one will require a special disposal system, and a specific surface area to realize the disposal (Rees and Wackernagel, 1996b).

Two concepts related to the EF are very important in ecosystems balance analysis: sustainability and carrying capacity. To ensure the sustainability of an ecosystem means that a defined population is able to live harmoniously with natural ecosystems, drawing food and all products needed without damaging the natural balance (Kitzes et al., 2008a).

Carrying capacity is closely related to sustainability, because this concept indicates the dimension of definite specific species population that can be supported for an undefined period of time in a limited space (Rees and Wackernagel, 1996b).

Ecosystem balance can be also supervised by analyzing its biocapacity. Materials, products and wastes produced in a defined place (city, district, region, nation, etc.) are compared with the dimension of that place in order to assess the biological productive

capability of a certain land or water area. Biocapacity is divided into six categories, namely cropland, grazing land, fishing grounds, forest land, built-up area and fossil fuel area. Each one of these categories is able to produce services or products for human population; for this reason, all arid zones, open ocean areas and areas with very low productive potentiality are not considered in the total global biocapacity (Wackernagel et al., 2002).

The ecological footprint and the biocapacity are both measured in terms of global hectares (gha); one global hectare expresses the biologically productive capability of one hectare with a world average productivity (WWF, 2012). Total world biocapacity has been estimated at around 11 billion hectares of land and water areas, which represent ¹/₄ of the total World surface (Kitzes et al., 2008a). During 1961, 70% of the total global biocapacity related to that specific year was consumed. In 2008, the world biocapacity was equal to 12.0 billion gha and the EF was equal to 18.2 gha; this fact means that during that year every person in the world had 1.8 gha available but, on the other hand, the same person was responsible for 2.7 gha of EF. Overexploitation of 0.9 gha per capita suggests that humans overtook annual biocapacity by 33% and Earth would need 1.5 years to regenerate the resources consumed in 2008 (WWF, 2012). In 1999, overexploitation was equal to 20% and this fact confirms the increasing trend of resources utilization that has been occurring in the world (Wackernagel et al., 2002). Reduced amount of fish ground in the oceans, climate changes, deforestation, reduction of arable lands because of erosion and salinity are all warnings which demonstrate that ecosystems are not able anymore to supply the amount of resources that humans have been trying to obtain during the last years.

Human requests are going beyond the regenerative potentiality of Earth's ecosystems (Kitzes et al., 2008a). Considering that natural resources are essential and irreplaceable, overexploitation has to be solved because natural ecosystems output cannot be replaced by humans through artificial or synthetic products (Naeeda, 2007).

The excess in resources request, also called global overshoot, started in 1980, when Earth's biocapacity was not able to sustain the increasing demand for resources by human beings. Overshoot cannot go ahead for ever because natural environment could reach a level of overexploitation that could lead to ecologic collapse.

Obviously, not every country is living in overshoot. East Europe respects the biocapacity of its area; however, its population is living using a level of exploitation that is not applicable at average global level. In the Asian continent, there is the opposite

situation; this population is living in overshoot, considering the resources that are available in this area, but their consumption level is globally applicable. North America and west Europe show the worst situation; they are in overshoot conditions, and the application of their level of utilization of natural resources at global level would exploit 3-5 times the global biocapacity (Kitzes et al., 2008a). Even if some nations are respecting their biocapacity, it is impossible to consider them individually, because globalization unified all national productions and consumptions in such a way that actions of one nation affect in some manner all the others (Lustigová and Kušková, 2006).

Human population can expand the carrying capacity by removing species that hamper its survival and increasing the use of natural resources and technologies; considering this potentiality, it is possible to suppose that the concept of carrying capacity is a variable and infinitely expandable concept (Daly, 1986). For this reason, human population could think that its sustainability is not tied to the environment and natural resources. However, this is a distort vision because despite progress and big discoveries, humans are necessarily subjected to what the ecosphere produces and offers them (Rees, 1990).

Human population broke the balance of natural ecosystems by introducing industrial metabolism inside natural environment. Natural metabolism is composed of several flows of energy that come from nature and go into organisms (humans, animals, plants), and then come back to nature in other forms. Industrial metabolism presents a different flow of energy that humans created to satisfy the big request for resources caused by modern lifestyle. Industrial metabolism has only the requirement flow and consumes a big amount of natural resources, releasing as outflow tons of different kind of wastes that are not recyclable elements for ecosystems (Sterrer, 1993). Industrial metabolism, with its big request for energy, transformed natural resources into a "natural capital". This change inside the natural balance created the problem of system sustainability, which has to be solved by considering the carrying capacity in relation to not only the number of people that can survive in a specific place, but also the availability of resources. The forecast about the total depletion of natural resources is encouraging the world population to make a serious reflection on the overshoot problem in order to find a solution that ensures the survival of human population in harmony with biosphere resources (Kitzes et al., 2008a).

The first idea for overshoot solution regarded the reduction of greenhouse gases emissions; one approach to deal with this important environmental issue has been the application of the concept of "contraction and convergence". Contraction means to reduce emissions and convergence means to split the emission allocation between all world nations, in order to find responsibilities and to assign to every country which reduction level should be achieved (Global Commons Institute, 2000). The "contraction and convergence" solution has been widely accepted and the European Parliament in 1998 officially recognized this theory, inserting it inside the Parliament Basic Principles (European Parliament, 1998).

This theory was reconsidered by implementing its basic principles in the EF topic, resulting in the "Shrink and Share" concept; "shrink" refers to the reduction of the EF that is needed to not exceed the regenerative power of ecosystems; "share" is related to the system used to divide EF between people, regions, nations or continents (Kitzes et al., 2008a). Application of the "shrink" concept is easier than that of the "share" concept. In fact, it is more feasible to try to explain how to reduce the ecosystem exploitation than to decide how to share the responsibility of worldwide resources use. There are many theories about this issue. One solution could be to share the resources exploitation proportionally with national biocapacity; this system could have good implications on economy because trade between nations with a low biocapacity and nations with high biocapacity could be increased. Another solution is to forecast an equal share between people; this solution might appear politically correct because every person in the world will have the same responsibility, but using this method all differences related to regions, nations, continents, cultures and religions are standardized and there is not a "share" action associated with the actual sustenance capacity of nations (Kitzes et al., 2008a).

The adoption of the "shrink and share" theory by the agricultural sector will pose important problems: a constantly growing world population who asks for food and different kinds of land resources but also has to deal with the necessity of a reduction in biocapacity exploitation. If the agricultural sector increased its productivity, maximized water and fertilizers efficiency, and improved livestock management, it would be possible to satisfy population's requests, but it could also happen that the biocapacity limit would not be respected (Tilman et al., 2002). This could happen because, as explained before, not every region of the world is respecting its biocapacity; the attempt to obtain more and more resources from the same land could lead to overexploitation (Kitzes et al., 2008a). Agricultural products request is not subjected to biocapacity, but it is subjected to population needs. The choice of intensive agricultural systems, implemented to produce the same amount of products, using fewer natural resources, may result in an increase of polluting emissions. Ethanol fuel produced from biomasses initially appeared as a good way of reducing GHG emissions from fossil fuel use and reducing fossil fuel exploitation (De Oliveira et al., 2005). However, several studies demonstrated that ethanol is not economically suitable because corn and sugar cane production systems are onerous and, even if the use of ethanol fuel can reduce GHG emissions from the transportation sector, resources used to cultivate biomasses for ethanol production originate new GHG emissions and, therefore, the problem of ecosystems exploitation still remains (Pimentel, 2003; De Oliveira et al., 2005). Furthermore, the use of arable land to produce biofuel causes reduction of forest areas and/or competition with natural resources used for human nutrition.

During the two-year period of 2010-2012, 870 million people in the World suffered from undernourishment (FAO, 2012a); introducing biomasses exploitation for fuel production is not only an economic and environmental issue but is also related to moral and ethical questions (Pimentel, 2003).

Reduction in forest areas is one of the consequences that arise from the increase in arable lands; arable lands are necessary to increase agricultural productivity but reduction in forest areas provokes a reduction in forest biocapacity (Houghton, 1994; De Oliveira, 2008).

Agriculture and forestry are only two of the different sectors that are involved in biocapacity and EF troubles; it is almost impossible to try to reduce EF and preserve ecosystems' biocapacity without analyzing all sectors at the same time and considering also the connections between them (Kitzes et al., 2008b).

1.1.1. Estimation of Ecological footprint

Ecological footprint is divided in seven footprints: Cropland footprint, Grazing footprint, Forest footprint, Fishing grounds footprint, Carbon footprint, Built-up land footprint, and Biocapacity footprint. This is described in detail in the NFA 2008 workbook published by Kitzes et al. (2008b), and summarized here.

Cropland footprint estimates the amount of land required to produce all agricultural products consumed by animals and humans; this estimation considers as products all

crops cultivated for human or animal nutrition, like fruits, vegetables, cereals and grasses. Calculation of the Cropland footprint is done by dividing the amount of each product produced by the amount of land cultivated to produce it. In 2008, the National Footprint Accounts (NFA) made an inventory of products that come from the agricultural sector and that have to be considered in the Cropland footprint estimation: 149 categories of main products and 29 categories of secondary products were listed (Kitzes et al., 2008b).

Grazing land footprint estimates the amount of land needed to feed grazing animals. Calculation is complex because it is made by subtracting from the animal energy requirements the amount of energy provided by concentrates, hay and grasses. The result of this subtraction represents the energy supplied by grazing and is converted into the equivalent amount of grass. Grazing footprint will be equal to the amount of grass needed by animals divided by the average grass production of a grazing land (Kitzes et al., 2008b).

Forest footprint expresses the human population demand for regenerative capacity of forests; the forest sector demand is represented by wood used as fuel or as raw material for timber products or built materials. Calculation is performed by comparing the annual amount of wood products consumed with the net annual growth rates of world forests; there are 16 categories of main products derived from wood and 17 categories of secondary products derived from wood main products.

Fishing grounds footprint estimates the required surface area that supports human fishery demands in aquatic ecosystems. It includes all wild fish but it does not consider aquaculture production. Estimation is made for each fish species, by dividing the amount of primary production that it consumes during its lifetime by the average available primary production per hectare of marine or inland water area (Kitzes et al., 2008b). Average available production comes from a global estimation that calculated the consumable amount of several aquatic species (FAO, 2008). The NFA workbook reported the production of 1,538 marine and freshwater species (Kitzes et al., 2008b).

Carbon footprint represents the amount of forest area needed to absorb anthropogenic emissions of CO_2 ; even if emissions come from several sectors at different amounts, they are all summed up and converted into global hectares by applying the net annual rate of forest growth to find the level of carbon uptake. Carbon uptake rate is taken from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC, 2006b) data on the net annual growth of forests, and it is obtained considering that carbon makes half of the net

increase in biomass. The amount of carbon uptake, adjusted by a forest equivalence factor, transforms tons of carbon dioxide into global hectares (Kitzes et al., 2008b). The NFA 2008 workbook adopted this Carbon footprint definition, expressing this footprint in global hectares. Carbon footprint is an important theme that has several implications; many solutions have been proposed during the last years for its estimation, using several units of measurement and several definitions. Currently, Carbon footprint is defined as "the net greenhouse gases (GHGs) exchange per unit of product or service" (Rotz et al., 2010) and it is measured in terms of kg of CO₂-equivalent per unit of product. This new approach considers emissions of all GHGs, including methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O), and not only CO₂. The carbon footprint is still an evolving topic and the solutions that can be used for its estimation continue to be discussed and modified (Kitzes et al., 2008b).

Built-up land footprint includes all lands that are occupied by human activities. There are two kinds of built-up land areas: i) infrastructure areas used to assemble buildings, streets, factories, farms and every kind of structures needed by humans; and ii) hydroelectric areas used to flood lands and make dams (Kitzes et al., 2008b).

Biocapacity footprint estimation expresses the total amount of available biological productive land and water; it is calculated for five different sectors: cropland, grazing land, fishing grounds, forest and built-up area (Kitzes et al., 2008b).

The EF does not include the *Water footprint* (WF), which is defined as the total amount of freshwater used to produce an asset or a service. WF can be measured in terms of volume of consumed water (liters or kilograms), that are consumed during the production process, or that are incorporated within the final product. WF is considered separately from EF because it is used mainly as a geographical indicator to quantify local water consumption, in order to control the available reserves. Nevertheless, WF can also be used as an environmental indicator to express the amount of freshwater used by a consumer, such as a city, a nation or a continent, or by a producer, such as a public institution or a private industry (Hoekstra et al., 2011).

1.1.2. Estimation of the environmental impact of a product by Life Cycle Assessment

The preservation of natural environment is possible only with an accurate knowledge of the amount of available resources, and an overview of human and animal requirements (Wackernagel et al., 2006). Environmental impact is a topical issue that involves many people; everyone knows that foods, products and services used daily are responsible for environmental impact, and consumers are more and more wishful to know how products are made and what is their environmental impact, following the "life cycle thinking" reasoning (De Leeuw, 2005; Thoma et al., 2013a). Recently, the concept of environmental sustainability was included in industrial management, considering low environmental impact as an added value for products (SETAC, 2011). Governments of several nations have already allocated public funds for sustainable industries that produce respecting environmental limits (Lubin and Esty, 2010), and some nations have also supplied consumers with handbooks that introduce guidelines on how to choose products with low impact (OECD, 2001). On the other hand, several industries have included environmental sustainability in their plans to improve company's competitiveness (Lubin and Esty, 2010). Some products are not directly involved in environmental impact, but their production process can have several phases that generate pollution; therefore, connecting pollutant emissions to the product that originates them, allows to estimate its environmental impact (PAS, 2011). Products also differ between regions and nations and the knowledge of their production processes can be used to determine the impact of every region or nation (SETAC, 2011).

The necessity to find critical points inside a product or service life, in order to improve its quality and reduce its environmental impact, inspired the idea of the Life Cycle Assessment method. The Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) is used to estimate the total environmental impact of products or processes, and it is based on a concept that considers different stages within a product or service life, following the basic theory of "from cradle to grave", e.g. the products followed from its production to its consumption or disposal. The first definition of LCA was created during the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) Congress in 1990. The SETAC is a no-profit organization interested in environmental problems. It describes LCA as a method that permits the estimation of environmental impacts correlated with processes or activities. Estimation occurs by identification and quantification of energy and raw materials consumption, by estimation of GHG emissions, and by evaluation of mitigation opportunities. LCA considers the life of a product or process starting from the raw materials used, continuing with the production system, transport, distribution, use or consumption, eventual reuse and its final disposal. LCA was standardized in 1998 by the ISO (International Organization for Standardization) with the redaction of the first regulation (UNI EN ISO 14040:1998, Evaluation of Life Cycle Assessment -

Principle and Framework). The regulation was revised in 2006 with the publication of the second edition (ISO 14040:2006 Environmental management – Life Cycle Assessment – Principle and Framework). The "cradle to grave" theory, which is the basis of LCA, has an important strong point: the analysis of the whole product or process life allows discover system's performance (economic performance, energetic performance, environmental performance), in order to find the steps where the life cycle of the product or service can be improved (ISO, 2006a).

LCA estimation identifies:

- impact of product or process on environment and humans;
- environmental areas that are affected the most by production systems;
- impact variations during product life;
- technologies that can be used to reduce environmental impact;
- critical points for environmental impact in the production processes.

LCA estimation is associated with the collection of a large amount of data related to the considered system; the requested amount of data is obviously related to the level of accuracy that the LCA has to achieve (ISO, 2006a). Data collection needs a detailed knowledge of the considered system and a precise description of the analysis aims (SETAC, 2011). ISO 14040 regulates LCA estimation by dividing the analysis into 4 steps:

- 1. identification of the product, system or process that must be analyzed, definition of analysis aims and definition of the functional unit that will be used for the estimation of the environmental impact, considering that a comparison between different systems is possible only if the same functional unit is used (Ming-Jia et al., 2011);
- inventory analysis with data collection taking into consideration geographical and temporal factors;
- 3. impact allocation by analyzing the results;
- 4. interpretation of the results.

During the 1st step, system boundaries are defined, to know which elements have to be analyzed and which elements should not be considered, and the detail level is also defined.

During the 2nd step, the life cycle inventory analysis (LCI) is carried out; input and output data are collected and classified. During this phase it is advisable to use a flexible approach, considering a future different use for the dataset, taking advantage of

the possibility of analyzing an entire production process where a large amount of information can be collected and used later for a different type of analysis (SETAC, 2011). Information about system inputs is used to evaluate the impact of the product; however, when LCA is made on a multifunctional system, input can be also considered as a product that comes from a previous production system (Miettinem and Hämäläinen, 1997). The dairy sector is a typical multifunctional system where inputs (fertilizers, pesticides, fuel, animal feed, etc.) come from several production systems; for this reason LCA can be very complex sometimes and in these cases allocation is the most important step (Thomassen et al., 2008a; Flysjö et al., 2011; Thoma et al., 2013a; Thoma et al., 2013b). During this step, the life cycle impact assessment phase (LCIA) can also be performed to give additional information used to understand the LCI results and to estimate the environmental impact. In some cases, a simple data inventory is required and the LCA finishes in 2 steps; in other cases, the final purpose is the assignment of environmental impact between different products derived from the same process, and then the LCA finishes with the impact allocation step of the LCIA.

The impact allocation, that is the 3rd step, represents the most important phase and it shares input or output flows of a production system between the considered product or process and other products or processes (Thomassen et al., 2008a). Allocation can be performed in different ways. The attributional allocation allocates the impact within system boundaries, and it can be referred in terms of economic allocation or quantity of produced products. The consequential allocation performs the impact allocation without system boundaries, considering elements that can influence the production system, such as market perspectives or changes in consumer choices (Thomassen et al., 2008b). Consequential allocation can be very useful because it also considers what happens outside of the system and the results are more related to reality. However, sometimes the consequential allocation is not suitable, because market variations or changes in consumer choices do not have an immediate effect inside the considered life cycle, or they can influence just some steps of life cycle even without affecting allocation (Ekvall and Weidema, 2004).

The 4th and last step is represented by the interpretation of the results, which allows the individuation of the main factors influencing the environmental impact; the results can be then transformed into a report that can include advices for the reduction of environmental impact and for the general improvement of the system evaluated (ISO, 2006a).The interpretation of the results is usually related to an LCA that produces

results used to inform consumers or to ameliorate a production process inside industrial improvement plans.

In conclusion, LCA can end with the LCI or the LCIA, without completing the subsequent phases; every LCA is different and the use of all or part of the 4 steps depends on the aim of the analysis.

1.2. Climate Change and Global Warming: the responsibility of human activities

Up to 250,000 years ago, before the existence of humans, all climate changes were provoked by natural events, such as modifications of solar activity, changes of Earth's orbit and volcanic eruptions. Afterwards, from the Industrial Era on, human activities have raised the amount of greenhouse gases (GHGs) in the atmosphere, thus activating the process of global warming. Rise in atmospheric temperatures recorded since the second part of the 20th century is correlated with human activities (EPA, 2013a); the gain of global temperature reflects the increasing concentration of GHGs in the atmosphere, especially in the northern hemisphere, where most dry lands and human settlements are located (FAO, 2013).

The climate change that happened during the last century is without precedent; the average global temperature increased by 0.6°C between the 20th and 21st centuries (FAO, 2013). The 12 years between 1995 and 2006 were the hottest ever recorded since 1850 and the International Panel of Climate Change (IPCC) forecasts an increase of 0.2°C per decade until 2030 (IPCC, 2007a). The variation of Earth's temperature can be considered as a consequence of climate change by itself, but at the same time it is also the cause of many other climate changes (EPA, 2013a). Episodes of high temperatures that exceed seasonal average have been occurring more and more often, causing serious losses in ecosystems and in the agricultural sector; in addition, these extraordinary events represent also a danger for human health (FAO, 2013). Climate changes include all variations in climatic parameters, such as atmospheric temperature, precipitations, wind. These changes have caused many extraordinary weather events, such as hurricanes, extended droughts, and rise in the oceans temperature, with the consequent rise in water acidity. They can condition human life in many ways: direct effects of climate changes are floods, droughts, tornados, and hurricanes that are dangerous for animals and humans; indirect effects could be correlated with the lack of food and water that may occur after those adverse climatic events.

Global warming is a sophisticated and complex terrestrial event that is associated with the rise in the average temperature on the Earth's surface (EPA, 2013a). Some evidences of global warming are the decrease of snow cover in the northern hemisphere mountains, melting of glaciers, reduction in the number of freezing days in mountain rivers and lakes, and decrease in permafrost extent. Rise in ocean water level is certainly one of the most alarming effects of global warming; it showed an average increase of 1.8 mm per year between 1961 and 2003, with an average of 3.1 mm per year during the last ten years of that period (i.e. from 1993 to 2003).

There are several problems correlated with the rise in ocean water level, such as risk of erosion in the coasts and flooding of little islands like those in the Caribbean, which have an average altitude close to sea level. Some ecosystems are going to risk their survival because of climate changes, floods, droughts, acidification of the oceans, land use change, fires, pollution and overexploitation of resources. If forecast about the rise in Earth's temperature will come true, we could have from 20 to 30% of animal and plant species at risk of extinction. Water scarcity could be another effect of global warming, resulting in the extension of drought periods; water scarcity is not a single problem but it is closely related to agriculture production, and affected countries could have troubles with crop production and food availability (IPCC, 2007a).

The effects of global warming will involve all continents but in different ways, as described in detail by IPCC (2007a). In brief, the African continent could experience an increase of drought periods, with the consequent reduction in water availability and agricultural production, which could worsen malnutrition problems already affecting this continent. The Asian continent could incur two opposite conditions. The center of the continent could have a rise in drought periods with consequences similar to those already described for the African continent, but with even worse implications because of the high rate of population growth of this continent and its huge food needs. Differently, the southern part of Asia could have a high risk of floods, and cities located near the delta of large rivers could be subjected to overflows (IPCC, 2007a). The Australian continent could have an increase in drought periods, with consequent reduction in water availability and decrease in agricultural productivity; Great Barrier Reef and Queensland Wet Tropics could be exposed to a high risk of biodiversity reduction, because of the rise in Earth's temperature and the increase of ocean acidity (IPCC, 2007a). In Northern Europe the risk of extinction of many species that live in mountain areas could increase because of changes in their ecosystems correlated with

the melting of glaciers and perennial snow; in Southern Europe drought periods could be longer and more frequent with the consequences described above. Europe could be seriously affected by coastal erosion, with dangerous consequences because of the high level of urban settlements present in the coasts. In South America the rise in Earth's temperature could reduce the rain periods, with the resulting withdrawal of pluvial forest and enlargement of the savannah; this ecosystem change could increase the risk of extinction of many animal species that live in the pluvial forest. Reduction of rain could also provoke a decrease in the productivity of some crops and a reduction of livestock productivity. Global warming could affect glaciers and perennial snows of North America mountains, with an increase in their melting rate and in the risk of floods; in the south of North America drought periods could increase. Polar zones could be affected by the high risk of biodiversity reduction because of melting of glaciers and changes in the habitat of these regions (IPCC, 2007a).

Global warming does not generate only negative events (Glantz, 1995). Rise in Earth's temperature could ensure a warmer climate for those countries located in the Arctic, Antarctic and Siberian regions, such as Scandinavian countries and Russia; warmer temperatures favour the cultivation of a bigger variety of crops ensuring greater food self-sufficiency (Confalonieri et al., 2007). The melting of glaciers in the North Pole is going to create a new sea trade lane which could be used to rapidly connect Asia and Europe (Rosenberg, 2010). Warmer winters could lead to a reduction in the use of domestic heating systems, which in turn could reduce the use of fossil fuels and the emission of pollutants. The rise in fall and winter temperatures could cause a reduction in deaths and diseases related to cold weather (Christidis et al., 2010).

Among the several causes involved in all these events, the increase in the concentrations of GHGs in atmosphere is certainly one of the most influential (EPA, 2013a).

1.2.1. Origin and amount of greenhouse gas emissions

Earth's temperature is influenced by the balance between the energy that arrives from the sun, and the energy that is reflected from the Earth's surface and leaves the atmosphere. Solar energy that is absorbed by the Earth's surface increases Earth's temperature, thus causing global warming; solar energy that is reflected by the Earth's surface and leaves the atmosphere reduces Earth's temperature. Global warming is basically influenced by three actions: the solar activity, the variations of Earth's surface reflectivity and the greenhouse effect (EPA, 2013b).

The solar activity influences the amount of energy that reaches the Earth's surface and varies with the solar cycles. Each solar cycle has a duration of 11 years, during which the sun can show high or low activity associated with high or low energy production, respectively. Each solar cycle has a different level of activity and during the last 50 years there were not extraordinary activities that changed the amount of solar energy that reached the Earth's surface. In the past, solar activity was still unstable and, therefore, strongly influenced global temperature. Currently, solar activity is stable, being considered only a potential factor of global warming. The reflectivity of the Earth's surface is related mainly to the color of the surface reached by solar radiation; white and light surfaces, such as mountains covered by snow and glaciers, reflect more solar radiation than black or dark surfaces, such as forests, oceans and agricultural lands. The melting of glaciers and the expansion of agricultural lands that have been occurring during the last years has affected the reflectivity of Earth's surface, increasing the extension of the surfaces that are able to absorbing heat and reducing those that can reflect it (EPA, 2013b).

The greenhouse effect is the main factor responsible for global warming, considering that, first of all, it is an atmospheric and climatic phenomenon that allows to hold solar energy inside the atmosphere, regulating Earth's temperature and preventing thermal excursions. This natural phenomenon is guaranteed by the GHGs present within the Earth's atmosphere. The predominant gases within the Earth's atmosphere are nitrogen (N_2) , which represents 78.08% of all gases, and oxygen (O_2) , which represents 20.95% of them; the remaining percentage is represented by several gases, such as argon, water vapor (H₂O), carbon dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), hydrogen (H₂), ozone (O₃), and nitrous oxide (N₂O), which are present at different quantities. The main GHGs inside the atmosphere are H₂O, CO₂, CH₄, N₂O, O₃ and Fluorinated gases (EPA, 2013b). The solar energy reaches the Earth's surface especially in the form of ultraviolet (UV) and visible radiation and leaves the Earth's surface in the form of infrared (IR) radiation. The most part of these solar radiations cross the atmosphere without being absorbed and reach the Earth's surface, because GHGs are transparent to UV and visible radiations but can absorb IR radiations. Of all the energy emitted by the sun and that reaches the Earth's atmosphere, only 50% is absorbed by the Earth's surface. Considering that the Earth's surface is warm, it reflects solar energy by IR thermal radiations. Then, these IR radiations are absorbed by the GHGs, which slowly emit this energy, releasing heat in the atmosphere; solar energy absorption and heat releasing are not equal for each GHG, because they depend on the amount and chemical properties of each GHG present in the atmosphere (EPA, 2013b).

GHGs are characterized by molecular-spectroscopic properties that allow them to absorb and emit radiations within the thermal IR range. Molecular-spectroscopic properties are related to the distribution of positive and negative charges inside molecules chemical bonds, also called dipole moment. The molecules composed of two atoms of the same element, such as nitrogen (N₂) or oxygen (O₂), are more stable than those composed of different elements, such as methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O) or carbon dioxide (CO₂); variations of dipole moment that happen inside these last three molecules make chemical bonds more unstable, and therefore more receptive to the infrared energy reflected by the Earth's surface. GHGs differ in chemical bonds, being characterized by different levels of energy. For this reason, each GHG has a different greenhouse effect, and some gases, such as N₂ and O₂, are not considered within the GHGs group, because of their almost fixed dipole moment, which does not allow them to interact with infrared radiations (Brau, 2004). The GHGs found within the atmosphere are present at a different concentration and differ in environmental impact. Indeed, the effect of GHGs on climate change derives from three main factors:

- the amount of GHGs in the atmosphere;
- the lifetime of GHGs in the atmosphere;
- the level of absorption and emission of IR radiation of each GHG.

Considering the different impact of each GHG on the atmosphere, a new measurement system, called Global Warming Potentials (GWPs), was introduced by the United Nation Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in 1995. This system expresses the GWP of each GHG using a new unit of measure, the CO₂-equivalent (CO₂-eq); the CO₂-eq is used to compare different GHGs based on their contribution to radiant forcing (UNFCCC, 2013). The CO₂ was chosen because of its stable presence within the atmosphere, compared to the large fluctuations of CH₄ and N₂O concentration over time and because of its long lifetime within the atmosphere, i.e. CO₂ concentration remains constant for thousands of years.

The GWP measures the total amount of energy that 1 kg of each GHG absorbs over a particular time interval in comparison to 1 kg of CO_2 . The UNFCCC chose three different time intervals to analyze how the absorption activity of each GHG varies over

time; the selected time intervals where 20, 100 and 500 years because each of these intervals represents, on average, the lifetime of one of the considered GHG. Nevertheless, GWP are calculated referring to the average time interval of 100 years. *Carbon dioxide* (CO₂) enters the atmosphere by respiration of humans, animals and plants, by combustion of fossil fuels, trees or wood products, and as a result of some chemical reactions. The GWP value describes the impact of each gas: the CO₂ shows a GWP value of 1 and it is used as a baseline for all other GWP values (EPA, 2013b).

Methane (CH₄) present in the atmosphere comes from losses in the production system of natural oil and gas, from agricultural and livestock emissions (EPA, 2013b), from fugitive emissions in energy use and coal mining, from the decomposition of organic materials in rice fields, from anaerobic digestion of municipal and industrial solid waste in landfills and from wastewater treatment plants (Höglung-Isaksson et al., 2009). CH₄ absorbs more energy and has a 25-fold higher GWP than CO₂ and has an average permanence in the atmosphere of approximately 15 years (EPA, 2013b).

Nitrous oxide (N₂O) enters the atmosphere as a by-product of fuel combustion, from the industrial processes of nitric acid production, from the production and the utilization of anesthetic gases, from nitrification and denitrification processes that happen in soil and manure, and from wastewater treatment plants (Höglung-Isaksson et al., 2009). The average permanence of N₂O in the atmosphere is more than 100 years and its GWP is 300 times higher than that of CO₂ (IPCC, 2007a). The equivalences used to transform each GHG emissions into CO₂-eq are:

- 1 kg of $CO_2 = 1$ kg of CO_2 -eq,
- 1 kg of $CH_4 = 25$ kg of CO_2 -eq,
- $1 \text{ kg of } N_2O = 298 \text{ kg of } CO_2\text{-eq.}$

Fluorinated gases (F-gases) are synthetic gases, such as hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulfur hexafluoride, which have a strong greenhouse effect. They are produced by some industrial activities, such as the aluminum production chain. The amount of their emissions is smaller than that of other GHGs, but they are more polluting because of their strong power to absorb solar energy. For this reason, F-gases are also called high global warming potential gases (High GWP gases) (Höglung-Isaksson et al., 2009).

Between 1970 and 2004, the increased demand for energy, food, buildings, transportation and industries by humans caused an increase in GHG emissions from 29 Gigatons (Gt) of CO_2 -eq to 49 Gt of CO_2 -eq/year. In the same period CO_2 emissions

increased from 21 to 38 Gt, with an average emission of 0.43 Gt between 1970 and 1994 and of 0.92 Gt per year from 1995 to 2004 (Smith et al., 2007).

GHGs emissions can be divided according to the sectors from which they derive. The energy supply sector produces 26% of total GHGs emissions, the industry sector produces 19%, the land use, land-use change and forestry sector produces 17%, the agriculture sector produces 14%, the transportation sector produces 13%, the commercial and residential buildings sector produces 8%, and waste incineration and wastewater management and disposal produce the remaining 3% of total GHGs emissions (Smith et al., 2007).

The concentration of CH₄ increased from 715 ppm to 1,732 ppm during the years between the pre-Industrial Era and the 90's. In 2011 it reached 1,818 ppb, mainly because of fossil fuel use and agricultural emissions. Atmospheric concentration of N_2O was steady for approximately 100,000 years with an average of 280 ppb, but it started to increase from 1920 on and reached 324 ppb in 2011, mainly due to agricultural emissions (EPA, 2013b).

1.2.2. Environmental impact of the agricultural sector

The agricultural sector has a fundamental role in the availability of food for humans and animals and in the livelihood of millions of people. On the other hand, agricultural production impacts on ecosystems, introducing alien elements, such as fertilizers and pesticides, or causing high pollutant emissions during crop and livestock production (Tilman et al., 2002). In 2002 the amount of world's land surface occupied by agriculture was equal to 4,912 millions of hectares (Mha) (FAOSTAT, 2013), of which 3,359 Mha were represented by pastures and 1,539 Mha by croplands, corresponding to 40-50% of the total land surface. From 1960 to 2000 the agricultural sector increased its production level to follow the increase of human population and the improvement of its diet. The availability of calories per person followed the rate of human growth in almost all countries (Gilland, 2002), with the inevitable rise in the exploitation of natural resources (Tilman et al., 2001). An example of increasing food demand is represented by the rise in meat demand, which increased from 11 to 24 kg/yr/head between 1967 and 1997 and is supposed to increase until 2020 (Rosegrant et al., 2001).

Agriculture is an important source of greenhouse gases. Direct CO₂ emissions come from fossil fuel use, organic matter decomposition, microbial decay and plant litter

burning (Janzen, 2004); CH₄ emissions come from ruminant enteric fermentation and the anaerobic decomposition of organic matter that occurs in manure storage and rice cultivation; N₂O emissions come from nitrification and denitrification of nitrogen compounds in soil and manure. In 2005 the amount of GHGs emissions from agriculture was equal to 6.1 Gt of CO₂-eq/yr, of which 3.3 Gt of CO₂-eq/yr were methane emissions and 2.8 Gt of CO₂-eq/yr were nitrous oxide emissions (Smith et al., 2007). Even if CO₂ emissions represent the largest percentage of GHGs emissions in the agricultural sector, they are often not considered during the CF estimation because CO₂ emissions generated by electricity and fossil fuel use are assigned to other sectors (industry, transport, buildings) and the remaining part, which derives from animal, plant and soil respiration and land use change, is absorbed by plants and soil in the carbon cycle, with a resultant break-even balance between emitted and absorbed CO₂ (Smith et al., 2007). According to 2005 estimations, the amount of CO₂ that is not balanced by the carbon cycle is equal to 0.04 Gt of CO₂-eq/yr (Smith et al., 2007).

During the last 40 years the agricultural sector increased the amount of pasture and croplands available by 500 Mha, in order to satisfy the increasing demand for food. Every year 7 Mha of forests and 6 Mha of other lands are transformed into croplands, especially in developing countries. The agricultural sector increased CH₄ and N₂O emissions between 1990 and 2005 by 17% and an additional increase has been predicted because of the rise in food demand. Increase in fertilizers use and in manure production correlated with an increased number of raised animals might cause an increase of 35% in N₂O emissions by 2030. Considering that CH₄ emissions are closely related to the number of raised animals, a high increase in these emissions could be expected. However, developments in animal nutrition and new technologies for manure management are going to help this sector and the US-EPA Agency forecasts an increase in methane emissions limited to 21% until 2030 (Smith et al., 2007).

1.2.3. Ecological footprint of the agricultural sector

Rural areas are inhabited by 3 billion people and this means that almost ¹/₂ of the world population lives around or far from cities. Besides, 2.5 billion people among those living in rural areas are closely connected with their places, because they work in the agricultural sector. Agriculture has always been the most important sector for human life and it is currently the main sector for economic and social growth of developing

countries. Agriculture is strongly associated with the economic growth of countries. Developments and improvements in agriculture often preceded important historical events, such as the Industrial Revolution, which happened in Great Britain in 1760 after a considerable increase in agriculture production (FAO, 2013). Development of agriculture provided large benefits to human population; in fact, currently 6 billion people can live thanks to primary sector productions (Tilman et al., 2002). Changes in land use reflect the past and the future of human history; land use and agriculture are correlated with economic development, population growth, discovery of new technologies and environmental changes. Land use change rate is positively related to human population growth, but it decreases during economic development periods because of the introduction of new productive activities. Agriculture development and land use changes that happened thousands of years ago in all continents were really important because they allowed the development of new populations and the birth of large Empires, such as those of Egyptians, Maya and Romans. A large difference between past and current agriculture is that all changes and developments which happened in the past influenced only the regions where they occurred, whereas those happening nowadays influence all regions and all countries of the world because of their dimensions and because of globalization (Hougton, 1994). Crop cultivation and livestock production are certainly the main sectors of agriculture. Wheat, corn and rice cultivation systems represent the basis of human nutrition and supply 2/3 of human dietary energy. The amount of production per hectare of these cultivations increased greatly from the 60's to the 90's, thanks to genetic improvement, fertilizers and pesticides use, irrigation and new cultivation technologies (Cassman, 1999). Increase in these cultivations was also favoured by the expansion of cultivated lands at the expense of natural ecosystems (Waggoner, 1994). Increase in land-use change and in inputs for cultivation caused water, land and air pollution, reduction in biodiversity and reduction in forest areas (Matson et al., 1997). During the last years agriculture productivity exceeded the population growth, increasing the availability of calories per person from 2200 kcal/d in 1960 to 2900 kcal/d in 2009, with Europe showing an even higher value, equal to 3370 kcal/d. However, there are several differences among regions and undernourishment still remains unsolved in many countries. Growth in food production is not always connected with greater food availability, because undernourishment is often related with lack of access to food (FAO, 2013). Populations that live in several

underdeveloped nations cannot access food because of lack of appropriate economic

resources, infrastructure and technology (Alexandratos, 1999). During the last 50 years, global arable lands increased by 67 million hectares, because 107 million hectares of new arable lands were introduced in developing countries and 40 million hectares of arable lands were dismissed in developed countries (FAO, 2013).

Agriculture has responsibility for natural resources management. Indeed, 30% of the land surface is used for crop cultivation and animal pasture, and 70% of spring water is used in crop irrigation. The forestry sector plays an important role in climate change and mitigation, considering that trees absorb CO_2 from the atmosphere and are considered the most important Earth's active carbon sink. Deforestation, which is strongly connected with climate changes, is done to supply raw materials essential for human needs, and to increase the availability of arable lands.

Deforestation rate decreased during the last decades, passing from 16 million ha/yr in 1990 to 13 million ha/yr in 2010 of harvested forest areas. Reforestation was also considerable, with 5.2 million ha/yr of trees being planted between 2000 and 2009. The problem is that deforestation occurs mainly in tropical areas, whereas reforestation is mostly done in temperate and boreal areas. Therefore, there is a global improvement but overshoot of tropical forests still remains. Between 2000 and 2010, South America and Africa lost 4 million ha/year and 3.4 million ha/year of forest areas, respectively. In the same period, forest areas showed an increase in of about 0.7 million ha/year in Europe, and a net increase of more than 2.2 million ha/year in Asia despite the high level of deforestation that is still affecting the south of this continent. Oceania had a net loss of approximately 0.7 million ha/year during the same period, with a worsening situation between 2005 and 2010, because drought and fires caused the loss of millions of hectares of forest areas in Australia. North and Center America showed a steady situation between 2000 and 2010 (FAO, 2010a).

Livestock systems are the biggest users of arable lands; most deforestation actions in Latin America and Caribbean were carried out to obtain new pasture areas, and when deforestation was no longer possible overgrazing happened (FAO, 2013). Between 1961 and 2009, livestock products showed different trends following consumer choices: beef production showed a decrease of 2%, whereas swine production is still following a positive trend, even if its growth rate decreased from 4% to 0.8% (FAO, 2013).

Between 1961 and 2011 global milk consumption doubled, and the productivity of the dairy sector followed this trend (Figure 1); however, the increment of milk production was higher in developing countries than in developed countries (FAO, 2012b),

following the human population growth and the changes in nutritional habits (FAO, 2013).



Figure 1.1: World milk production from developing and developed countries between 1961 and 2009 (FAOSTAT, 2013).

Approximately 85% of total milk produced in the world comes from dairy cows; the remaining percentage comes from goats, sheep, buffalos and camels, at different production levels depending on the world area considered (FAO, 2012b).

Only the poultry meat production sector showed a constantly increasing trend during the last 50 years. Meat consumption is not globally shared: there are more than 20 developing nations with an average meat consumption of 10 kg/head/yr, whereas developed countries have an average meat consumption of 80 kg/head/yr (FAO, 2013).

All activities included in the agriculture sector generate pollutant emissions that contribute to global environmental impact (FAO, 2013). During the last years, among agricultural activities, the livestock system was often blamed for a high environmental impact because of different events correlated with it, such as land use change, overexploitation of water resources, nutrient excretion in soil and groundwater, fossil fuels overexploitation, GHG emissions and competition with humans for environmental resources. However, livestock systems are also responsible for important benefits, such as production of human food, preservation of ecosystems and recycling of natural nutrients. Despite all these positive benefits, livestock activity cannot occur in every region of the World, because of environmental limitations (Janzen, 2011). Humans have

always shared their life with animals, giving them feed and refuge and obtaining food, wool and leather for clothes, work power and company (Shusky, 1989). This old relationship between humans and animals is even stronger if we consider ruminants species. Nevertheless, the "ancient contract" is currently in a critical condition because humans are trying to obtain from their animals more resources than they can truly produce in natural conditions (McAlpine et al., 2009; Wirsenius et al., 2010).

1.2.4. LCA application on agricultural systems

Study of the environmental impact related to one specific product is often complex, because in most cases the final product comes from different production chains, and it is almost impossible to estimate its impact without considering all its life cycle (IDF, 2010). The dairy production sector represents a good example of a complex production system because within a dairy farm a multiple flow of materials and products occurs, involving many different sectors, such as crop cultivation, fertilizers and pesticides production, energy production and many others. Agricultural productions are influenced not only by human demand for food but also by livestock requirements, and some cultivations like soybean are strongly affected by animal consumption (FAO, 2013).

The LCA method was initially designed for industrial systems, but several modifications applied to the original method made its utilization possible in many other systems. The estimation of GHGs emissions in agriculture is currently achievable thanks to LCA application. This type of research on agricultural products is complex because of the simultaneous existence of a main product and one or more secondary products (IDF, 2010).

Global ecological footprint estimation is useful to achieve an overview on World's environmental impact, but only if we analyze environmental conditions of countries and regions we can obtain useful and explanatory results that can be used to identify overshoot conditions and find their causes (Wackernagel et al., 2005).

1.3. The Carbon footprint of the dairy sector

The latest FAO report (Gerber et al., 2013) affirmed that 7.1 Gt of CO_2 -eq/year are currently emitted from the livestock sector, which represents 14.5% of total anthropogenic emissions. Of these emissions, beef cattle are responsible for 41%, dairy cattle for 20%, pig meat for 9% and poultry meat and eggs for 8%.

All the products that derive from the livestock sector, such as milk, meat and eggs, are essential for human life. On the other hand, their production also causes pollution and, therefore, generates a lot of public interest in this sector. However, it is fundamental to make a distinction between the different livestock sectors and between the different world regions within each sector; in fact, GHGs emissions vary substantially depending on the animal species reared, on the level of technology adopted in the farm, and on farm location (FAO, 2010).

In 2010, the GHG emissions from the global agricultural sector were equal to 4,689,940 Gigagrams (Gg) of CO₂-eq, out of which 2,359,183 Gg (i.e. 50%) derived from the livestock sector, being 85.6% of them produced by animal fermentations and 14.4% derived from manure management (Table 1) (FAOSTAT, 2013).

Europe has a high level of livestock activity, which contributes to 26%, 13%, 22%, 12% and 11% of global production of milk, beef meat, pork meat, poultry meat and eggs (FAO, 2008). In 2010, the GHG emissions of the Europe's livestock sector were equal to 308,655 Gg of CO_2 -eq, out of which 37.16% was due to the dairy sector (FAOSTAT, 2013).

GHGs emissions	WORLD	EUROPE	ITALY
	<i>Gg of CO</i> ₂ <i>-eq</i>	<i>Gg of CO</i> ₂ <i>-eq</i>	Gg of CO ₂ -eq
Total Agriculture emissions	4'689'949	534'977	28'747
CH ₄ from agriculture emissions	2'714'324	279'020	17'732
	(57.88%)	(52.16%)	(61.88%)
N ₂ O from agriculture emissions	1975617	255956.94	11014.7
	(42.12%)	(47.84%)	(38.32%)
Total Livestock emissions	2'359'184	308'655	17'322.15
Enteric CH ₄ from	2018899	223'870	11'925
Livestock emissions	(85.58%)	(72.53%)	(68.84%)
Manure CH ₄ from	180'440	46'980.7	3'099
Livestock emissions	(7.65%)	(15.22%)	(17.89%)
N ₂ O from	159'845	37'805	2'298
Livestock emissions	(6.78%)	(12.25%)	(13.27%)

Table 1.1. Greenhouse gases emissions from agriculture and livestock sectors in 2010 for different geographic areas. Emissions attributed to CH_4 and N_2O are reported within parentheses and expressed as percentage (FAOSTAT, 2013).

In developed countries, from 78 to 83% of GHGs emissions occur inside the farm, and the remaining emissions derive from the transportation sector, animal feed production, fertilizers and pesticides production, and the milk processing chain; in developing countries, the percentage of on-farm emissions is higher, reaching 90-99% of the total GHGs emissions. This happens because in developed countries farms are technologically more advanced and productive and, therefore, the dairy production chain releases a low amount of emissions per unit of product (Figure 1.2) (FAO, 2010).



Figure 2.2. GHG emissions from the dairy cattle sector in 2010 and milk production levels from the main World regions (FAOSTAT, 2013).

This fact is confirmed by the different amounts of CO_2eq that are emitted for every kg of fat and protein corrected milk (FPCM) produced. The world range is between 7.5 and 1.3 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM, with an average of 2.4 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM. The highest value of 7.5 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM was recorded in the Sub-Saharan Africa farms, followed by the South Asia farms, which produced 4.6 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM, and by the North Africa and East Europe farms, which produced 3.7 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM. The lowest value of 1.3 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM is the average level of GHG emissions that occurred in Europe and North America (FAO, 2010).

1.3.1. GHG emissions sources in the dairy sector

Emissions of the dairy system come from several phases of the production process, and each of them contributes differently to total emissions. Generally, approximately 2/3 of

dairy sector emissions are related to the crop cultivation sector, which provides feeds for animals (Casey and Holden, 2005). Considering that crop cultivation is associated with water consumption, energy consumption, pesticide and fertilizer use and many other production chains, it is easy to understand the noticeable dimension and complexity of the dairy sector.

Rotz et al. (2010) classified the GHGs emissions produced within dairy farm boundaries into two main groups: primary emissions and secondary emissions (Table 1.2). Primary emissions refer to gases directly emitted by the milk production process (e.g. CO_2 emitted during fuel consumption), whereas secondary emissions refer to gases emitted by sectors which produce products that are then used in the milk production process (e.g. CO_2 emitted during fuel production). The IDF (2010) classification is made considering the emissions produced in the entire dairy sector, and dividing the GHGs emissions into two different groups: farming and processing. Farming emissions are produced within farm boundaries; processing emissions derive from all processes related to the dairy industry (Table 1.2).

IDF (2010) classification also regrouped farm emissions according to the GHG produced. The CO_2 emissions are caused by the combustion of fuel used in deforestation and by biogenic C contained in plastic, paper and carton used for packaging. CH_4 emissions come from animal enteric fermentation and from anaerobic microbial activities within manure. N₂O emissions come from fertilizer and pesticides, replacement animals production processes, and from direct and indirect emissions from manure (IDF, 2010).

Emissions related to milk transportation and transformation have to be considered in a "cradle to grave" LCA; milk transformation factories generally produce more than one product (milk, milk powder, cheese, yogurt, butter), and, therefore, it is recommended sharing the emissions coming from all these products according to the production process used for each one of them. Meat production is often a co-product of dairy farms: it comes from cull cows and male calves raised inside the farm, whose emissions have to be considered in LCA estimation (IDF, 2010).

When dairy carbon footprint estimation is made within farm boundaries, animal and manure management, on-farm feed production and energy consumption have to be considered (Asselin-Balençon et al., 2013), whereas emissions from meat production, milk processing and feed production have to be measured only if they occur inside the farm (Browne et al., 2011).

Estimation of carbon footprint related to feed production processes can be divided into different steps. Animal feeds can derive directly from the crop cultivation sector, but also from feed mills that transform different crops into concentrated feeds.

GHG	FARMING	PROCESSING	
	Primary Emissions	Secondary Emissions	EMISSIONS
CO2 (carbon dioxide)	Plant respiration, soil respiration, manure fermentation, animal respiration, feed production, fuel consumption for machinery use	Fuel production, machinery production, fertilizer and pesticide production, plastic production, replacement animals	Transport of milk and dairy products, production of operating and packaging materials, delivery of operating and packaging materials, consumption of operating and packaging materials, wastewater treatments, releases from industrial processes, waste production and disposal
CH4 (methane)	Animal enteric fermentation, manure anaerobic fermentation	Replacement animals	Releases from industrial processes, waste production and disposal
N ₂ O (nitrous oxide)	Manure aerobic fermentation, nitrification and denitrification processes within the soil	Replacement animals, fertilizer and pesticide production, plastics production	Releases from industrial processes, waste production and disposal

Table 1.2. Classification of GHGs emissions within the dairy sector (Rotz et al., 2010; IDF, 2010).

Emissions correlated with animal nutrition have to be studied at different levels and feed mill processes and crop cultivation processes are considered as secondary emissions (Rotz et al., 2010), when animal feed is not produced within farm boundaries. Feed mill emissions come from transportation of raw materials to the feed mill and transportation of animal feeds to the farm, fuel use for energy production, and emissions

from crop cultivation. Adom et al. (2013) estimated the carbon footprint of a US feed mill located in Michigan and showed that 88-92% of carbon footprint came from raw materials cultivation, and only 8-12% of emissions were caused by energy consumption and transportation.

 N_2O is the most produced GHG within the agricultural sector, and soybean and corn cultivation produce the biggest world amount of this GHG as compared with all other cultivations (Del Grosso et al., 2005). N_2O emissions that occur during crop cultivation derive from nitrification and denitrification of inorganic N in the soil; these emissions can also occur from manure stored in aerobic conditions (Cadwick et al., 2011). Manure stored in anaerobic conditions is instead a source of CH₄ (Møller et al., 2004; Burton and Turner, 2003). Carbon soil sequestration should be taken into account in a "cradle to grave" LCA (Franzleubbers and Follet, 2005).

1.3.2. Physiological basis of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide production

Carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide production from dairy farms can take place from several processes; however, the main sources are animal enteric fermentation, manure fermentation and soil emissions.

1.3.2.1. Carbon dioxide production

Carbon dioxide emissions that happen within the dairy sector derive from many processes which can be considered or not when estimating CF, depending on the method adopted. In general, three main sources of CO_2 in the dairy sector can be identified: animal management, crops and soil, and fuel use.

<u>Animals:</u> CO_2 production related to animals can derive from animal respiration and manure decomposition. Ruminants remove C from the ecosystem through feeding and emit CO_2 through respiration. During a one-year interval, the amount of C removed by animal feeding is balanced by the amount of C contained in the CO_2 emitted by respiration (IPCC, 2007b). The process of manure decomposition can produce different amounts of CO_2 , depending on the organic matter (OM) content and on the oxygen content of manure. CO_2 production from manure is an aerobic process, and solid manure can generate more CO_2 than liquid slurry, because anaerobic conditions are difficult to obtain. Therefore, housing solutions that generate solid manure (e.g. bedded pack) can
produce more CO_2 emissions than those that produce liquid slurry (e.g. cubicles) (Chianese et al., 2009a).

Crops and soil: CO₂ emissions from crop cultivation and soil are affected by several factors. The Carbon © balance that exists within the ecosystem is regulated by the amount of C absorbed by plants and soil, and by the amount of C released during the mineralization of the organic matter. Soil tillage, plant biomass production and cultivation management can influence this balance. For example, corn and soybean are two kinds of plants that can have a great C input because of their high biomass production. The amount of C that effectively remains within the ecosystem will be affected by the harvesting solution. Cultivations that leave part of their biomass in the soil after harvesting procedures (e.g. corn grain) lead to a larger C output than those that have all their biomass harvested (e.g. corn silage). No-till practices reduce the microbial activity in the soil, thus reducing soil mixing, oxidation processes, organic matter mineralization and gas exchange, and leading to lower CO₂ production and emission (Chianese et al., 2009a). C absorbed by plants and C absorbed and emitted by animals is considered neutral within a short-term time interval (e.g. one year) and it is not contemplated by LCA because it is quickly and easily released into the environment by respiration, excretion, decomposition and incineration processes. The short-term carbon flux of most ecosystems is equal to the net ecosystem production (NEP); the NEP is obtained by subtracting the CO₂ absorbed by the photosynthesis from the CO₂ emitted by plant and soil respiration. The result of this calculation, made within a time interval of 12 months, has a negative value. This means that, within a year, plants and soil can absorb more CO₂ than they emit (Chianese et al., 2009a). However, using a long-term approach, the NEP is different, because more elements have to be considered within the ecosystem, such as the CO₂ emitted by animal respiration, C applied to the soil by landapplied manure, C removed with harvested feeds, CO₂ emitted from fuel use, and, in particular, modifications of the C content of the soil. The C content of the soil change sharply in the case of land use changes (Chianese et al., 2009a; Rotz et al., 2010). The land use change occurs when there is a change in the utilization of a land (e.g. from natural vegetation to cropland cultivation, from cropland cultivation to forest). This shift affects the soil carbon content, in a positive or negative way, depending on the original and the new use of the land area. A land area where natural vegetation is converted into crop cultivation will incur in a loss of soil carbon due to higher rates of mineralization, higher harvest of organic matter and lower biomass accumulation on site; conversely, a cropland area converted into natural vegetation will accumulate carbon within the soil (Post and Know, 2000).

<u>Fuel use</u>: fossil fuels contain different amounts of carbon, depending on their origin (e.g. petroleum, natural gas, coal). CO_2 emissions from fuel use originate from carbon combustion done to generate mechanical energy used for different activities. The amount of CO_2 emitted depends on the carbon content of the fossil fuel used and on the type of the combustion. In dairy farms, the CO_2 emissions related to fuel use are considered proportional to the amount and type of fuel used for all farm activities, such as crop cultivation, animal feeding, transport of feed and milk, water heating and water pumping (Rotz et al., 2010). Rotz et al. (2010) reported that each kg of fuel used in the farm can generate an average of 3.54 kg of CO_2 -eq. as primary emissions.

1.3.2.2. Methane production

Animal enteric fermentation and microbial processes within manure stored in anaerobic conditions are the main sources of CH_4 within a dairy farm. Low amounts of methane can also derive from manure applied to the soil or filed by animals on pasture; however, these emissions are not considered because of their almost negligible percentage within the total CH_4 emissions of a dairy farm (Chianese et al., 2009b).

<u>Animal enteric fermentations</u>: Methane is a secondary product that derives from ruminal fermentation of feeds. The amount of methane produced is affected by several factors, such as feed and ration characteristics, number of rumen bacteria, number of methanogens among ruminal bacteria population, and rumen pH. Methane emissions can be considered at the same time an energy loss for animals and a source of environmental pollutant (Vercoe, 2007). Ruminal fermentation affects environmental pollution and animal productivity; feeding animals with balanced feed ration can improve the amount of feed energy that is converted into animal product (milk or meat). This is an essential factor in animal breeding because almost 2/3 of farm costs derive from feeds (Szumacher-Strabel and Cieślak, 2012).

Ruminant nutrition is based on-plants, such as grass, forages and seeds, which derive from several species and that can be distributed in different forms. Plant cells cannot be digested by humans and by many animals that are not able to produce the appropriate enzymes; conversely, microbial rumen population that colonizes the ruminant digestive system is composed of different classes of microorganisms that are able to ferment the plant cell walls (Szumacher-Strabel and Cieślak, 2012). Short-chain volatile fatty acids are the final product of microbial fermentation and are immediately available for animal needs (Kamra, 2005).

Rumen microbial population is composed of bacteria $(10^{10} \text{ cells/ml})$, ciliate protozoa $(10^4-10^6 \text{ cells/ml})$, anaerobic fungi $(10^3-10^5 \text{ zoospores/ml})$ and bacteriophages $(10^8-10^9 \text{ cells/ml})$; each group of rumen microorganism has different species present at different ratios, depending on diet characteristics, rumen temperature, rumen pH and many other factors (Kamra, 2005).

Rumen bacteria can be classified according to their metabolic activity and the energy substrate (Hungate, 1966):

- cellulolytics hydrolyze cellulose and hemicelluloses;
- amylolitics hydrolyze starch;
- methanogens produce methane;
- lipolytics hydrolyze triglycerides producing glycerol and free fatty acids;
- proteolytics hydrolyze proteins peptides bonds of proteins providing free amino acids.

Differently from other animals, ruminant species have a peculiar digestive system that has 4 fermentative chambers: reticulum, rumen, omasum and 30bomasums. Abomasum, which can be compared to human stomach, is where the real digestive process takes place trough secretion of acids and digestive enzymes. Rumen is the biggest fermentative chamber, where the microbial population lives in a stable environment with pH, temperature, oxygen and other factors are closely regulated in order to preserve optimal fermentation conditions (Bortolami et al., 1997).

Microbial rumen population ferments plant material to produce energy and carbon that are used for its own growth and for animal requirements (Bortolami et al., 1997). Monosaccharides, disaccharides, polysaccharides, cellulose, hemicelluloses, pectic substances, and lignin are introduced inside the forestomach apparatus by feed rations of plant origin. Lignin cannot be fermented and, therefore, passes undigested in the feces; all the other compounds are broken up into simple monosaccharides by the enzymes produced by rumen bacteria. The monosaccharides that derive from this first digestive phase are then transformed by rumen microorganisms into fructose 1,6diphosphate (Aguggini, 1998). Volatile fatty acids, methane, carbon dioxide, and hydrogen are the final microbial fermentation products (Bortolami et al., 1997).



Figure 1.3. Schematic representation of the major pathways of carbohydrate metabolism in the rumen (Aguggini et al., 1998).

Acetate, propionate and butyrate are the main volatile fatty acids produced within the ruminant digestive apparatus (Figure 1.3) and derive from the fermentation of plant carbohydrates; isobutyrate, valeric, pyruvic, and lactic acid derive from the digestion of different compounds and are produced in very low quantities. Acetate, propionate and butyrate are generated from different biochemical reactions; the pyruvic acid is the common and obligated intermediate compound, derived from the anaerobic demolition of glucose, from which the three main volatile fatty acids are produced (Aguggini et al., 1998). One molecule of glucose can generate acetate, propionate or butyrate, according to the following stoichiometric reactions (Moss et al., 2000):

- Acetate = $C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 2 C_2H_4O_2 + 2 CO_2 + 8 H;$
- Butyrate = $C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow C_4H_8O_2 + 2 CO_2 + 4 H$;
- Propionate = $\frac{1}{2}$ C₆H₁₂O₆ \rightarrow pyruvate + CO₂ \rightarrow fumarate + 2 H \rightarrow C₃H₆O₂ + CO₂;
- Propionate = $\frac{1}{2}$ C₆H₁₂O₆ \rightarrow C₃H₆O₂ (lactate) + H₂O \rightarrow acrylate + 2 H \rightarrow C₃H₆O₂.

Volatile fatty acids are absorbed through the rumen walls and are used by the the animals as a primary source of carbon and energy (Bortolami et al., 1997).

Production and elimination of methane is considered a physiological need of ruminants (Moss et al., 2000). In fact, methane production helps to maintain oxidative conditions in the rumen anaerobic environment through reoxidation of electron carriers cofactors, such as NADH, FADH2 and ferredoxin; on the other hand, it represents a loss of energy for animals, which can lose 6% of ingested energy due to removal of CH₄ from their bodies by belching and flatulence (Johnson and Johnson, 1995). Methanogenic archaea are highly specialized microorganisms responsible for methane production. They are characterized by slow development and strict anaerobic conditions, and they are responsible for the final step of feed degradation. The various phases of fermentation are closely connected to each other; in fact, the metabolic efficiency of each group of microorganisms group depends on what other groups do. The methanogenic bacteria use primarily molecular hydrogen and carbon dioxide as substrate for the synthesis of methane, according to the following equation (Moss et al., 2000):

 \succ CO₂ + 8 H \rightarrow CH₄ + 2 H₂O.

However, they are also able to use as substrate formate and other less important elements, such as acetate and short-chain primary alcohols, including methanol formed during pectin degradation, and n-butanol. Formate may be directly used by methanogenic bacteria or may be used after degradation into carbon dioxide and hydrogen by other bacteria (Bortolami et al., 1997).

CH₄ enteric emissions are mainly affected by feed characteristics, animal production level, animal management and genetic characteristics (Monteney et al., 2006). Hydrogen rumen production is closely connected with feed characteristics because VFA derive from feed fermentation; acetate, butyrate and propionate are produced from different feed substrates and lead to the production of different amounts of H₂. As a consequence, feeding animals with products that lead to lower H₂ productions reduces CH₄ emissions (Boadi et al., 2004). Concentrates ration level affects CH₄ enteric emissions by increasing rumen propionate synthesis which, in turn, leads to have lower H₂ production (Aguerre et al., 2010). Grasses with C4 metabolic pathway lead to higher CH₄ enteric emissions than C3 grasses, probably because of their high fiber content (Archimede et al., 2011).

Forage quality and maturity also affect enteric emissions: animals fed fresh forages emit less CH_4 because of the lower content of fiber, N and organic matter (OM). Legume forages reduce CH_4 enteric emissions because of their content of tannins, which inhibit methanogenic bacteria (Tamminga et al., 2007). The amount of starch and other nonstructural carbohydrates in animal feeds positively affects rumen propionate production, link reducing animal methane emissions (Boadi et al., 2004). Rumen pH influences the amount of methanogens bacteria, considering that their survival is guaranteed within the pH range 6–8 (Jones et al., 1987); feed rations with high grain content can lower rumen pH to levels below those required by methanogens, thus reducing methane emissions (Hegarty, 1999).

Feeding frequency can influence rumen pH and enteric methane emissions: rumen pH fluctuations, which derive from low meal frequency, cause a reduction in number and activity of methanogens in the rumen, causing a reduction in methane emissions (Sutton et al., 1986). Feed intake level negatively affects CH₄ production in the rumen: high feed intake levels increase the feed passage rate, thus reducing rumen fermentation and methane emissions (Johnson and Johnson, 1995; Mathison et al., 1998). Feeding animals with ground or pelleted forages can reduce methane emissions. This happens because grinding and pelleting processes reduce forage digestibility and, consequently, increase the propionate:acetate ratio within the rumen, thus causing a reduction in methane production. Grinding and pelleting forages also increase the feed passage rate, thus reducing rumen fermentation and, consequently, reducing methane emissions (Johnson et al., 1996; LeLiboux and Peyround, 1999).

Addition of fat to the ration can reduce CH₄ emissions by several actions: decrease of OM fermented in the rumen, reduction of methanogens number of ruminal bacteria activity, and reduction of H₂ availability through biohydrogenation of unsaturated fatty acid (Beauchemin et al., 2005; Beauchemin et al., 2007; Beauchemin et al., 2009; Chung et al., 2001; Moate et al., 2011). Sometimes fat addition does not result in CH₄ reduction, but it can cause an increase of milk production link achieving a dilution effect; in this case, methane emissions produced after fat addition to the diet will be divided by a higher amount of milk than the amount that would have been produced without fat supplementation, and the final CF value will be lower (Johnson et al., 2002). Microbial processes within manure – Methane production can also occur by action of methanogenic bacteria in manure stored in anaerobic conditions (Monteny et al., 2006). Manure fermentation is similar to rumen fermentation and is affected by organic matter content of manure, animal feed intake, feed ration characteristics and oxygen concentration (Boadi et al., 2004). The first phase of methane production from manure is represented by the growth of acidogenic bacteria, which are able to ferment the organic matter (OM) of manure and produce organic acids, hydrogen and CO₂.

Acidogenic bacteria can survive within a large temperature range (3–70 °C), but they show the maximum fermentative activity at 30 °C. The second phase is performed by three groups of methanogenic bacteria (psychrophilic, mesophilic and termophilic) that are able to produce methane in different thermal conditions. Manure methane production derives from organic acid, hydrogen and CO_2 produced by different classes of bacteria: hydrolytic, acidogenic, acetogenic and methanogenic (Monteny et al., 2006). Acetogenic and methanogenic bacteria survive only in anaerobic conditions, whereas hydrolytic and acidogenic bacteria can live even in aerobic conditions. This fact allows active fermentation in presence or absence of oxygen, but methane production still remains an anaerobic process. Each class of bacteria carries out a specific step inside the fermentation process, producing compounds that will be used in the following steps as energy source for microorganisms (Ciborowski, 2001).

In manure, methane production derives from organic matter (OM) digestion and from fermentation of straw, which is usually added to litter. Bedding management can affect methane emissions: manure stored at low temperatures (<10 °C) and low pH (<6) can lead to a reduction of methane emissions, because acidogenic and methanogenic bacteria cannot perform their fermentative activity in those conditions. The frequent addition of straw to bedding and manure can prevent compaction, thus preventing the anaerobic conditions that favor the activity of methanogenic bacteria (Monteny et al., 2006). Manure storage can also affect methane production: manure that is stored in open tanks, being mixed and often managed in the presence of oxygen,, results in lower methane emissions because of the absence of anaerobic conditions (Møller, 2003).

1.3.2.3 Nitrous oxide production

In a dairy farm, N₂O emissions derive from soil, cropland and manure, either deposited on pasture and on barn floor or stored. The N content of substrates affects the amount of N₂O emissions produced.

Even if nitrogen can come from different substrates, N_2O emissions can originate from the same biochemical process. Denitrification and nitrification are two subsequent chemical reactions included within the nitrogen cycle that can lead to N_2O production. These reactions are always present within the soil, but they can also take place in manure stored under aerobic and anaerobic conditions, in manure applied on soil, and after fertilizer application on croplands (Chianese et al., 2009c). The N_2O production can derive from two different processes:

- Nitrification: transformation of ammonium into nitrate under aerobic conditions;
- Denitrification: production of nitrogen gas from nitrate reduction under anaerobic conditions (Monteny et al., 2006).

Nitrification is performed by nitrosating bacteria, a particular class of microorganisms that can oxidize ammonia (NH₃) and ammonium ions (NH₄⁺) into nitrite (NO₂⁻) and nitrate (NO₃⁻) under aerobic conditions. Denitrification occurs under anaerobic conditions and consists of a reduction process performed by denitrificating bacteria that leads to the production of N₂, starting from the nitrate (NO₃⁻) produced during the previous process. These two processes can take place continuously, because the N₂ that reaches the atmosphere can be transformed into NH₃ by the nitrogen-fixing bacteria of the soil (Smil, 1996).

As reported in the conceptual model of Davidson et al. (2000), N₂O and NO derived from the nitrification and denitrification processes are considered losses that can happen from the N flow that takes place within the "pipe". Denitrification and nitrification can occur simultaneously and have common intermediary. The soil water content and the soil acidity, which affect the availability of oxygen and of electron donors and acceptors, influence the amount of N₂O and NO produced and transported out of the soil. Within dry and aerated soils, nitrification represents the predominant process and, therefore, NO is the most emitted nitrogen oxide, whereas in soils with a high water content, NO is reduced to N₂O because of anaerobic conditions (Davidson et al., 2000).

<u>Soil and cropland</u>: N content in the soil and cropland depends on several factors, such as amount and type of fertilizers, organic matter content, and amount of manure applied or deposited by animals (Chianese et al., 2009c). Main N₂O sources in soil are fertilizers and manure applied to soil (Brown et al., 2001). Nitrous oxide emissions from soil and cropland are mainly affected by the N concentration and oxygen concentration in the soil. These two elements are more present in croplands because of fertilization and tillage processes performed to increase crop production. Oxygen affects N₂O emissions, because N₂O production requires both aerobic and anaerobic conditions (Chianese et al., 2009c). Leaching, immobilization by plants and microbiota utilization indirectly affect N₂O production. Therefore, soil and meteorological factors may strongly control, directly and indirectly, the production, transport and emissions of N₂O. <u>Manure management:</u> N present in manure derives from animal excretions. Nitrogen contained in proteins and in non-protein compounds of animal feeds is degraded mostly by rumen microorganisms, producing ammonia and free aminoacids in the rumen. These compounds are then used by the microorganisms to produce bacterial proteins, which are almost completely digested once they arrive in the intestine. Part of the rumen ammonia is absorbed by the rumen wall and, after being transformed into urea, is excreted with the urine. Of the share of N from feeds which is not fermented in the rumen, one part is digested in the intestine and the other part excreted. Nitrogen of feed and microbial origin which is absorbed by the intestine is then used in various metabolic processes, with a variable efficiency according to the physiological process considered. Part of the N is then transferred to the animal tissues or to the milk. The remaining part is excreted, in the form of urea, in the urine.

Nitrogen present in feces and in urine differ for biological origin and chemical composition. Fecal nitrogen is composed of: 1) microbic protein, which cannot be digested in the gastro-intestinal tract; 2) protein of endogenous origin, i.e. residues of enzymes and of the turnover of epithelial cells of the digestive system; and 3) undigestible dietary protein (Mason, 1969). Urinary N is made up prevalently of urea (50-90% of the total), ippuric acid (2-8%), allantoin (2-22%) and other N derivatives of degraded nucleic acids.

On average, about half of fecal N is of endogenous origin, and the other half is of feed and microbic origin (Tamminga, 1992, cited by Bussink and Oenema, 1998). The N concentration in feces is generally quite constant, ranging between 60 and 90 g of N/kg dry feces, with average values of 75 g of N/kg dry feces (Bussink and Oenema, 1998). Differently, the concentration of N in urine is extremely variable, ranging from 1 to 20 g of N/l (Bussink and Oenema, 1998).

N excretion always increases proportionally to the increase of the percentage of dietary CP. The N quantity that should be given to the animals with the ration is then determined taking into account their ability to digest N and the efficiency of N use in several metabolic processes. In well-balanced rations, even if total N excretion varies with diet, the ration between fecal N and urinary N tends to be relatively constant (Haynes and Williams, 1993). In case of an exceeding N contribution, the share of excreted N with feces varies only in small quantities, because an excess of N is expelled mainly in the urine (Frank et al., 2002), and, to a much lower extent, in the milk (in the form of urea).

Tomlinson et al. (1996), in agreement with Frank et al. (2002), showed that dairy cows fed rations with 12%, 15% and 18% of CP produce fecal and urinary excretions which resulted in slurries with a N content of 3.2 %, 4.2 % and 5.3 % of total DM, respectively. Gaseous N emissions from manure are mainly represented by ammonia emissions and are highly influenced by air temperature and other meteorological variables (Atzori, 2008). Ammonia volatilization from animal manure can generate indirect emissions of N₂O after redeposition of ammonia in the soil and subsequent nitrification (EPA, 2013a). Direct emissions of N₂O are the smallest part of total gaseous N emissions from manure and correspond to 1% and 2% of total N gaseous compounds in liquid and solid manure, respectively (Webb, 2001).

Considering manure management types:

- slurry or liquid manure (produced in free-stall barns with concrete floor areas managed without bedding materials) produces negligible amounts of N₂O emissions in the housing phase of manure management, because the nitrification processes have not started yet, and very low amounts in storage tanks, because the manure is almost always in anaerobic conditions, and inside the storage facilities (Groenestein and Van Faassen, 1996); however, nitrous oxide emissions can also be produced from slurry stored in uncovered tanks, depending on the crust density and dimension, and the area that is exposed to the air (Olesen et al., 2006).
- solid manure (produced in bed-pack barns, in farmyard or in stockpile solid manure storage), in contrast, is often stored in aerobic conditions, because of the large amount of bedding material mixed with dung and urine, and can produce relevant amounts of N₂O. Chemical and physical characteristics of manure can positively or negatively affect N₂O emissions in bed-pack farms that are not frequently renewed or in stockpile manure not closely compacted (Groenestein and Van Faassen, 1996; Yamulki, 2006).
- dung and urine excreted at pasture generate emissions that are often considered as emissions from not managed manure, allowed to lies as deposited (IPCC, 2006). However, excreted nitrogen can be considered as a N applied to the soil in form of dung and urine. Allen et al. (1996) showed that N₂O emissions from dung and urine varied considerably, depending on grazing season, deposition time and type of grazed soil.

Mechanisms that control nitrous oxide emission from excreta of grazing animals are

affected by the biochemical conditions that influence the transformation of nitrogen compounds in feces and urine via nitrification and denitrification processes. A major influence is associated with soil microbiota; in fact, a momentary increase in NO_2^- in urine patches might be caused by nitrite-oxidizing bacteria which can increase the emission of N₂O via nitrification (Oenema et al., 1997). On the other hand, higher emissions are generally observed during and after rainfall periods (Allen et al., 1996). Autumn and winter anaerobic soil conditions favor denitrification and lead to higher emissions than summer conditions (Yamulky et al, 1998).

According to Yamulki et al. (1998), data on N₂O emissions from animal excreta in grazed grasslands are few and not consistent, because of the interactions among excreta, microbiota, environmental conditions and global N₂O flux. The same authors measured N₂O emission from cattle dung and urine applied through a simulated seasonal grazing pattern and found that the average emission from the urine patches was more than five times greater than that from the dung, probably for the larger amounts of mineral-N available in urine. In addition, low temperatures inhibit ammonia volatilization (Much, 1982) reducing the completion for N among grasses and soil microbiota leading to more N available for emissions. Soil type, pasture intake, excreta C-to-N ratio, and grazing environmental conditions can increase the variability in emission patterns.

Methane emissions and nitrous oxide emissions could also be related with each other because N manure content limits the development of archaea bacteria and is considered a factor that decreases methane emissions from manure (Bryant, 1974). Soil N₂O emissions generally start from NO_3^- compounds and are often affected by N leaching processes and N plant absorption (Yamulki et al., 1997).

As explained above, GHG are produced by various sources which are sometimes correlated, such as methane emissions that derive from enteric fermentation and manure. On the other hand, sometimes these sources are antagonists and, therefore, the production of one GHG can impede the production of others. Studies on mitigation strategies have to consider this correlation because, in most cases, it is not feasible to obtain a decrease in GHG emissions by reducing simultaneously all GHGs (Table 1.3).

Table 1.3. Emissions of methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O) and carbon dioxide (CO₂) from soil, manure, manure management and feed using different feeding solutions and housing types. The symbols indicate the effect of every action on each greenhouse gas (GHG) emission (\uparrow = increase; \downarrow = decrease; - = no effect or not considered).

~ * * ~

		GHGs	
ITEMS	CO ₂	CH ₄	N ₂ O
Slurry manure decomposition	\downarrow	1	\downarrow
Manure on pasture	↑	\downarrow	↑
Soil tillage	↑	\downarrow	↑
Fuel use	↑	↑	-
Soil fertilization	-	-	Ť
Feeding management			
% of concentrates	-	\downarrow	-
Grasses: C4 vs. C3	-	Ť	-
Forage maturity	-	\downarrow	-
Starch ration content	-	\downarrow	-
Low meal frequency	-	\downarrow	-
High feed intake	-	\downarrow	-
Grinded and pelleted feeds	-	\downarrow	-
Addition of fats	-	\downarrow	-
Reduction of diet N content	-	\uparrow	\downarrow
Housing and manure management types			
Bedded pack	↑	\downarrow	↑
Pasture	↑	\downarrow	↑
Cubicles	\downarrow	Ť	\downarrow
	·	·	•

1.4. Estimation of Carbon footprint

The estimation of CF is a complex issue that should be examined carefully.

The systems used to estimate the CF of every GHG can be divided into three main groups: *in vivo* estimations, *in vitro* estimations, and estimations by prediction equations (Storm et al., 2012). *In vivo* estimations are obtained by measuring the emissions directly from the source that produces them; *in vitro* estimations are made mainly in laboratory conditions by measuring the GHG emissions within a controlled environment; prediction equations result from mathematical calculations based on direct estimations results transferred to large scale.

The choice of the estimation method depends on the GHG analyzed, emission sources, experiment purposes, acceptable estimation accuracy level, and available economic resources (Bhatta et al., 2007). A deep knowledge of the advantages and disadvantages related to the various estimation systems is useful to compare the results that derive from different estimations, as reviewed by Storm et al. (2012).

The large amount of methods that exists for the CF estimation from dairy farms is justified by three main objectives that this research area is trying to reach: 1) to achieve a deeper and more accurate level of knowledge of the biological and physical mechanisms that control the GHGs production; 2) to quantify accurately all types of GHGs emissions by referring to different breeds and species, located in different regions of the world, and considering different time intervals; 3) to extend the GHGs estimations, made on a limited sample, to a wide scale by developing equations that relate the measured inputs to the calculated emissions.

1.4.1. In vivo estimation of methane

Respiration chambers, ventilated hoods, open-circuit face mask respirometry, tracer gas techniques and meteorological techniques can be considered the most known systems used for in vivo methane measurements because of their extended use and results reliability.

Respiration chambers. This system was originally created to study the energy metabolism of animals. The respiration chamber is a box that can be built with different materials, such as glass, plastic or steel, and monitors one animal at a time. It is totally isolated from the outside environment and has a constant flow of monitored air inside; temperature and humidity are kept constant and the animal is monitored 24 hours per day, in order to measure its feed intake, urine and feces excretion, and quality and

quantity of emitted gases (Moe and Tyrell, 1979; Miller and Koes, 1988; Soliva and Hess, 2007). Recently, Hellwing el al. (2012) fabricated a transparent polycarbonate chamber to measure O_2 , CO_2 , CH_4 and N_2O emissions; the building materials used allowed animals to see each other and produced a functional and cheap measurement system. Respiration chambers allow to obtain reliable and comprehensive results on animal emissions and metabolism, but it has some serious limitations. For example, the isolation could influence animal feedback by making them exhibit behaviors that are different from those that they would show naturally (Storm et al., 2012). Another limitation is that it is not feasible to apply this system on grazing animals (Harper et al., 1999).

Ventilated hoods. Place et al. (2011) built a methane measurement system by modifying the original system developed by Kelly et al. (1994). The ventilated hood can be considered as a small respiration chamber that encloses the head of the animal to collect and analyze all gases emitted by respiration and belching. A negative characteristic of this system is that it does not measure all animal emissions, because it does not collect rectum gases emissions. Place et al. (2011) made the ventilated hoods by using transparent polycarbonate, in order to allow the animals to watch outside, and to have a cheaper and lighter hood than the one made of wood by Kelly et al. (1994). Air flow control and gases analysis are performed similarly to those of respiration chambers, but ventilated hoods are an encumbrance for animals, which can make only some movements, like stand up, lie down, eat and drink. On the other hand, the preservation of visual and physical contact with the surrounding environment is more feasible in the ventilated hoods, because they can be placed inside the barn and thus animals subjected to the test can still remain within the herd (Place et al., 2011).

Open-circuit face mask respirometry. This system was introduced by Liang et al. (1989) for methane estimation in cattle. Expired gases are collected into a plastic bag by using a plastic funnel; the plastic funnel is connected to the plastic bag through a tube that sucks the air. Samples of gases contained within the plastic bag are then analyzed by gas chromatography or other techniques. This solution is currently used often for methane estimation in small ruminants (Fernàndez et al., 2012), and it can be considered as an alternative solution to the ventilated hoods.

Tracer gas techniques. This group of gas measurement method includes several techniques characterized by the same main principle: measurements are made through

the assessment of the amount of a tracer gas emitted from animals characterized by a constant tracer gas:methane emission ratio.

The *sulfur hexafluoride* (*SF*₆) *technique* is the most known tracer gas technique. It was developed by Johnson et al. (1994) and consists of a small permeation tube that contains a known amount of SF₆ that is inserted into the rumen. SF₆ was chosen because it has no effects on rumen microbial population. Before rumen insertion, SF₆ permeation ratio is checked in order to know the amount of the tracer gas released per unit of time. Expired gases are collected from the animal mouth by a tube positioned on the animal head and connected with a sampling canister fixed to the neck of the animal. Concentrations of CH₄ and SF₆ inside the canister are then analyzed by gas chromatography, considering that CH₄ and SF₆ are emitted with a fixed ratio. This system is suitable for *in vivo* methane estimation considering that it can be used on grazing animals and allows gas estimation for many animals at a time; however, it should be taken into account that only expired gases can be collected (Johnson et al., 1994; Zimmerman, 1992).

 CO_2 is another gas used as tracer in methane estimations; in this system samples of expired air are taken near the animals, usually during milking procedures. The CO_2 :CH₄ release ratio is known, because it has been calculated by several simultaneous direct measurements of CO_2 and CH_4 emissions within respiration chambers. The emitted amount of CH_4 is calculated through a mathematical proportion based on CO_2 recorded emissions (Madsen et al., 2010).

Meteorological techniques. All these techniques are based on direct measurement of flow of gases from the atmosphere; the amount of GHGs emitted by the animals is calculated comparing the GHGs concentrations of air collected in the presence of animals with those present in a sample of air collected without the animals (Harper et al., 2011).

The *tunnel method* was originally made for sheep and is composed of a big tunnel made of plastic that can be placed in a specific position in the pasture to measure the air flow temperature, velocity and composition while animals are grazing inside it. Air samples taken inside the tunnel are analyzed by gas chromatography or by infrared technique. This method can be easily used on grazing animals, it is not expensive and it can be used with many animals at the same time. Samples of outside air flow need to be analyzed periodically to know the characteristics of the air (Lockyer and Jarvis, 1995; Murray et al., 2007).

The *micrometeorological mass difference technique* was used by Harper et al. (1999). The methane estimation is made in the field, by placing several pipes, at different height levels from the ground, around the boundaries of the pasture where animals are grazing. Air samples can be taken and analyzed automatically following pre-determined intervals; gas analysis is performed by gas chromatography. It is a good estimation system for grazing animals because it is absolutely not invasive; however, velocity and direction of the wind strongly influence the results and unexpected changes of these meteorological elements can distort the final results.

1.4.2. In vitro estimation of methane

In vitro fermentation, measurement of archaeol concentration, rumen volatile fatty acid production, and milk fatty acid profile are four of the most used indirect methods for methane estimation. All these techniques need to be used in a laboratory, by estimating methane emissions from samples taken from animals or by recreating natural conditions in an artificial environment, to reproduce physiological reactions under controlled and monitored conditions.

In vitro fermentation. This technique, originally used to analyze rumen feed fermentation, feed digestibility and feed metabolizable energy (Goering and Van Soest, 1970; Menke et al., 1979), allows to estimate methane emissions of animals by reproducing rumen fermentations in artificial conditions. A sample of rumen fluid is collected from the rumen of the animal and is stored in anaerobic and monitored conditions, in order to maintain microbial activity. A fluid medium that contains several elements which promote microbial activity is prepared and added to the rumen fluid. The substrate that has to be fermented is prepared and added to the mixture. In vitro fermentation takes place within an incubation chamber where pressure, gases concentrations and temperature are kept constant. Samples are kept within hermetically sealed bottles, where gas samples are extracted through a needle. Gas samples are collected following regular intervals throughout fermentation and can be analyzed using several systems, such as infrared photo acoustic spectrometry-trace gas analyzer, mass spectroscopy, tunable diode laser absorption spectroscopy and gas chromatography. In vitro fermentation is a good method for methane estimation because the fermentation chamber can contain several samples at the same time and reliable results can be achieved in a short time, without using animals. However, in vitro fermentations do not mirror exactly what happens inside the rumen, because the interaction between the animal and the environment cannot be reproduced (Tedeschi et al., 2008a; Tedeschi et al., 2008b; Lopez and Newbold, 2007).

Archaeol concentration measurement. This is an indirect technique that measures archaeol (2,3-diphytanyl-O-*sn*-glycerol) concentration within animal feces, in order to determine the concentration of methanogens bacteria inside the rumen and, consequently, estimate the potential methane production. Archaeol is a lipid membrane that is present in methanogens Archaea and its concentration, separation from the total lipid extract of feces, and trimethylsilylation of isolated alcohol fraction (MacCartney et al., 2012). The relationship between archaeol feces concentration and methane production was studied by Gill et al. (2011), who measured methane emissions from steers fed different forage/concentrate ratios by using the SF₆ technique and comparing CH₄ emissions rate with the archaeol concentration in the feces. The authors found a weak positive relationship between CH₄ emissions and archaeol concentration of feces (r=0.55; P=0.05), and suggested that more studies need to be conducted before implementing this estimation method.

Volatile fatty acid production. Volatile fatty acids (VFA) are some of the final products of rumen fermentation. The injection of ¹⁴C-labelled VFA inside the rumen allows to calculate the VFA production rate; a stoichiometric relationship is applied in order to calculate the methane production level that can be achieved with a determined VFA synthesis level. VFA production inside the rumen generates different amounts of H₂, depending on what kind of VFA is produced. Acetate, butyrate and propionate are synthesized through several chemical reactions that produce different quantities of H₂; the amounts of each VFA produced are used to estimate the hypothetical methane production with an equation developed by Demeyer et al. (1975). This system is based on some principles: VFA are considered the only products that originate from CHO rumen fermentations; free H₂ that escapes from the rumen is not considered; only anaerobic processes can take place within the rumen; and H₂ is not used for other reactions in the rumen. Obviously, these principles are not always true and cannot happen simultaneously; as a consequence, this method tends to overestimate methane production from the rumen (Hegarty and Nolan, 2007).

Milk fatty acid profile. Dijkstra et al. (2011) made an indirect estimation of methane enteric emissions from dairy cows by comparing the milk fatty acid profile with the

methane enteric emissions, directly measured in an open-circuit indirect respiration calorimetry chamber. Milk used for the fatty acid profile analysis was collected while the cow remained within the respiration chamber, to ensure a temporal correspondence between methane production and milk fatty acids synthesis. The CH₄ enteric emissions were correlated positively (P<0.05) with C14:0 iso, C15:0 iso, and C17:0 anteiso fatty acids and negatively (P<0.05) with several milk fatty acids that derive directly from ruminal biohydrogenation (e.g. C17:0 iso, cis-9 C17:1, cis-9 C18:1).

1.4.3. Estimation of nitrous oxide

Nitrous oxide measurements are taken directly in the emissions source, by measuring the gas production from manure, stored under different conditions or applied on pasture, and from cultivated soils or pasture lands. Slurry tanks and the chambers method are the most used systems for N₂O estimation and can also measure CH₄, O₂, CO₂ and many other gas emissions.

Slurry tanks. Several tanks are filled with manure and buried into the ground protruding 5 cm above the ground level; tanks are contained in an open dynamic chamber where incoming and outgoing air is collected and analyzed to measure gas emissions arising from manure (Amon et al., 1996).

Chambers method. Soil gas emissions can be detected by using three types of chambers: open chambers, closed static chambers and closed dynamic chambers. All of these chambers have the same structure: a box made of fiberglass and aluminum, which can have several dimensions (depending of the soil area that has to be analyzed), does not have an inferior base, and is inserted into the ground to a depth of 4.5 cm. <u>Open chambers</u> have a system of pumps that draws air inside the chambers, and then directs air outside, where there is a probe that extracts the gas samples for the analysis. <u>Closed static chambers</u> are placed on the ground and contain a chemical trap that absorbs for 24 hours the gas that must be analyzed. After 24 hours the amount of gas that was absorbed is determined, and divided by the soil surface and by the absorption time. <u>Closed dynamic chambers</u> are equal to the previous system with the difference that the amount of gas that is absorbed is checked following several time intervals (Li et al., 2000).

1.4.4. Analytical estimation of GHGs by equations and mathematical models

In vivo or *in vitro* measurements of GHGs are not always feasible, especially when estimations are referred to big areas, such as regions, countries or continents, because the application of in vivo or in vitro methods would be expensive and would require too much time. Equations and mathematical models allow the estimation of GHGs emissions when a large amount of animals and farms are considered. Analytical estimation methods are based on datasets derived from in vivo or in vitro measurements that are performed on a restricted sample; by applying regression equations, the amount of gas measured is associated with various predictors and then extended to many more animals or farms (Storm et al., 2012).

Name	Symbol
Carbon Dioxide	CO ₂
Methane	CH ₄
Nitrous Oxide	N ₂ O
Hydrofluorocarbons	HFCs (e.g., HFC-23 (CHF ₃))
Perfluorocarbons	PFCs (CF ₄ , C ₂ F ₆ , C ₃ F ₈ , C ₄ F ₁₀)
Sulphur Hexafluoride	SF ₆
Nitrogen Trifluoride	NF ₃
Trifluoromethyl Sulphur	SE CE
Pentafluoride	555653
Halogenated Ethers	e.g., C ₄ F ₉ OC ₂ H ₅ , CHF ₂ OCF ₂ OC ₂ F ₄ OCHF ₂
Other halocarbons	e.g., CF ₃ I, CH ₂ Br ₂ , CHCl ₃ , CH ₃ Cl, CH ₂ Cl ₂

Table 1.4. The main GHGs within the atmosphere.

Many regression equations to estimate GHGs emissions have been published. They all derive from data obtained in respiration chambers, or from measurements of SF_6 or other direct estimations. The equations differ for the variables taken into account and for the predictions made (Bhatta et al., 2007).

Despite the large number of methods available for the CF estimation, there is still some confusion about the systems that can be used for this environmental issue. One of the main points of disagreement is the number of GHGs that has to be considered in the CF estimation (Pandey et al., 2011). The IPCC (2006a) classification includes the main

greenhouse gases in Earth's atmosphere (Table 1.4). As explained before, each gas has a different greenhouse effect, and each one is emitted from different sources and at different amounts. Consequently, the selection of the GHGs that have to be considered within the CF estimation is affected by the emission sources present in the sector considered (Pandey et al., 2011).

Several methods of CF estimation do not have a specific sector of application. In this case, they can be considered as general models that contain rules and equations for the CF estimation, applicable to any kind of production sector. Within this group, the main differences between models concern the GHGs considered, and the origin of the equations present in the model (Table 1.5).

MODEL	ENIISSIONS	EQUATIONS				
GHG Protocol of WRI	CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O	IPCC (1997)				
Annual GHG Inventory (EPA method)	CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O, HFCs, PFCs, SF ₆	EPA (2013c)				
ISO 14064/14065	CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O	-				
PAS 2050	CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O	IPCC (2006 a), BS EN ISO 14021, BS EN ISO 14044				
IPCC 2006	CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O, HFCs, PFCs, SF ₆ , NF ₃ , SF ₅ CF ₃ , Halogenated Ethers, Other halocarbons	IPCC (2006a)				

Table 1.5. Carbon footprint estimation methods applicable on all sectors.

The IPCC 2006 method considers all of the most important GHGs within the atmosphere (Table 3). The Annual GHG Inventory, also named EPA (Environmental Protection Agency of United States) method, considers only CO₂, CH₄, N₂O, HFCs, PFCs and SF₆ (EPA, 2013c). The GHG protocol of the WRI (Word Resources Institute; WBCSD, 2012), the PAS 2050 model (PAS, 2011), and the ISO 14064/14065 normative (ISO, 2006b) considers only the three major GHGs (CO₂, CH₄, and N₂O). The IPCC 2006 and the EPA methods contain only their own equations and coefficients; the GHG protocol of WRI is based on IPCC (1997) equations; the PAS 2050 model (PAS, 2011) is based on IPCC (2006) equations and on several ISO normatives (e.g. BS EN ISO 14021, BS EN ISO 14044), and the ISO 14064/14065 presents a set of rules for the CF estimation without providing specific equations.

1.4.5. The IPCC 2006 method

The "2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories" were developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) to make an officially recognized system for GHGs estimation that could be used to measure the environmental impact from several sectors. An official method was required to compare different data calculated in different countries. The Guidelines are composed of 5 volumes: general guidance, energy, industry, agriculture and waste. Each volume of the IPCC Guidelines is divided into several chapters: chapter 10 of volume 4, entitled "Emissions from livestock and manure management", contains the equations and the coefficients used to estimate GHGs emissions from dairy farms. CH₄ emissions resulting from animals and manure, and direct and indirect N₂O emissions derived from manure can be calculated using this method. Each emission can be estimated using three different levels of accuracy. In fact, the IPCC method has three levels of analysis: Tier1, Tier 2 and Tier 3. The Tier system is equal for each sector and allows to obtain estimations with different levels of accuracy, depending on the number of variables that are considered.

Tier 1 is a synthetic estimation which uses a limited amount of information; estimations made with Tier 1 can be referred to big areas, such as countries and continents, and have a low level of accuracy. The Tier 2 estimation level can be used when more information is available; it can be used to reach a higher level of accuracy, and its estimations can be referred to smaller areas, such as regions, districts, cities, or even single industries. Tier 3 has basically the same equations and coefficients of Tier 2; however, it allows the insertion of equations of different origin and the use of coefficients related to the considered area on which estimation is going to be made (IPCC, 2006a).

1.4.6. The application of the IPCC 2006 method to the dairy sector

 CH_4 emissions are calculated in Tier 1 using as inputs only the gross energy intake (GE) and the number of animals present in the farm. Tier 2 includes several equations that allow to obtain specific emission factors for CH_4 emissions, considering the feed and ration characteristics, animal characteristics, milk production, atmospheric temperature and manure management.

 N_2O emissions are calculated with the Tier 1 using information about the GE, the number of animals and the manure management system. The Tier 2 considers also feed

and ration characteristics, atmospheric temperature and many other variables that allow to obtain specific GHG estimations that can be referred even to single farms (IPCC, 2006b).

 CH_4 and N_2O emissions can be calculated using the Tier 3 by replacing equations and coefficients of the IPCC (2006b), with equations calculated by different authors, equations created specifically for the considered analysis, and coefficients referred to the considered area.

 CO_2 emissions from animals are not considered by the IPCC 2006 method; however, this method estimates the CO_2 emissions from crops and soils, realizing this estimation with the same three levels of accuracy described before (IPCC, 2006c).

1.5. CF estimation methods for the dairy sector

There is a large number of CF estimation approaches expressly realized for the dairy sector (Table 1.6). They basically differ for the selected boundaries within the entire dairy sector, for the measured GHGs, for the allocation system, for the functional unit, and for the equations and coefficients used for the estimation.

This review considers 27 CF estimations realized in different world regions, by several authors, in order to obtain a general overview on the approaches used to realize the CF estimation from the dairy sector (Table 1.6). Estimations were realized in different countries, analyzing different kinds of animals, farm characteristics, climate conditions, and managements.

The results showed that the CF was comprised between 0.37 and 13.78 kg of CO_2eq/kg of milk (Table 1.6). The high variability existing between these CF estimations can be explained comparing the models on the basis of the factors considered for the grouping realized in the Table 1.6, and on the basis of the amount of milk produced per cow recorded in each experiment (Table 1.6).

The CF is generally obtained dividing the GHGs emissions produced from a specific dairy system by the total amount of milk produced within that system; the milk production level is useful to compare different farms or systems, but it is also connected with different variables, such as nutrition, fertility, breed, quality of feeds, feed cultivation technologies, and many more, which can indirectly affect the final CF result. It is a common practice to compare the CF results even if they are calculated using different functional units; however, within the Table 1.6, the CF results and the milk

production levels of each farm are expressed in terms of fat and protein corrected milk (FPCM), by applying the IDF (2010) formula, in order to realize a valid comparison between these CF results.

Some authors, already comprised within the Table 1.5.1, were not considered within the Table 1.6, because information on milk production per cow and on milk characteristics (e.g. fat and protein content) were not available, and the FPCM could not be calculated.

1.5.1. The selection of the boundaries

One of the most important steps within CF estimation is represented by the selection of the farm boundaries; with this step it is possible to decide the emission sources that have to be considered. Within the selected approaches, two solutions for the farm boundaries selection were used: "from cradle-to-farm-gate" and "from cradle-to-grave". The first solution considered only the emissions that happen within farm boundaries; the second solution considered the entire dairy supply chain, following the product from its production to its consumption and disposal (ISO, 2006a).

Between the 27 estimations (Table 1.5.1), only 6 were realized using the "from cradleto-grave" solution: Eide (2002), which obtained a CF equal to 500-650 kg CO₂ eq/FU; Fantin et al. (2012), which obtained a CF equal to 1.30 kg of CO₂eq/l of high quality (HQ) milk; Gerber et al. (2011), which obtained a CF equal to 0.50-0.65 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM; Guerci et al. (2013a), which obtained a CF equal to 1.72 kg of CO₂eq/kg of milk; Thoma et al. (2013b), which obtained a CF equal to 1.77 kg of CO₂eq/kg of milk consumed by US consumer; Vitali et al. (2013), which obtained a CF equal to 1.10-1.22 kg of CO₂eq/l HQ milk.

It must be taken into account that the models were realized in different countries, using different emission factors, and the variability that exists between them can be correlated with these two elements. Between the 27 CF estimations considered, the preference observed for the "from cradle-to-farm-gate" boundaries solution (21 vs. 6) reflects a general trend existing within the CF estimation system.

In fact, as suggested by the IDF (2009), 80% of the GHGs emissions, on average, happen within the farm boundaries; this consideration has led many authors to restrict the boundaries of their analysis, considering only the emission sources within the farm. However, the selection of the boundaries can be affected by many other factors, such as the research funding, or the interests of the authors on specific steps of the milk supply

chain (e.g. farm level if the estimation is realized to provide information for the farmers, milk processing level if the estimation is realized for the consumers or for the entire milk supply chain sector).

These differences can be observed comparing the estimation realized by Gerber et al. (2011) on the global dairy sector, with the estimation realized by Casey and Holden (2005) on the Irish dairy sector; obviously, the aims and the economic availabilities related to these 2 estimations were different.

The estimation of Gerber et al. (2011) required the largest amount of information, considering that analyzed the dairy sector on a global scale; this fact suggests that the financial resources used for this experiment could have been high, especially considering that the collection of the information used to estimate the CF on a global scale required the cooperation of several scientists from several nations. No mitigation solutions or suggestions were provided by Gerber et al (2011), considering that their research was realized to assess the GHGs emissions arising from the global dairy sector, and to assess the relation between the milk production level and the CF. The results can be used to inform people involved within the global dairy sector (e.g. farmers, managers, technicians of the dairy industries) on the environmental impact of the global dairy supply chain, considering that the estimation of Gerber et al. (2011) was realized with a "from cradle-to-grave" solution.

Casey and Holden (2005) realized a CF estimation on a representative Irish farm, using the average data referred to the Irish dairy system, in order to obtain a CF that could be applied to the entire national dairy sector; they also proposed 3 different mitigation solutions, simulating 3 "scenarios", each one texting a different mitigation solution. The simulations realized to investigate the mitigation solutions for the Irish dairy sector CF, made this research more complex than the one realized by Gerber et al. (2011). The results can be used to inform national farmers and consumers on the environmental impact of the Irish dairy sector, by referring only to the GHGs emissions that happen within the farm.

Thoma et al. (2013a) and Thoma et al. (2013b) used the same farms and the same model to predict the CF of the dairy sector. In the first experiment they chose the "from cradle-to-farm-gate" solution, obtaining a CF equal to 1.23 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM; in the second experiment they chose the "from cradle-to-grave" solution, obtaining a CF equal to 1.77 kg of CO₂eq/kg of milk consumed by US consumers. The CF measured in the

first experiment represents the 70% of the CF obtained in the second estimation, reaching a percentage below the IDF (2009) estimation.

Fantin et al. (2012) obtained a CF value equal to 1.30 kg of CO_2eq/l of HQ milk, analyzing the LCA of the HQ milk in Italy; they chose the "from cradle-to-grave" solution, following the life cycle of the HQ milk until the delivery to the distribution centers. However, they also calculate the percentage of the different impact categories that were attributable within the farm boundaries; the 82% of the GHGs emissions produced during the production processes of 1 liter of HQ milk derived from the farm boundaries.

Between the estimations that adopted the "from cradle-to-farm-gate" solution anyway exists a high variability, because within the farm there are many sources of emission that can be included or not. Bartl et al. (2011), Basset-Mens et al. (2009), and Capper et al. (2009), Guerci et al. (2013b), Guerci et al. (2013c), Guerci et al. (2013d), Penati et al. (2010), Thomassen et al. (2008), applied the IDF (2009) classification for the GHGs emissions, considering separately the emissions that happened on-farm and those happened off-farm, which have to be included using different emission factors. Rotz et al. (2010) used their own classification by dividing into primary and secondary the emissions that happened within the farm. Browne et al. (2011), Casey and Holden (2005), Cederberg and Flysjö (2004), Chianese et al. (2009), Flysjö et al. (2011), Haas et al. (2001), Hagemann et al. (2011), Kristensen et al. (2007) did not use a different organization for the emissions estimated within the farm.

The CF range measured with the estimations listed above using the "from cradle-to-farm-gate" was included between 0.37 and 13.78 kg of CO_2eq/kg of milk.

1.5.2. The selection of the allocation system

The allocation, which represents the third step in the LCA procedure, is used to assign the GHGs emissions measured from a production system, to the products that are produced within it and that are responsible for those emissions (ISO, 2006a).

Within the dairy sector, more than one product is generally produced; besides the milk, many other products derive from this sector, such as meat from culled cows and surplus calves, manure sold outside of the farm, crops, and many more. Within the 19 approaches analyzed in this review (Table 1.5.1), many allocation solutions are used;

however, a comparison between the different CF on the basis of the allocation system is not feasible, because each model has its own dataset and the allocation is realized using different equations.

The allocation systems used for the 27 estimation approaches of the Table 1.5.1 were the no allocation system, mass allocation, economic allocation, biological allocation, physical allocation, system expansion allocation, and protein mass allocation.

Nevertheless, the researches of Casey and Holden (2005), Flysjö et al. (2011), Guerci et al. (2013d), Kristensen et al. (2011), Pirlo and Carè (2013), and Rotz et al. (2010) are different than the others; these authors realized the CF estimation testing more than one allocation system, in order to find which may be more suitable. For example, Casey and Holden (2005), estimating the CF of the Irish dairy sector, tested 3 different allocation systems between milk and meat. The no allocation solution involves assigning all the GHGs emissions to the milk; with this system Casey and Holden (2005) obtained a CF value equal to 1.50 kg of CO₂eq/kg of ECM. The economic allocation involves the distribution of the CF between milk and meat on the basis of their market prices; using this solution is applied distributing the CF between milk and meat on the basis of their market prices; distribution is applied distributing the CF between milk and meat on the basis of their produced quantities; Casey and Holden (2005) obtained a CF value equal to 1.45 kg of CO₂eq/kg of ECM by applying this last solution.

Kristensen et al. (2011), estimating the CF from 35 conventional and 32 organic dairy farms, applied 5 different allocation systems: mass allocation calculated with a model developed by the authors, protein mass allocation (distribution of the CF between milk and meat on the basis of their protein content), biological allocation (distribution of the CF between milk and meat on the basis of the energy required to produce them), economic allocation, and system expansion (distribution of the CF between milk and meat, comparing the CF produced from the meat production of other animals).

For the conventional and organic farms analyzed by the authors, the average CF was equal to:

- 1.04 kg of CO₂eq/kg of ECM applying the mass allocation model;
- 1.00 kg of CO₂eq/kg of ECM applying the protein mass allocation;
- 0.905 kg of CO₂eq/kg of ECM applying the biological allocation;
- 1.08 kg of CO₂eq/kg of ECM applying the economic allocation;
- 0.95 kg of CO₂eq/kg of ECM applying the system expansion allocation.

In both publications, the main difference can be observed between the CF obtained with the economic allocation, and the CF obtained with the biological allocation. These two solutions take into account two totally different elements, which are the economic value of the final products, and the amount of energy required for their production. The economic value is related to the market trends, the amount of energy required for milk and meat production is influenced by several physiological and chemical variables. These differences can explain the gap between the CF results obtained with these allocations.

1.5.3. The selection of the emission sources

Within all the factors considered in the classification of the 27 estimations (Table 1.5.1), the selection of the emission sources represents one of the most important factors that influenced the final CF result. The LCA of a dairy farm can take into account several environmental parameters, such as global warming potential, acidification, eutrophication, and many more. The global warming potential expresses the amount of GHGs emissions produced within a farm or within the dairy supply chain, and it is not influenced by the other environmental parameters, which are expressed with different unit of measure, and related to different sources of emissions. As a consequence, the inclusion of different environmental parameters within the CF estimation does not represent a factor that can change the final result.

Within the global warming potential, the number of emission sources considered can affect the final result. Chianese et al. (2009) obtained one of the lowest CF values between the 27 CF analyzed models, equal to 0.5-1.2 kg of CO_2eq/kg of milk. This result can be explained with the inclusion of the carbon sinks.

The carbon sinks are represented by all those biological elements that can absorb C from the environment. Crops, forests, and soils can be considered as carbon sinks, because by plants and soil respiration, and by the biomass crop accumulation, they can subtract CO_2 and CH_4 from the atmosphere (Chianese et al., 2009). Chianese et al. (2009) considered the soil and crops respiration within his CF model, providing two carbon sinks that allowed to reduce the final GHGs emissions amount.

Rotz et al. (2010) considered the CO_2 emitted by the animals for their respiration (that is an emissions source almost ignored by many authors, since it is considered equivalent to the carbon absorbed by plants), and they considered also the C balance that exists between the croplands and the atmosphere, obtaining a CF value equal to 0.37-0.69 kg of CO₂eq/kg of ECM.

Flysjö et al. (2011) and Guerci et al. (2013d) considered within the CF estimation the land use change factor (LUC), obtaining a CF value equal to 0.49-2.11 kg of CO_2eq/kg of ECM and 1.55-1.72 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM, respectively; this factor estimates the CO_2 emissions that arise from a land use change. These emissions can be positive, when a natural land is transformed into a cropland (e.g. forest into soybean production land); it can be negative when a cropland is transformed back into a natural land.

Many other elements can be considered within the CF estimation, and their inclusion within the calculations can affect the final result; Rotz et al. (2010) included within the secondary emissions the GHGs that derived from the production of plastics, seeds, energy, fertilizers, and pesticides. On the other hand, several authors such as Cederberg and Flysjö (2004) and Besset-Mens et al. (2009) did not consider the secondary emissions that derived from the production processes of these materials; besides, Besset-Mens et al. (2009), Casey and Holden (2005), and many more authors did not consider the emissions related to the plastic use or to the seeds use, considering only the emissions that derived from the use of fertilizers and pesticides.

Guerci et al. (2013c), included the emissions that derived from the production of purchased feeds, but they did not used a default emission coefficient; a detailed dataset on the off-farm feed production processes was realized in order to obtain an accurate estimation regarding the production of the feeds (concentrates and seeds) realized outside of the farm boundaries. The information was referred to local animal feed factories, and the use of energy (electricity and fuels) was also considered.

1.5.4. The selection of equations and coefficients for the CF estimation

The choice of the equations and coefficients that have to be used for the CF estimation represents a crucial point within all the estimation phases. The IPCC (2006) method, as explained above, presents three levels of accuracy correlated with 3 levels of required information.

Among the 27 estimations selected for this review, Rotz et al. (2010), Gerber et al. (2011), and Lesschen et al. (2011) followed the IPCC (2006) method, using all its equations and coefficients. They obtained different CF values, equal to 0.37-0.69, 1.6-1.8, and 1.3 kg of CO_2eq/kg of milk, respectively. The CF estimation of Gerber et al.

(2011) was a large inventory referred to the global dairy sector, and the CF estimation of Lesschen et al. (2011) was also a large inventory referred to the Europe livestock sector; the choice of the Tier 2 was justified by the large amount of farms and animals considered, which did not allow the possibility to collect more information to realize a Tier 3. Rotz et al. (2010) realized the CF estimation of the dairy farms of Pennsylvania (USA) using the IPCC (2006) Tier 2 for the CH₄ and N₂O emissions calculation; however, they integrated the IPCC (2006) method by using different coefficients (gathered from literature) to estimate the primary and secondary emissions arising from the use of the energy within the farm, and from the production of fertilizers, pesticides, plastics, energy, and seeds used within the farm. The IPCC (2006) was used by Rotz et al. (2010) for the estimation of the N_2O produced from manure; the IPCC (2006) method suggests to multiply the amount of N excreted by the animals by different emission factors (EF) calculated by the IPCC (2006) on the basis of the atmospheric temperatures, and on the basis of the manure management solution adopted by the farm. To estimate the N₂O emissions produced from bedded pack and drylot surfaces Rotz et al. (2010) used the IPCC (2006) EF, whereas to estimate the N₂O emissions produced by slurry or liquid manure they used the coefficient of Olesen et al. (2006), which calculated the N₂O emissions on the basis of the m² of manure storage facilities. Rotz et al. (2010) obtained the lowest values considered in this review; it was due by the fact that they studied farms with high production level but moreover because their calculations accounted for many carbon sinks in the on farm production of animal feeds and soil organic matter (Chianese et al., 2009).

A modification of the Tier 2 was used by several authors, such as, Bartl et al. (2001), Basset-Mens et al. (2009), Guerci et al. (2013c), Kristensen et al. (2011), and Thomassen et al. (2008), who obtained a CF value included between 0.90 and 13.78 kg of CO_2eq/kg of milk. Within each one of these estimations, some IPCC coefficients and equations were substituted by coefficients referred to the farms or to the regions/nations considered, and by equations created by different authors that allowed to obtain a higher level of accuracy.

The difference that can be obtained using different accuracy levels in the CF estimation was verified by Guerci et al. (2013b); they realized the CF estimation on 29 dairy Italian cattle farms using the IPCC (2006) Tier 1 method, and a modified IPCC (2006) Tier 2 method. They obtained a CF equal to 1.15 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM using the 1st solution, and a CF equal to 1.26 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM using the 2nd method. The

accurate method demonstrated to be more suitable when a complex and heterogeneous system has to be analyzed, because it allows to consider more variables that can affect the final result. The Tier 1 is more usable when the considered system does not present a high variability between the farms, and the research does not contemplate a deep accuracy level to achieve.

1.5.5. Milk production level and CF

As mentioned above, among the several factors that can affect the CF result, milk production level, in terms of kg of milk/year per cow, represents one of the most important factors. This fact is due to 2 main reasons: i) the CF of the dairy sector is expressed in terms of kg of CO₂eq per kg of milk (milk, ECM, FPCM, etc.), and considering that the CF is negatively correlated with the amount of milk produced (Figure 1.5.1), the amount of milk will influence the CF; ii) the amount of resources used to produce the milk (e.g. seeds, fertilizers, and energy used for crops production, kg of feed required by the animals for their maintenance and for their productions) can affect the CF considering that each one of them produce GHGs emissions.

This last concept was analyzed and explained by Capper et al. (2009), who compared the environmental impact of the US dairy sector between 1944 and 2007; among all the differences that the authors pointed out, the improvement of the productive efficiency between the two dairy system provided the most important factor that explained the reduction of the CF recorded between the two considered years. The amount of energy that one cow requires for its maintenance does not change when the cow improves its milk production level; there will be only an increment for the energy required for the production of the milk, and this increment will provoke a reduction in the percentage of the maintenance energy within the total requirements of the dairy cow.

Between 1944 and 2007 the number of dairy cows raised in the US decreased from 25.6 to 9.2 millions, but the amount of milk produced increased from 53 to 84 billion kg; this huge increment was provoked by the genetic improvement, by the selection of specialized breeds for milk production (e.g. Holstein vs. Jersey and Guernsey), by the introduction of feed rations specifically realized to optimize milk production. At the same time, the milk production gain was accompanied by a reduction of the CF (3.83 vs. 1.27 kg of CO_2eq/kg FPCM); this reduction was not only caused by the gain of milk production of the raised dairy cows. The introduction of the mixed

rations and the reduction in the use of pasture allowed to obtain a reduction of CH_4 enteric fermentations, and an increment of the amount of feed energy used for milk production instead of that used for methane production. The improvement of the agriculture sector allowed to produce more crops using a lower amount of land and other inputs, reducing the emissions of CO_2 and N_2O that are related with these practices.

The Table 1.5.2 reports 15 CF estimation results with their correspondent milk production levels; it is possible to observe that within the same milk production level, different CF were obtained. The explanation for this trend must be found analyzing all the differences that exist between the farms that obtained these different results.

The estimations realized by Capper et al. (2009) for the farms of 1944, Guerci et al. (2013d) for the Italian farms that practice the summer grazing in the Alps (SG), and Besset-Mens et al. (2009) showed a milk production level included between 2173 and 4218 kg of FPCM/year per cow, and a CF value included between 3.83 and 1.04 kg of CO_2eq/kg FPCM. The highest CF value of this subgroup was recorded by Capper et al. (2009) on the US dairy farms of 1944, and the explanation for of this result was already exposed above.

The remaining 2 CF results presented an high difference (1.04 vs. 1.72) even if they showed the same milk production level; however, Guerci et al. (2013d SG) realized in their estimation an accurate analysis on the off-farm feed production emissions, considering many more variables and emission sources compared to Besset-Mens et al. (2009), who did not consider all these factors, adopting only default coefficients.

Bartl et al. (2011) that measured the CF in the coastal farms of Perú, Casey and Holden (2005) and Penati et al. (2010) presented the same milk production level, which was include between 5041 and 5868 kg of FPCM/year per cow. The CF measured in these 3 researches was included between 1.14 and 3.15 kg of CO₂eq/kg FPCM. There is a large difference between the CF obtained by Bartl et al. (2011) and the CF obtained by Penati et al. (2010); in fact, these 2 research presented the same milk production level (5016 vs. 5868 kg of FPCM/year per cow), but a different CF result (1.14 vs. 3.15 kg of CO₂eq/kg FPCM). The estimation of Bartl et al. (2011) was realized in the coastal regions of Perú, on not specialized cows, raised within farms that presented a low technology level.

Guerci et al. (2013d) with the estimation of the CF realized on the no summer grazing Italian dairy farms (no SG), Pirlo and Carè (2013), Kristensen et al. (2011), Rotz et al.

(2010), Thomassen et al. (2008), Cederberg and Flysjö (2004), Capper et al. (2009) with the estimation of the CF on the US farms of 2007, Flysjö et al. (2011), and Guerci et al. (2013c) obtained a CF included between 0.55 and 1.55 kg of CO_2eq/kg FPCM, with a milk production level included between 7016 and 10299 kg of FPCM/year per cow.

Rotz et al. (2010) obtained the lowest CF value (0.55 kg CO_2eq/kg FPCM), but they did not obtained the highest milk production level, as it was expected. This fact can be explained considering the C sinks included in this estimation that allowed to reduce the final CF result.

Besides, Guerci et al. (2013c), as explained before, did not used default coefficients to estimate the emissions that were produced during the off-farm feed production processes, but they realized an accurate estimation on the entire process including many more emission sources, that probably influenced the final CF result.

The CF obtained by Kristensen et al. (2011) was equal to 0.92 kg CO₂eq/kg FPCM, and it was similar to the CF estimation obtained by Besset-Mens et al. (2009) that was equal to 1.04 kg CO₂eq/kg FPCM. However, the milk production levels obtained in these 2 estimations were different (4218 vs. 8300 kg of FPCM/year per cow), and the milk production level measured by Kristensen et al. (2011) was the 50% higher than the one measured by Besset-Mens et al. (2009), despite a difference between the CF values equal to the 11%. The result obtained by Besset-Mens et al. (2009) represents the average CF calculated for the dairy cow systems of New Zealand; the coefficients used for this estimation were the same for the 4 systems because the authors applied only default values selected from the IPCC-NZ methodology, from national inventory data, and from national literature. They used one coefficient for the enteric CH₄ emissions, one coefficient for the manure CH₄ emissions, and a fixed N amount of fertilizers per hectare, on the basis of national inventories.

The result obtained by Kristensen et al. (2011) represents the average CF calculated comparing 35 conventional dairy farms with 32 organic dairy farms in Denmark. The CH₄ estimation was realized using the IPCC (2006) on the basis of the DMI measured each month for each farm; the DMI of the animals that were partially feed on pasture was measured by subtracting the amount of DMI provided with the supplement from the total DMI that the animal should receive daily on the basis of its energy requirements. The amount of excreted manure was estimated on the basis of the DMI, and the amount of manure deposited on pasture was estimated considering the time spent outside by the animals. The N₂O emissions from manure were estimated on the basis of the N

excreted, calculated considering the N intake and the N contained in the animal productions (milk and meat). The N_2O emitted from the soils was estimated using different coefficients on the basis of the different N sources applied to the soil (fertilizers, manure, crop residues). Secondary emissions from land use and imported feeds were also considered.

The more detailed estimation realized by Kristensen et al. (2011) considered many more variables compared to the one realized by Besset-Mens et al. (2009), and this fact can justifies the higher CF value obtained by Kristensen et al. (2011), despite the higher milk production level recorded in their farms.

Furthermore, the estimation of Besset-Mens et al. (2009) presents a CF result close to the one obtained by Cederberg and Flysjö (2004), that was equal to 0.97 kg CO₂eq/kg FPCM, who however presented a milk production level equal to 8529 kg of FPCM/year per cow. Even in this case, the explanation for these similar results, obtained despite a huge difference between the milk production levels, can be related to the amount of variables considered by the authors. Cederberg and Flysjö (2004) considered the same variables of Kristensen et al. (2011), calculating the GHGs emissions using the IPCC (1996) method. Besides, they realized the CF estimation accounting all the animal categories of the farm (dairy cows, young heifers, older heifers, calves), considering also the estimations that derived from pesticides and plastic production and use, and realizing a different estimation for the emissions that derive from the production processes realized for the production of the feed concentrates on-farm and off-farm.

Different CF values can be compared only if there is a similarity between the characteristics of the considered farms, including even the raised breeds, the climate conditions, the technology level, and the time interval.

The very large difference that exists between the CF obtained by Rotz et al. (2010), equal to 0.55 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM, and the CF obtained by Capper et al. (2009) in the US farms of 1944, equal to 3.83 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM, can be explained analyzing all the characteristics of the farms, and considering the dramatic discrepancy that exists between the considered systems. A valid comparison between CF results can be obtained considering similar estimation conditions; if the conditions are not similar, it could be appropriate to exclude all the variables that are not present in all the estimations compared.

Author & Country	Method	Boundaries	Considered emissions	References	Allocation system	Functional unit	Result
Bartl et al., 2011 (Perú)	LCA applied to two smallholder milk production systems in Perú (highlands and coast)	From cradle- to-farm-gate + on-farm and off-farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O), acidification, eutrophication	IPCC (2003) and various authors	Economic allocation	1 kg of ECM (ALP, 2006)	3.18-13.78 kg CO ₂ eq/kg ECM (coast farm vs.highlands farm)
Basset-Mens et al., 2009 (New Zealand)	LCA applied to four dairy farm systems	From cradle- to-farm-gate + on-farm and off-farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O), acidification, eutrophication, energy use, and land use	MfE (2006) and various authors	Biological allocation	1 kg of milk; 1 hectare	0.64-0.93 kg CO ₂ eq/kg milk
Browne et al., 2011 (Australia)	Agricultural GHGs emissions modeled for 14 representative farms	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (1997), DCCEE (2009)	Mass allocation	1 kg of MFP (Sjaunja et al., 1991)	0.85-0.94 kg CO ₂ eq/kg MFP
Capper et al., 2009 (USA)	Comparison between the environmental impact of modern and historical dairy production practices (1944 vs. 2007)	From cradle- to-farm-gate + on-farm and off-farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (2006), US EPA (2007), USDA/NASS (2006), USDA/NASS (2007)	No allocation	1 kg of milk	3.66 vs. 1.35 kg CO ₂ eq/kg milk

Table 2.6. Overview of some models for the greenhouse gases estimation from the dairy cow sector.

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

62

Table 1.6. (continued).

Author & Country	Method	Boundaries	Considered emissions	References	Allocation system	Functional unit	Result
Casey and Holden, 2005 (Ireland)	Partial LCA applied to the Irish dairy system	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (1996b), EPA (1998), and various authors	No allocation, mass allocation, and economic allocation	1 kg of ECM (Sjaunja et al., 1991)	1.30-1.50 kg CO ₂ eq/kg ECM
Flysjö, 2004 (Sweden)	LCA applied to 23 dairy farms	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO_2 , CH_4 , N_2O), acidification, eutrophication, energy use, and land use	IPCC (1996b), IPCC (1997), IPCC (2000), and various authors	Economic allocation	1 kg of ECM	0.76-1.26 kg CO ₂ eq/kg ECM
Chianese et al., 2009 (USA)	Estimation of GHGs emissions from a representative dairy farm	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O), and soil respiration	Various authors	No allocation	1 kg of milk	0.5-1.2 CO ₂ eq/kg milk
Eide, 2002 (Norway)	Total LCA of Norwegian dairy farms	From cradle- to-grave	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O), acidification, eutrophication, depletion of stratospheric ozone, ecotoxicity	IPCC (1996b), EPA (1998), and various authors	Biological allocation	1,000 liters of drinking milk brought to the consumers	500-650 kg CO ₂ eq/FU

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

Table 1.6. (continued).

Author & Country	Method	Boundaries	Considered emissions	References	Allocation system	Functional unit	Result
Fantin et al., 2012 (Italy)	LCA of Italian high quality milk (HQ) production	From cradle- to-grave	Global warning potential (CO_2, CH_4, N_2O) , acidification, eutrophication, ozone depletion, resources with or without energy content, photochemical oxidation	IPCC (2006), and various authors	no allocation	1 liter of HQ milk	1.3 kg CO ₂ eq/1 of HQ milk
Flysjö et al., 2011 (Sweden)	Partial LCA applied to 23 dairy farms to investigate the link between milk and beef production	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O), land use change	IPCC (1996b), IPCC (1997), IPCC (2000), and various authors	Economic allocation by system expansion	1 kg of ECM	0.49-2.11 kg CO ₂ eq/kg ECM
Gerber et al., 2011 (World)	LCA on 155 countries to assess the GHG emissions of the dairy system on a global scale	From cradle- to-grave	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O	Various authors	Protein mass allocation	1 kg of FPCM	1.6-1.8 kg CO2eq/kg FPCM
Guerci et al., 2013a (Italy)	Carbon footprint of pasteurized liquid milk	From cradle- to-grave + on- farm and off- farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (2006), Ecoinvent (2007)	Biological allocation	1 kg of pasteurized milk	1.72 kg CO ₂ eq/kg milk

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari

Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari
64

Table 1.6. (continued).

Model & Country	Method	Boundaries	Considered emissions	References	Allocation system	Functional unit (FU)	Result
Guerci et al., 2013b (Italy)	Estimation of Carbon footprint using different methods	From cradle-to- farm-gate + on- farm and off- farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (2006), and various authors	Biological allocation (IDF, 2010)	1 kg of FPCM	1.15-1.26 kg CO2eq/kg FPCM
Guerci et al., 2013c (Italy)	Environmental impact of 41 intensive dairy farms	From cradle-to- farm-gate + on- farm and off- farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)Acidification, Eutrophication, energy use, and land use	IPCC (2006), and various authors	Economic allocation	1 kg of FPCM	1.30 kg CO ₂ eq/kg FPCM
Guerci et al., 2013d (Italy)	Effect of summer grazing on carbon footprint of milk in Italian Alps	From cradle-to- farm-gate + on- farm and off- farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO_2 , CH_4 , N_2O) and land use change	IPCC (2006), and various authors	No allocation, economic, nitrogen mass, and mass allocation	1 kg of FPCM	1.55-1.72 kg CO ₂ eq/ kg FPCM
Haas et al., 2001 (Germany)	LCA for 18 grassland farms in three different farming intensities	From cradle-to- farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O), Acidification, Eutrophication	IPCC (1996)	Protein mass allocation	1 tonne of milk	1.0-1.3 t CO ₂ eq/ tonne of milk
Hagemann et al., 2011 (World)	Quantification of GHGs emissions of bovine milk production systems of 38 countries	From cradle-to- farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (1996), IPCC (2007), and various authors	Biological allocation	1 kg of ECM (GFE, 2001)	1.0-3.07 kg CO ₂ eq/kg ECM

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

Table 1.6. (continued).

Model & Country	Method	Boundaries	Considered emissions	References	Allocation system	Functional unit (FU)	Result
Kristensen et al., 2011 (Denmark)	Partial LCA to estimate the GHGs emissions and the land use on commercial dairy farms	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO_2 , CH_4 , N_2O) and land use	IPCC (2006), and various authors	Protein mass, economic, biological, system expansion	1 kg of ECM (Sjaunja et al., 1991)	0.9-1.10 kg CO ₂ eq/kg ECM
Lesschen et al., 2011 (Europe)	GHGs emissions in the 27 Members States of the European Union (EU-27)	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	MITERRA-Europe, CAPRI, GAINS and IPCC (2006)	Mass allocation	1 kg of milk	1.3 kg CO ₂ eq/kg milk
Penati et al., 2010 (Italy)	Effect of farming system changes on LCA indicators for dairy farms in the Italian Alps	From cradle- to-farm-gate + on-farm and off-farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)acidification, eutrophication, non-renewable energy use, and land use	_	Economic allocation	1 kg of FPCM	1.13 kg CO ₂ eq/kg FPCM
Pirlo et al., 2013 (Italy)	GHGs emission estimation of 4 simulated Italian dairy farm models	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (2006), ISPRA (2008), and various authors	No allocation, physical, and economic allocation	1 kg of FPCM	0.89-1.22 kg CO ₂ eq/kg FPCM
Rotz et al., 2010 (USA)	Partial LCA for dairy farms of various size	From cradle- to-farm-gate + primary and secondary emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (2006), and various authors	Economic allocation	1 kg of ECM	0.37-0.69 kg CO ₂ eq/kg ECM

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

Table 1.6. ((continued).

Model & Country	Methodology	Boundaries	Considered emissions	References	Allocation system	Functional unit (FU)	Result
Thoma et al., 2013a (USA)	Partial LCA of GHGs emissions from 536 dairy farms	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (2006)	Biological allocation (IDF, 2010)	1 kg of FPCM (NRC, 2001)	1.23 kg CO ₂ eq/kg FPCM
Thoma et al., 2013b (USA)	Total LCA of GHGs emissions from 536 milk supply chains	From cradle- to-grave	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (2006)	Different allocation systems, depending on the considered product	1 kg of milk consumed by US consumers	1.77 kg CO ₂ eq/FU
Thomassen et al., 2008 (Netherlands)	Partial LCA of environmental impact from 21dairy farms	From cradle- to-farm-gate + on-farm and off-farm emissions	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)acidification, eutrophication, energy use, and land use	IPCC (2006), and various authors	Economic allocation	1 kg of FPCM	1.4-1.5 kg CO ₂ eq/kg FPCM
Vergé et al., 2007 (Canada)	GHGs emission estimation of dairy system for 5 regions	From cradle- to-farm-gate	Global warning potential (CO ₂ , CH ₄ , N ₂ O)	IPCC (2000), and various authors	No allocation	1 kg of milk	1.02 kg CO_2 eq/kg milk
Vitali et al., 2013 (Italy)	LCA of HQ bovine milk	From cradle- to-grave	Global warning potential (CO_2 , CH_4 , N_2O), acidification, eutrophication, water footprint	IPCC (2006), ISPRA (2011), CRPA (2001)	mass allocation	1 liter of HQ milk	1.10-1.22 kg CO ₂ eq/l HQ milk

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

	Milk production	CF
Author	(kg FPCM*/year per cow)	(kg CO ₂ eq/ kg
	2172.0	<u> </u>
Capper et al., 2009 (farms of 1944)	21/2.9	5.85
Guerci et al., 2013d (SG farms)	4131.5	1.72
Besset-Mens et al., 2009	4217.7	1.04
Casey and Holden, 2005	5041.5	1.42
Bartl et al., 2011 (coastal)	5815.8	3.15
Penati et al., 2010	5868.4	1.14
Guerci et al., 2013d (noSG farms)	7016.2	1.55
Pirlo and Caré, 2013	8097.1	1.05
Kristensen et al., 2011	8300.6	0.92
Rotz et al., 2010	8307.5	0.55
Thomassen et al., 2008	8478.5	1.49
Cederberg and Flysjö, 2004	8528.6	0.97
Capper et al., 2009 (farms of 2007)	8664.2	1.27
Flysjö et al., 2011	10222.6	1.40
Guerci et al., 2013c	10298.8	1.30

 Table 1.7. Milk production level per cow and Carbon footprint results for 14 CF

 estimation approaches.

*milk yield per cow was standardized at 4% fat and 3.3% protein using the IDF (2010) formula for the fat and protein corrected milk.



Figure 3.5. Regression of CF on milk production level observed by 14 authors.

REFERENCES

- 1. Adom, F., Workman, C., Thoma, G., Shonnard, D. 2013. Carbon footprint analysis of dairy feed from a mill in Michigan, USA. International Dairy Journal. 31, S21-S28.
- Aguerre, M.J., Wattiaux, M.A., Powell, J.M., Broderick, G.A., Arndt, C. 2010. Effect of forage-to-concentrate ratio in dairy cow diets on emission of methane, carbon dioxide, and ammonia, lactation performance, and manure excretion. Journal of Dairy Science 94, 3081-3093.
- Aguggini, G., Beghelli, V., Clement, M.G., d'Angelo, A., Debenedetti, A., Facello, C., Giulio, L.F., Guglielmino, R., Lucaroni, A., Maffeo, G., Marongiu, A., Naitana, S., Nuvoli, P., Piazza, R. 1998. Fisiologia degli animali domestici con elementi di etologia.UTET, Torino.
- ALP, 2006. Fütterungsempfehlungen und Nährwerttabellen für Wiederkäuer. (Feeding Recommendations and Nutrient Tables for Ruminants). Posieux, Switzerland. Forschungsanstalt Agroscope Liebefeld-Posieux ALP.
- 5. Alexandratos, N. 1999. World food and agriculture: Outlook for the medium and longer term. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA Vol. 96, 5908-5914.
- Amon, B., Kryvoruchko, V., Moitzi, G., Amon, T., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. 1996. Methane, nitrous oxide and ammonia emissions during storage and after application of dairy cattle and pig slurry and influence of slurry treatment.
- Archimède, H., Eugène, M., Magdeleine, C.M., Boval, M., Martin, C., Morgavi, D.P., Lecomte, P., Doreau, M. 2011. Comparison of methane production between C3 and C4 grasses and legumes. Animal Feed Science and Technology 166–167 (2011) 59-64.
- Asselin-Balençon , A.C., Popp, J., Henderson, A., Heller, M., Thoma, G., Jolliet, O. 2013. Dairy farm greenhouse gas impacts: A parsimonious model for a farmer's decision support tool. International Dairy Journal 31 (2013) S65-S77.
- Atzori, A.S. 2008.Nitrogen volatilization losses, manure management and lameness in Mediterranean dairy cattle farms. PhD Thesis. Università degli Studi di Sassari. Sassari. Italy.Bartl, K., Gómez, C.A., Nemecek, T. 2011. Life cycle assessment of milk produced in two smallholder dairy systems in the highlands and the coast of Perú. Journal of Cleaner Production. 19: 1494-1505.
- 10. Beauchemin, K.A., McGinn, S.M. 2005. Methane emissions from feedlot cattle fed barley and corn diets. J. Anim. Sci. 2005, 83:653-661.
- 11. Beauchemin, K.A., McGinn, S.M., Petit, H.V. 2007. Methane abatament startegies for cattle: lipid supplementation of diets.

- Beauchemin, K.A., McGinn, S.M., Benchaar, C., Holtshausen, L. 2009. Crushed sunflower, flax, or canola seeds in lactating dairy cow diets: effects on methane production, rumen fermentation, and milk production. J. Dairy Sci. 92:2118-2127.
- 13. Besset-Mens, C., Ledgard, S., Boyes, M. 2009. Eco-efficiency of intensification scenarios for milk production in New Zealand. Ecological Economics. 68:1615-1625.
- Bhatta, R., Enishi, O., Kurihara, M. 2007. Measurements of methane production from ruminants. Asian-Aust. J. Anim. Sci. Vol. 20, No. 8 : 1305-1318.
- 15. Boadi, D., Benchaar, C., Chiquette, J., Massé, D. 2004. Mitigation strategies to reduce enteric methane emissions from dairy cows: Update review.
- Bortolami, R., Callegari, E., Beghelli, V. 2009. Anatomia e fisioligia degli animali domestici. Ed Agricolae. Bologna.
- 17. Brau, C.A. 2004. Modern problems in classical electrodynamics. Oxford University Press, New York, 2004.
- 18. Brown, L., Armstrong Brown, S., Jarvis, S.C., Syed, B., Goulding, K.W.T., Phillips, V.R., Sneath, R.W., Pain, B.F., 2001. An inventory of nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture in the UK using the IPCC methodology: emission estimate, uncertainty and sensitivity analysis. Atmos. Environ. 35, 1439–1449
- Browne, N.A., Eckard, R.J., Behrendt, R., Kingwell, R.S. 2011. A comparative analysis of on-farm greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural enterprises in south eastern Australia. Animal Feed Science and Technology 166-167 (2011) 641–652.
- Bryant, M. P. 1974. Methane-producing bacteria. Pages 472–477 in Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology, 8th ed. R. E. Buchanan and N. E. Gibbons, ed. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore, MD.
- Burton, C.H., Turner, C. 2003. Manure Management. Treatment Strategies for Sustainable Agriculture, 2nd edition. European Commission, Brussels, Belgium, 451 pp.
- 22. Bussink, D.W., Oenema, O. 1998. Ammonia volatilization from dairy farming systems in temperate areas: a review. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems. 51:19-33.
- Cadwick, D., Sommer, S., Thorman, R., Fangueiro, D., Cardenas, L., Amon, B., Misselbrook, T. 2011. Manure management: Implications for greenhouse gas emissions. Animal Feed Science and Technology 166–167 (2011) 514-531.
- 24. Capper, J.L., Cady, R.A., Bauman, D.E. 2009. The environmental impact of dairy production: 1944 compared with 2007. J. Anim. Sci. 87:2160-2167.
- 25. Casey, J.W., Holden, N.M. 2005. Analysis of greenhouse gas emissions from the average Irish milk production system. Agricultural Systems 86 (2005) 97–114.

- 26. Cassman, K.G. 1999. Ecological intensification of cereal production systems: Yield potential, soil quality, and precision agriculture. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA Vol. 96, pp. 5952–5959, May 1999 Colloquium Paper.
- 27. Cederberg, C., Mattsson, B. 2000. Life cycle assessment of milk production- a comparison of conventional and organic farming. Journal of Cleaner Production 8 (2000) 49-60.
- 28. Cederberg, C., Flysjö, A. 2004. Life cycle inventory of 23 dairy-farms in South-Western Sweden. SIK-rapport, Nr 728 2004.
- 29. Chianese, D. S., Rotz, C. A., Richard, T.L. 2009a. Whole farm greenhouse gas emissions: A review with application to a Pennsylvania dairy farm. Appl. Eng. Agric. 25:431–442.
- Chianese, D. S., Rotz, C. A., Richard, T.L. 2009b. Simulation of methane emissions from dairy farms to assess greenhouse gas reduction strategies. Trans. ASABE 52:1313–1323.
- Chianese, D. S., Rotz, C. A., Richard, T.L. 2009c. Simulation of nitrous oxide emissions from dairy farms to assess greenhouse gas reduction strategies. Trans. ASABE 52:1325–1335.
- 32. Christidis, N., Donaldson, G.C., Stott, P.A. 2010. Causes for the recent changes in cold- and heat-related mortality in England and Wales. Climatic Change (2010) 102:539–553.
- 33. Chung, Y.H., He, M.L., McGinn, S.M., McAllister, T.A., Beauchemin, K.A. 2001. Linseed suppresses enteric methane emissions from cattle fed barley silage, but not from those fed grass hay. Animal Feed Science and Technology 166–167 (2011) 321-329.
- 34. Ciborowski, P. 2001. Anaerobic digestion of livestock manure for pollution control and energy production: a feasibility assessment. Minnesota Pollution Control Agency.
- 35. Confalonieri, U., B. Menne, R. Akhtar, K.L. Ebi, M. Hauengue, R.S. Kovats, B. Revich and A. Woodward, 2007: Human health. *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, Eds., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 391-431.
- Daly, H. 1986. Comments on "Population Growth and Economic Development". Population and Development Review 12, 583-585.

- 37. Davidson, E.A., Keller, M., Erickson, H.E., Verchot, L.V., Veldkamp, E. 2000. Texting a conceptual model of soil emissions of nitrous and nitric oxide. BioScience 667 August 2000 / Vol. 50 No. 8.
- 38. DCCEE, 2009. National Inventory Report 2007: The Australian Government Submission to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change May 2009, vol. 1. Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Canberra, ACT, Australia.
- 39. Del Grosso, S.J., Mosier, A.R., Parton, W.J., Ojima, D.S. 2005. DAYCENT model analysis of past and contemporary soil N₂O and net greenhouse gas flux for major crops in the USA. Soil & Tillage Research 83 (2005) 9–24.
- 40. De Leeuw, B. 2005. The World Behind the products. Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Yale University, Volume 9, Number 1–2.
- 41. Demeyer, D.I., Van Nevel, C.J. 1975. Methanogenesis, an integrated part of carbohydrate fermentation, and its control. In. I.W. McDonald and A.C.I. Warner (eds.), *Digestion and metabolism in the Ruminant*, p 366–383. (Refer p.12 Ref. 6). The University of New England Publishing Unit, Armidale, Australia.
- 42. Dias De Oliveira, M.E., Vaughan, B.E., Rykiel Jr.E.J. 2005. Ethanol as fuel: energy, carbon dioxide balances, and Ecological Footprint. BioScience 55;593–602.
- 43. Dias De Oliveira, M.E. 2008. Sugarcane and Ethanol Production and Carbon Dioxide Balances. In: Pimentel D, (ed.), Biofuels, Solar and Wind as Renewable Energy Systems, [©]Springer Science+Business Media B.V. 2008.
- 44. Dijkstra, J., van Zijderveld, S.M., Apajalahti, J.A., Bannink, A., Gerrits, W.J.J., Newbold, J.R., Perdok, H.B., Berends, H. 2011. Relationships between methane production and milk fatty acid profiles in dairy cattle. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 166-167:590-595.
- 45. Eide, M.H. 2002. Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of industrial milk production.
- 46. Ekvall, T., Weidema, P.B. 2004. System boundaries and input data in consequential life cycle inventory analysis. Int J LCA 9;161-171.
- 47. EPA, 1998. Environmental Protection Agency. Emissions to Air 1990–1998 estimation methods, trends and challenges. Environmental Protection Agency, Johnstown Castle, Wexford, Ireland.
- 48. EPA, 2007. Environmental Protection Agency. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks 1990–2005. Annex 3: Methodological Descriptions for Additional Source or Sink Categories. US Environ. Protection Agency, Washington, DC.
- 49. EPA, 2013a. Climate Change: Basic Information. United States Environmental Protection Agency. <u>http://www.epa.gov/climatechange/basics/ (accessed</u> June 2013)

- 50. EPA, 2013b. Climate Change: Causes of Climate Change. United States

 Environmental
 Protection
 Agency.

 http://www.epa.gov/climatechange/science/causes.html (accessed June 2013).
- EPA, 2013c. Annual GHG Inventory Summary and Goal Tracking Form. United States Environmental Protection Agency. <u>http://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/</u>.
- European Parliament 1998. B4-0802/98. Resolution on climate change in the run-up to Buenos Aires (November 1998). <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/</u>.
- 53. FAO, 2006. Livestock's Long Shadow. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy.
- 54. FAO, 2008a. FAOSTAT, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. http://faostat3.fao.org/home/index.html.
- 55. FAO, 2010a. Global Forest Resources Assessment 2010. Main report. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy.
- 56. FAO, 2010b. Greenhouse Gas Emissions from the Dairy Sector. A Life Cycle Assessment. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy.
- 57. FAO, 2012a. The state of food insecurity in the World. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- 58. FAO, 2012b. Milk availability. Trends in production and demand and medium-term outlook. ESA Working paper No. 12-01. Agricultural Development Economic Division. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- 59. FAO 2013, FAO Statistical Yearbook, World Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.Rome, Italy.
- 60. FAO, 2013. FAOSTAT, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. http://faostat3.fao.org/home/index.html.
- Fernàndez, C., López, M.C., Lachica, M. 2012. Description and function of a mobile open-circuit respirometry system to measure gas exchange in small ruminants. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 172:242-246.
- 62. FishSTAT, 2008. FAO, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Fisheries Statistical Database. <u>http://www.fao.org/fishery/figis</u> (accessed June 2013).
- 63. Flessa, H., Ruser, R., Dörsch, P., Kamp, T., Jimenez, M.A., Munch, J.C., Beese, F. 2002. Integrated evaluation of greenhouse gas emissions (CO2, CH4, N2O) from two farming systems in southern Germany. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 91 (2002) 175-189.
- 64. Flysjö, A., Cederberg C., Henriksson, M., Ledgard, S. 2011. The interaction between milk and beef production and emissions from land use change-critical considerations in

life cycle assessment and Carbon footprint studies of milk. Journal of Cleaner Production 28,134-142.

- 65. Frenzleubbers, A.J., Follet, R.F. 2005. Greenhouse gas contributions and mitigation potential in agricultural regions of North America: Introduction. Soil & Tillage Research 83 (2005) 1-8.
- 66. Gerber, P., Vellinga, T., Opio, C., Steinfeld, H. 2011. Productivity gains and green house gas emissions intensity in dairy systems. Livestock Science. 139:100-108.
- 67. Gerber, P.J., Steinfeld, H., Handerson, B., Mottet, A., Opio, C., Dijkman, J., Falcucci, A., Tempio, G. 2013. Tackling climate change through livestock A global assessment of emissions and mitigation opportunities. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome.
- 68. GFE, 2001. Feeding Recommendations on Energy and Nutrient Supply for Lactating and Heifers. German Society for Animal Nutrition and Physiology, Frankfurt, Germany (in German).
- Gill F.L., Dewhurstb, R.J., Eversheda, R.P., McGeoughb, E., O'Kielyb, P., Pancosta, R.D., Bulla, I.D. 2011. Analysis of archaeal ether lipids in bovine feces. Animal Feed Science and Technology 166-167 (2011) 87-92.
- 70. Gilland, B. 2002. World population and food supply. Can food production keep pace with population growth in the next half-century? Food Policy, 27, pp. 47-63.
- Glantz, M.H. 1995. Assessing the impacts of climate: the issue of winners and losers in a global climate change context. Climate Change Research – Evaluation and Policy Implications, Volume 65, 1995. Pages 41-54.
- 72. Global Common Institute, 2000. http://www.gci.org.uk/.
- 73. Goering, H. K., Van Soest, P.J. 1970. Forage fiber analysis: Apparatus, reagents, procedures, and some applications. Agric. Handbook. No. 379. ARS, USDA, Washington, DC. 1-20 p.
- Groenestein, C.M., Van Faassen, H.G., 1996. Volatilization of ammonia, nitrous oxide and nitric oxide in deep-litter systems for fattening pigs. J. Agric. Eng. Res. 65, 269– 274.
- 75. Haas, G., Wetterich, F., Köpke, U. 2001. Comparing intensive, extensified and organic grassland farming in southern Germany by process life cycle assessment. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environmant. 83:43-53.
- 76. Hagemann, M., Hemme, T., Ndambi, A., Alqaisi, O., Sultana, Mst. N. 2011. Benchmarking of greenhouse gas emissions of bovine milk production system for 38 countries. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 166-167:46-58.

- 77. Harper, L.A., Denmead, O.T., Freney, J.R., Byers, F.M. 1999. Direct measurement of methane emission from grazing and feedlot cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 77:1392-1401.
- Harper, L.A., Denmead, O.T., Flesch, T.K. 2012. Micrometeorological techniques for measurement of enteric green house gas emissions. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 166-167:227-239.
- 79. Hegarty, R. S. 1999. Reducing rumen methane emissions through elimination of rumen protozoa. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 50: 1321–1327.
- Hegarty, R.S., Nolon, J.V. 2007. Estimation of ruminal methane production from measurement of volatile fatty acid production. In: Vercoe, P.E., Makkar, H. P. S. 2007. Measuring methane production from ruminants. Published by Springer. pp. 69-92.
- Hellwing, A.L.F., Lund, P., Weisbjerg, M.R., Brask, M., Hvelplund, T. 2012. Technical note: Test of a low-cost and animal-friendly systemfor measuring methane emissions from dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:6077-6085.
- 82. Hoekstra, A.Y., Chapagain, A.K., Aldaya, M.M., Mekonnen, M.M. 2011. The water footprint assessment manual: Setting the global standard, Earthscan, London, UK.
- Höglund-Isaksson L., Winiwarter W., Tohka A., Gains. Potentials and costs for mitigation of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases in Annex I countries. Methodology, Version 2, July 2009. IIASA, International Institute for Applied System Analysis A-2361, Laxenburg, Austria.
- Houghton, R. A. 1994. The worldwide extent of land-use change. BioScience 44; 305-313.
- 85. Hungate, R. E. 1966. The Rumen and its Microbes. New York: Academic Press.
- 86. IDF, 2009. Environmental / Ecological impact of the dairy sector: literature review on dairy products for an inventory of key issues. List of environmental initiatives and influences on the dairy sector. Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation 436/2009. © 2010, International Dairy Federation.
- 87. IDF, 2010. A common carbon footprint approach for dairy. The IDF guide to standard life cycle assessment methodology of dairy sector. Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation 445/2010. © 2010, International Dairy Federation.
- IPCC, 1996a. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate change 1995 the science of climate change. University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- 89. IPCC, 1996b. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Revised IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories: Workbook. Available from: http://www.ipccnggip.iges.or.jp/public/gl/invs5c.htm..

- 90. IPCC, 1997. In: Houghton, J.T., Meira Filho, J.G., Lim, B., Treanton, K., Mamaty, I., Bonduki, Y., Griggs, D.J., Callender, B.A. (Eds.), Revised 1996 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. IPCC/OECD/IEA, Paris, France.
- 91. IPCC, 2000. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Section 4: Agriculture, 94 pp.
- 92. IPCC, 2001. Climate change 2001: the scientific basis contribution of working Group I to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). In: Houghton, J.T., Ding, Y., Griggs, D.J., Noguer, M., van der Linden, P.J., Xiaosu, D. (Eds.), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 944pp.
- 93. IPCC, 2003. (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). Good practice guidance for land use, land-use change and forestry. Kanagawa, Japan: IPCC National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES) for the IPCC; 2003.
- 94. IPCC 2006a, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2006. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Overview.
- 95. IPCC 2006b, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2006. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Volume 4: Agriculture Forestry and Other Land Use.
- 96. IPCC, 2007a. Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report, IPCC Fourth Assessment Report AR4 2007. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 2007. IPCC Plenary XXVII (Valencia, Spain, 12-17 November 2007).
- 97. IPCC, 2007b. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate change 2007: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Chapter 2: Changes in atmospheric constituents and in radiative forcing. Available at: www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessment-report/ar4/wg1/ar4-wg1-chapter2.pdf.
- 98. ISO, 2006a. Environmental management life cycle assessment principle and framework, ISO 14040. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland. ©ISO 2006.
- 99. ISO, 2006b. Greenhouse gases. Part 1: Specification with guidance at the organization level for quantification and reporting of greenhouse gases emissions and removal. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland. ©ISO 2006.
- 100. Janzen, H.H. 2004. Carbon cycling in earth systems a soil science perspective. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 104, pp. 399-417.
- 101. Janzen, H.H. 2011. What place for livestock on a re-greening earth? Animal Feed Science and Technology 166–167 (2011) 783–796.

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

- 102. Johnson, K., Huyler, M., Westberg, H., Lamb, B., Zimmerman, P. 1994. Measurement of methane emissions from ruminant livestock using a SF6 tracer technique. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1994, 28, 359-362.
- Johnson, K.A., Johnson, D.E. 1995. Methane emissions from cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 1995, 73:2483-2492.
- 104. Johnson, D. E., Ward, G. W., Ramsey, J. J. 1996. Livestock methane: Current emissions and mitigation Potential. Pages 219–234 *in* E. T. Kornegay, ed. Nutrient management of food animals to enhance and protect the environment. Lewis Publishers, New York, NY.
- 105. Johnson, K.A., Kincaid, R.L., Westberg, H.H., Gaskins, G.T., Lamb, B.K., Cronrath, J.D. 2002. The Effect of oilseeds in diets of lactating cows on milk production and methane emission. J. Dairy Sci. 85:1509-1515.
- 106. Johnson, D.E., Ferrel, C.L., Jenkins, T.G. 2003. The history of energetic efficiency research: where have we been and where are we going? J. Anim. Sci. 2003, 81:E27-E38.
- 107. Jones, W. J., Nagle, D. P., Whitman, W. P. 1987. Methanogens and the diversity of archaebacteria. Microbiol. Rev. 53:135-177.
- 108. Kamra, D.N. 2005. Rumen microbial system. Curr. Sci., 89 (1), 124-135.
- 109. Kelly, J.M., Kerrigan, B., Milligan, L.P., McBride, B.W. 1994. Development of a mobile, open-circuit indirect calorimetry system. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 1994, 74, 65-71.
- Kitzes, J., M. Wackernagel, M., Loh, J., Peller, A., Goldfinger, S., Cheng, D.,
 Tea, K. 2008a. Shrink and share: Humanity's present and future ecological footprint.
 Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Science. 363, 467-475.
- 111. Kitzes, J., Galli A., Rizk S.M., Reed A., Wackernagel, M. 2008b. Guidebook to the National Footprint Accounts: 2008 Edition. Oakland: Global Footprint Network.
- 112. Kristensen, T., Mogensen, L., Trydeman Knudsen, M., Hernansen, E. 2011. Effect of production system and farming strategy on greenhouse gas emissions from commercial dairy farms in a life cycle approach. Livestock Science.
- 113. Le-Liboux, S., Peyraud, J.L. 1999. Effect of forage particle size and feeding frequency on fermentation patterns and sites and extent of digestion in dairy cows fed mixed diets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 76: 297-319.
- 114. Lesschen, J.P, van den Berg, M., Westhoek, H.J., Witzkec, H.P., Oenema, O.
 2011. Greenhouse gas emission profiles of European livestock sectors. Animal Feed Science and Technology 166-167 (2011) 16-28.
- 115. Li, X., Feng, Y., Archambault, D., Bertram, H., Flesch, T. 2000. Evaluation of methods for determining NH₃ and N₂O emissions from soil applied manure. ISBN 0-

7785-3171-6. Report prepared by Alberta Research Council for Air Research Users Group, Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta.

- 116. Liang, J. B., Terada, F., Hamaguchi, I. 1989. Efficacy of using the face mask technique for the estimation of daily heat production of cattle. In: (Ed. Y. Van Der Honing and W. H. Close). Energy Metabolism of farm Animals. Pudoc, Wageningen, the Netherlands.
- 117. Lockyer, D.R., Jarvis, S.C. 1995. The measurement of methane losses from grazing animals. Environ. Pollut. 90:383-390.
- Lopez, S., Newbold, C.J. 2007. Analysis of methane. In: Vercoe, P.E., Makkar, H. P. S. 2007. Measuring methane production from ruminants. Published by Springer. pp. 1-13.
- 119. Lovett, D.K., Shalloo, L., Dillon, P., O'Mara, F.P. 2006. A systems approach to quantify greenhouse gas fluxes from pastoral dairy production as affected by management regime. Agricultural Systems 88 (2006) 156-179.
- 120. Lubin, D.A., Esty, D.C. 2010. The sustainability imperative. Harvard Business Review.
- 121. Lustigová L. and Kušková P. 2006. Ecological footprint in the organic farming system. Agricultural Economic Czech Republic 11, 503-509.
- 122. Mathison, G. W., Okine, E. K., McAllister, T. A., Dong, Y., Galbraith, J. and Dmytruk, O. I. N. 1998. Reducing methane emissions from ruminant animals. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 14: 1-28.
- 123. Madsen, J., Bjerg, B.S., Hvelplund, T., Weisbjerg, M.R., Lund, P. 2010. Methane and carbondioxide ration in excreted air for quantification of the methane prodction from ruminants. Livest. Sci. 2010, 129, 223-227.
- 124. Matson, P.A., Parton, W.J., Power, A.G., Swift, M.J. 1997. Agricultural intensification and ecosystem properties. Science. New series, Vol. 277, N. 5325 (Jul. 25, 1997), 504-509.
- 125. McAlpine, C.A., Etter, A., Fearnside, P.M., Seabrook, L., Laurance, W.F. 2009. Increasing world consumption of beef as a driver of regional and global change: A call for policy action based on evidence from Queensland (Australia), Colombia and Brazil. Global Environmental Change 19 (2009) 21-33.
- 126. McCartney, C.A., Bull, I.D., Yan, T., Dewhurst, R.J. 2012. Assessment of archaeol as a molecular proxy for methane production in cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 96 :1-7.
- 127. Menke, K. H., Raab, L., Salewski, A., Steingass, H., Fritz, D., Schneider, D. 1979. The estimation of the digestibility and metabolizable energy content of ruminant

feedingstuffs from the gas production when they are incubated with rumen liquor. J. Agric. Sci. 93:217-222.

- 128. MfE, 2006. New Zealand's greenhouse gas inventory 1990–2004. The National Inventory Report and Common Reporting Format Tables. Ministry for the Environment, Wellington, New Zealand.
- 129. Miettinem, P., Hämäläinen R.P. 1997. How to benefit from decision analysis in environmental life cycle assessment (LCA). European Journal of Operational Research, 102;279-294.
- 130. Ming-Jia, Y., Humphreys, J., Holden, N.M. 2011. An evaluation on life cycle assessment of European milk production. Journal of Environmental Management 92;372-379.
- 131. Miller, W.H., Koes, R.M. 1988. Construction and operation of an open-circuit indirect calorimetry system for small ruminants. J. Anim. Sci. 1988, 66, 1042-1047.
- 132. Moate, P.J., Williams, S.R.O., Grainger, C., Hannah, M.C., Ponnampalam, E.N., Eckard R.J. 2011. Influence of cold-pressed canola, brewers grains and hominy meal as dietary supplements suitable for reducing enteric methane emissions from lactating dairy cows. Animal Feed Science and Technology 166-167 (2011) 254-264.
- Moe, P. W., Tyrell, H.F. 1979. Methane production by dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 62:1583-1586.
- 134. Møller, H.B. 2003. Methane productivity and nutrient recovery from manure. Danish Institute of Agricultural Sciences Ph.D tesi BioCentrum-DTU Technical University of Denmark 2003.
- Møller, H.B., Sommer, S.G., Ahring, B.K. 2004. Biological degradation and greenhouse gas emissions during pre-storage of liquid animal manure. J. Environ.Qual. 33, 27-36.
- 136. Monteney, G., Bannink, A., Chadwick, D. 2006. Greenhouse gas abatement strategies for animal husbandry. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 112 (2006) 163-170.
- 137. Moss, A.R., Jouany, J., Newbold, J. 2000. Methane production by ruminants: its contribution to global warming. Ann. Zootech. 49:231-253. © INRA, EDP Science.
- 138. Murray, P.J., Chadwick, D.C., Newbold, C.J., Lockyer, D.R. 2007. Measurement of methane from grazing animals-the tunnel method. In: Vercoe, P.E., Makkar, H. P. S. 2007. Measuring methane production from ruminants. Published by Springer. pp. 105-109.

- 139. Naeeda. C. 2007. Review and application of the Ecological footprint: a case study of agricultural system in Scotland. A dissertation conducted for the degree of Master of Science.
- 140. NRC, 2001. Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle. National research Council Subcommittee on dairy cattle Nutrition, Committee on animal Nutrition (7th rev. ed.). Washington, D.C., USA: National Academy Press.
- 141.OECD, 2001. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development 2002. Policies to promote sustainable consumption: an overview.
- 142. Olesen, J.E., Schelde, K., Weiske, A., Weisbjerg, M.R., Asman, W.A.H., Djurhuus, J. 2006. Modelling greenhouse gas emissions from European conventional and organic dairy farms. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 112 (2006) 207-220.
- Pandey, D., Agrawal, M., Pandey, J.S. 2011. Carbon footprint: current methods of estimation. Environ. Monit. Assess. (2011) 178:135-160.
- 144.PAS, 2011. Specification for the assessment of the Life Cycle GHGs emissions of goods and services. Publicly Available Specification, PAS 2050:2011.
- Pimentel, A., Pimentel, M. 1996. Food Energy and Society. University Press of Colorado, Boulder, CO.
- 146.Pimentel, D. 2003. Ethanol Fuels: Energy Balance, Economics, and Environmental Impacts are Negative. Natural Resources Research, Vol. 12, No. 2, June 2003 ([©]2003).
- 147. Place, S.E., Mitloehner, F.M. 2010. *Invited review:* Contemporary environmental issues: A review of thedairy industry's role in climate change and air quality and the potential of mitigation through improved production efficiency. J. Dairy Sci. 93 :3407-3416.
- 148. Place, S.E., Pan, Y., Zhao, Y., Mitloehner, F.M. 2011. Construction and operation of a ventilated hood system for measuring greenhouse gas and volatile organic compound emissions from cattle. Animals 2011, 1, 433-446.
- 149.Rees, W. 1990. Sustainable Development and the Biosphere, Teilhard Studies Number23. American Teilhard Association for the Study of Man, or: The ecology of sustainable development. The Ecologist. 1, 18-23.
- 150. Rees, M., Wackernagel, M. 1996a. Our Ecological Footprint: Reducing Human Impact on the Earth. Gabriola Island, New Society Publishers, ISBN 086571312X.
- 151.Rees, M., Wackernagel, M. 1996b. Urban ecological footprints: why cities cannot be sustainable- and why they are a key to sustainability. Environmental Impact Assessment Review 16, 223-248.

- 152. Rodhe, L., Ascue, J., Nordberg, Å. 2009. Emissions of green house gases (methane and nitrous oxide) from cattle slurry storage in Northern Europe. IOP Conf. Series: Earth and Environmental Science 8 (2009) 012019.
- 153. Rosegrant, M., M.S. Paisner, and S. Meijer, 2001: Long-Term Prospects for Agriculture and the Resource Base. The World Bank Rural Development Family. Rural Development Strategy Background Paper #1. The World Bank, Washington.
- 154. Rosenberg, M. 2010. Advantages and Disadvantages of Global Warming. Positive and Negative Effects of Global Warming to People and the Planet. <u>http://geography.about.com/od/globalproblemsandissues/a/advantages.htm</u> (accessed August 2013).
- 155.Rotz C.A., Montes F., Chianese D.S. 2010. The carbon footprint of dairy production systems through partial life cycle assessment. J. Dairy Sci. 93;1266-1282.
- 156.SETAC, 2011. Global Guidance Principles for LCA databases, A basis for greener processes and products. United Nations Environment Programme.
- 157.Schusky, E.L. 1989. Culture and Agriculture: An Ecological Introduction to Traditional and Modern Farming Systems. Bergin & Garvey Publishers, New York, NY, USA.
- 158. Sjaunja, L.O., Baevre, L., Junkkarinen, L., Pedersen, J., Setala, J., 1991. A Nordic Proposal for an Energy Corrected Milk (ECM) Formula. 27th Session of the International Commission for Breeding and Productivity of Milk Animals, Paris, France.
- 159.Smil, V. 1996. Cycles of life: civilization and the biosphere. University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada.
- 160.Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, P., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., McCarl, B., Ogle, S., O'Mara, F., Rice, C., Scholes, B., Sirotenko, O. 2007. Agriculture. In Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- 161.Soliva, C.R., Hess, H.D. 2007. Measuring methane emission of ruminants by in vitro and in vivo techniques. In: Vercoe, P.E., Makkar, H. P. S. 2007. Measuring methane production from ruminants. Published by Springer. pp. 15-31.
- 162.Sterrer, W. 1993. Human economics: A non-human perspective. Ecological Economics 7;183-202. Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam.

- 163.Storm, I. M. L. D., Hellwing, A. L. F., Nielsen, N. I., Madsen, J. 2012. Methods for measuring and estimating methane emission from ruminants. Animals 2012, 2, 160-183.
- 164.Sutton, J. D., Hart, I. C., Broster, W. H., Elliott, R. J., Schuller, E. 1986. Feeding frequency for lactating dairy cows: Effects of rumen fermentation and blood metabolites and hormones. Br. J. Nutr. 56: 181-192.
- 165.Szumacher-Strabel, M., Cieślak, A. 2012. Dietary Possibilities to Mitigate Rumen Methane and Ammonia Production, Greenhouse Gases - Capturing, Utilization and Reduction, Dr Guoxiang Liu (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-51-0192-5.
- 166.Tamminga, S., Bannink, A., Dijkstra, J., Zom, Z. 2007. Feeding strategies to reduce methane loss in cattle. Animal Science Group, Wageningen, UR.
- 167.Tedeschi, L.O., Schofield, P., Pell, A.N. 2008a. Determining feed quality for ruminants using *in vitro* gas production technique. 1. Building an anaerobic fermentation chambre.
- 168.Tedeschi, L.O., Schofield, P., Pell, A.N. 2008b. Determining feed quality for ruminants using *in vitro* gas production technique. 2. Evaluating different models to assess gas production measurements.
- 169.Thoma, G., Joillet, O, Wang, Y. 2013a(b). A biophysical approach to allocation of life cycle environmental burdens for fluid milk supply chain analysis. International Dairy Journal 31;S41-S49.
- 170.Thoma, G., Popp J., Nutter D., Shonnard D., Nutter, D., Matlock M., Ulrich R., Kellogg, W., Kim D.S., Neiderman Z., Kemper N., Adom, F., East C. 2013(a)b. Regional analysis of Greenhouse gas emissions from US dairy farms: a cradle-to-farm-gate assessment of the American dairy industry circa 2008. International Dairy Journal 31;S29-S40.
- 171.Thoma, G., Popp J., Nutter D., Shonnard D., Ulrich R., Matlock M., Kim D.S., Neiderman Z., Kemper N., East C., Adom, F. 2013(a)b. Greenhouse gas emissions from milk production and consumption in the United States: a cradle-to-grave life cycle assessment circa 2008. International Dairy Journal 31;S3-S14.
- 172. Thomassen, M.A., Dalgaard, R., Heijungs, R., de Boer, I. 2008a. Attributional and consequential LCA of milk production. Int J Life Cycle Assess 13;339-349.
- 173.Thomassen, M.A., van Calker, K.J., Smits, M.C.J., Iepema, G.L., de Boer, I.J.M.2008b. Life cycle assessment of conventional and organic milk production in the Netherlands. Agricultural Systems 96;95-107.

- 174.Tilman, D., Fargione, J., Wolff, B., D'Antonio, C., Dobson, A., Howarth, R., Schindler, D., Schlesinger, W.H., Simberloff, D., Swackhamer, D. 2001. Forecasting agriculturally driven global environmental change.*Science*, 292, pp. 281-284.
- 175.Tilman, D., Cassman, K. G., Matson, P. A., Naylor, R., Polasky, S. 2002. Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices. Nature 418;671-677.
- 176.UNFCCC,2013.GlobalWarmingPotentials,http://unfccc.int/ghg_data/items/3825.php (accessed June 2013).
- USDA/NASS. 2006. Agricultural Chemical Usage 2005 Field Crops Summary. USDA-NASS, Washington, DC.
- USDA/NASS. 2007. Agricultural Chemical Usage 2006 Field Crops Summary. USDA-NASS, Washington, DC.
- 179.Vercoe, P.E., Makkar, H. P. S. 2007. Measuring methane production from ruminants. Published by Springer.
- 180. Vergé, X.P.C., Dyer, J.A., Desjardins, R.L., Worth, D. 2007. Greenhouse gas emissions from the Canadian dairy industry in 2001. Agricultural Systems 94 (2007) 683-693.
- 181.Wackernagel, M., Schulz, N.B., Deumling, D., Callejas Linares, A., Jenkins, M., Kapos, V., Monfreda, C., Loh, J., Myers, N., Norgaard, R., Randers, J. 2002. Tracking the ecological overshoot of the human economy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. USA. 99, 9266-9271.
- 182.Wackernagel, M., Monfreda, C., Moran, D., Wermer, P., Goldfinger, S., Deumling, D., Murray, M. 2005. National Footprint and Biocapacity Accounts 2005: The underlying calculation method.
- 183.Wackernagel, M., Kitzes, J., Moran, D., Goldfinger, S., Thomas, M. 2006. The Ecological Footprint of cities and regions: comparing resource availability with resource demand. Environment & Urbanization. International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED) 18;103-112.
- 184.Waggoner, P.E. 1994. How much land can ten billion people spare for nature? Technological Trajectories and the Human Environment. pp. 56–73. National Academy Press. Washington, DC.
- 185. WBCSD 2012. Greenhouse Gas Protocol of World Resource Institute. http://www.wri.org/project/ghg-protocol.
- 186.Wirsenius, S., Azar, C., Berndes, G. 2010. How much land is needed for global food production under scenarios of dietary changes and livestock productivity increases in 2030? Agricultural Systems 103 (2010) 621-638.

- 187.WWF, 2012. Living planet report 2012. Biodiversity, Biocapacity and better choices. WWF International, Gland, Switzerland.
- 188. Yamulki, S., Jarvis, S.C., Owen, P. 1997. Nitrous oxide emissions from excreta applied in a simulated grazing pattern. Soil Biol. Biochem. Vol. 30, No. 4, pp. 491-500, 1998.
- 189.Zimmerman, P.R. 1993. System for Measuring Metabolic Gas Emissions from Animals. US Patent 5,265,618, 30 December 1993.

Chapter 2

Carbon Footprint of Southern Italy dairy cattle farms

2.1 Introduction

The dairy chain represents a good example of complex production system set to produce milk as final output. Within a dairy farm a multiple flow of materials and products occurs, involving many different areas such as animal feed production, herd turnover, manure management, crop fertilization and energy consumption (FAO, 2013). Similarly, the quantification of the environmental impact attributable to one defined product is often complex because, in most cases, the final product comes from different production chains, and it is almost impossible to estimate its impact without considering all its life cycle (IDF, 2010). The measure of the environmental impact of a given product (or process) in terms of CO_2 equivalent (CO_2 eq) emissions in the unit of time is called Carbon footprint (EPA, glossary). Several studies (e.g. Cederberg et al., 2004; Casey and Holden, 2005; Thomassen et al., 2008; IDF, 2010; Penati et al., 2010; Pirlo and Carè, 2013; Rotz et al., 2010; Gerber et al. 2011; Guerci, 2012; Guerci et al., 2013a) were realized to measure the greenhouses gases (GHGs) emissions resulting from the production of a liter of milk in different countries, production areas and livestock systems within areas. If large inventories are needed to quantify the livestock contribution to anthropogenic emissions, the quantification at local level is furthermore necessary to quantify the contribution of the farms and their products to atmospheric pollution (Browne et al., 2011), to plan mitigation strategies to be applied by different livestock systems (Phetteplace et al., 2001), and to obtain large information to perform analysis of economic and environmental costs and benefits related with GHGs reduction plans and social benefits (Thoma et al., 2010b).

Milk production and GHG emissions of dairy farms are strongly affected by raised breeds, dairy herds feed and management, barn facilities and housing type, manure management, crop cultivation techniques, energy consumptions (Cederberg and Flysjö, 2004; Besset-Mens et al., 2009; Capper et al., 2009). In addition, local climate characteristics and meteorological variables, such as high temperature and humidity, have direct effects on CO_2 , CH_4 and N_2O emissions that derive from manure management and crops (Yamulki, 2006), indirect effects on emissions due to the strongly influence on animal performances (feed intake and/or milk production and

quality, and nitrogen excretion; Bouraoui et al., 2002) and on crop production (yield, fiber quality).

The dairy sector of Southern Italy (Basilicata, Calabria, Campania, Molise, Puglia, Sardegna, and Sicilia), includes 1/3 of the total number of Italian dairy farms; among these farms, 10% of the Italian bovine milk is produced (CLAL, 2013). The south of Italy also presents specific climatic conditions that are different than the rest of national territory (CMI, 2012); winds, floods, hot and dry summers, and extended drought periods can negatively affect crops productions and animal performances, influencing also the production levels and the environmental impacts. In this area farm management is really connected with local productions and local traditions, and sometimes farm's productivity is not affected by the competition that exists between national and global markets (Boccaletti and Moro, 2012). However a large part of the produced milk is collected by large cooperatives, processed within innovative plants, and sold in regional target markets or exported in the world trade. These cooperatives are currently pursuing some common production objectives, which include improvements of farm production efficiency, standardization of the product quality and quantification and amelioration of environmental performance, in order to allow to the local milk supply chain to get standards of production similar to other strategic production areas of the world. In this context, a partial evaluation of the environmental performances of these systems can be calculated quantifying the CF of the produced milk.

Equations and mathematical models allow to estimate GHGs emissions when a large amount of animals and farms are considered (Storm et al., 2012). The IPCC (2006a) suggests a standard method that can be used to perform the CF estimation at farm level, in order to estimate the emissions from the main farm emission sources and compare the results with estimations completed elsewhere in the world. The integration of the IPCC (2006a) method with equations adapted for local conditions might: i) help to highlight the differences between the observed GHGs emissions, which can be caused by different techniques and strategies adopted for animals and crops management, and for the energy use within the farm; ii) favour the elaboration of emission mitigation strategies.

The aim of this work was to estimate the CF in terms of CO_2eq emissions per liter of FPCM sold, in a sample of dairy farms selected from 4 milk cooperatives operating in the South of Italy. A more specific objective was to define the incidence of the main emission sources in respect to total emissions, the range of variability of the emissions

and to obtain indication and useful information for the future mitigation strategies planning at farm level.

2.2. Materials and methods

The study was conducted on a sample of farms associated with 4 cooperatives operating in Southern Italy (3A for Sardinia, Granarolo for Puglia and Basilicata, Asso.La.C. for Calabria, Progetto Natura for Sicilia). An initial screening of the 1067 associated farms was performed. The screening was performed with a simplified survey mailed to the farms. About the 85% of the farms returned the simplified survey. In order to obtain a representative sample of adopted livestock systems, the surveyed farms were classified according to the following variables: farm localization (3 groups: hill, flat area, mountain), number of raised cows (4 groups: 0-19, 20-70, 71-149, 150-700 animals); milk production level (4 groups: <3.5, 3.5-7.0, 7.1-9.5, >9.5 t/year of milk per cow); housing type for lactating cows (3 groups: bedded-pack, cubicles, pasture); presence or absence of energy production plants from renewable resources (2 groups). About the 30% of farm from each class was selected within each cooperative.

The selected sample included 285 farms among all cooperatives (A = 83 farms; B = 88 = farms; C = 44 farms; D = 70 farms). A detailed survey was realized in order to collect farm data and the information needed for the CF estimation. The questionnaire consisted of four sections. The first section required general information (location, owned land, raised animal categories, labor, etc). The second section required information about herd consistency, and feeding and manure management adopted for each animal group. The third section required information about farm's energy utilization, equipment and tools characteristics, machines and farm operations, milking plant, irrigation, and energy production plants. The fourth section required the information related to crops cultivation and crops yield, and to farm lands management and fertilizations. The survey was administered to the farmers by specifically trained experts of the same cooperatives on the year 2012. The time interval considered for the CF estimation was equal to 12 months (October 1st, 2010 – September 30th, 2011).

The information collected with the detailed questionnaire were implemented in a file Excel® in order to perform the calculations of GHGs emissions. The IPCC (2006a) estimation method was chosen to calculate the emissions from animals, manure management, and crop cultivation. Coefficients used to calculate GHGs emissions derived from farm energy consumptions and production were estimated using published standard coefficients adaptable to the national conditions.

Within the 3 Tiers suggested by IPCC (2006a), the Tier 2 was used to calculate methane emissions from manure management and nitrous oxide emissions from crop cultivation.

The use of equations and coefficients that are not included in the IPCC Guidelines is contemplated in the IPCC Tier 3 method, in order to provide a more detailed estimation. The Tier 3 (IPCC, 2006a) was used i) to estimate methane enteric emissions by including the detail of the monthly consistency of the animal categories, and the estimation of the diet energy digestibility by using the equation of Sauvant and Giger-Riverdin (2009) and the proportion of gross energy (GE) emitted as methane (Ym) from Gerber et al., (2011); ii) to estimate N volatilization losses from manure by using the equations of Atzori et al. (2008; 2009) developed for dairy cattle farms located in Mediterranean climate conditions; iii) to estimate the GHGs emissions derived from energy utilization by performing an energetic audit during the farm information record.

The CO_2 absorption by plants and CO_2 emissions from animal respiration, manure and soils were not accounted for in this research, considering those as accounted for in the short term biogenic carbon cycle (IDF, 2010).

Following the Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) procedure (ISO, 2006), the selected system boundaries included only the emissions "from-cradle-to-farm-gate", considering only emissions generated from the input production until the milk storage in farm facilities (i.e. transport of milk from farm to processing plant was excluded).

All the emissions produced within farm's boundaries were classified in two different ways, i) primary and secondary emissions as defined in Rotz et al. (2010) and ii) onfarm and off-farm emissions as defined by IDF (2010). Among primary emissions were included animal enteric fermentations, manure management, crop cultivation and fuel use, whereas among secondary emissions were included those which derive from production process of fertilizers, pesticides, seeds, fossil fuels, electricity, and every kind of materials or energy's sources used on-farm or for off-farm feed production. Among on-farm emissions all those emissions that happen within farm boundaries were considered, even if they derive from other production processes (e.g. use of fertilizers and pesticides for crop cultivation, fuel); the off-farm emissions regarded all those processes that happen outside of farm's boundaries, but they are related with one process or with one activity realized within farm's boundaries (e.g. emissions that derive from feed purchased in the market).

CF estimation from animals

All the animals recorded within each farm were divided into three categories: lactating cows, dry cows, and young animals; this last group was divided in three subgroups:

unweaned calves, open heifers and bred heifers. The number of replacement calves was also separately recorded.

The amount of monthly milk production of each farm was obtained from the cooperatives records and converted into fat and protein corrected milk (FPCM; milk composition equal to 4.0% of fat and 3.6% of crude protein) using the equation suggested by IDF (2010):

FPCM (kg) = milk (kg) * (0.1226 * fat % + 0.0776 * protein % + 0.2534) [1]

The production level of the herd was obtained dividing the total amount of milk sold per month by the average number of mature cows present within the herd in the same month.

<u>Enteric CH₄ emissions</u> were calculated on the basis of the herd energy requirements. Animal net energy (NE) requirements were estimated and converted in digestible energy (DE) using the equations summarized in Table 10.3 of IPCC (2006b).

The DE of the ration, used to convert DE into GE for each cattle category, was estimated using the equation of Sauvant and Giger-Riverdin (2009):

DE (% of GE) = 59.3 + 21.2 * concentrate of ration (%) [3]

The percentage of concentrates of ration was calculated from diet formula information reported in the survey. Corn silage was considered as forage only for the 65% of its DM content.

Diet energy digestibility (DE) was used to convert the DE in to GE.

The production of methane was calculated as

Methane (kg/d per head) = (GE intake * Ym) / 55.65 [2]

Where: Ym = % of gross energy intake converted into methane derived from the digestibility rate of feed, by applying the equation of Gerber et al. (2012): Ym (% of GE) = 9.75 – (0.05*DE %); 55.65 the energy content of methane MJ/kg CH₄).

Total enteric emissions (kg CH_4/yr) were obtained multiplying the emissions calculated monthly for an average animal category by the number of animals, and adding the results obtained for each category for the entire year of available data. <u>Manure CH_4 emissions</u> were calculated as percentage of volatile solid excreted. The IPCC equations were used to obtain the daily volatile solids excretion (VS) of each animal category:

VS (kg/day per head) = [GEI * (1-DE% / 100) + (UE * GEI)] * [(1-ASH)/18.45] [4] Where: GEI = gross energy intake (Mj/d per head); UE*GEI = urinary energy expressed as (0.04*GEI for most ruminants); ASH = the ash content of manure calculated as a fraction of the dry matter (DM) feed intake (0.08 for cattle); 18.45 = conversion factor for dietary GE per kg of DM (Mj kg⁻¹).

The percentage of manure converted into methane (MCF) were obtained by regressing the values of MCF reported in the Tables 10A-4 of the IPCC (2006b), on the respective air temperatures of the same table for each manure management system considered:

MCF 1, % (liquid/slurry) = $0.1351*T^2-1.5573*T+19.494$ [5]

MCF 2, % (solid manure) = $-0.0193*T^2 + 0.883*T - 4.8977$ [6]

MCF 3, % (pasture) = $-0.0034*T^2+0.1852*T-0.5114$ [7]

Where T is the monthly average atmospheric temperature (in °C) recorded within the district where the farm is located obtained from historical averages of CRA-CMA, (2013).

Estimation of VS and MCF were combined in the calculation of the emission factor of manure (EF_{man}) from excretion to end of storage before land application:

 $\mathbf{EF}_{man} = (VS^*365)^* [B_0^* 0.67^* (MCF/100)]$ [8]

Where: B_0 = maximum methane producing capacity, m³ CH₄ kg⁻¹, Tables 10A-4 and 10A-5 (IPCC, 2006b); 0.67 = conversion factor of m³ CH₄ to kilograms CH₄.

Total methane manure emissions (kg CH_4/yr) were obtained multiplying the EF_{man} calculated for each animal category by the number of animals within each category, and adding than the results obtained for each animal category.

<u>N₂O emissions from manure</u> were estimated as a percentage of direct and indirect emissions from N excreted by animals during the reference year.

N excreted (N_{exc}) per each animal category was calculated by a nutrient balance (Mainard and Loosli, 1969):

 N_{exc} (kg/d per head) = [DMI (kg of DM/d) * N diet (% DM)] – N in products [9] Where: DMI intake was calculated as GE/18.45 (IPCC, 2006b); N diet was calculated based on the ration reported in the survey for each animal category, on the average protein content of each common feed from the archive of Licitra et al., (2006) and on the protein content of commercial mixes using survey values; N of animal production estimated using the NRC (2001) equations = N in milk for dairy cows; N requirements for growth for young animals; N requirements for pregnancy for pregnant cows.

The N₂O direct emissions were estimated for each animal category using this equation: N₂O direct emissions (kg/d/head) = N_{stored} * EF_{dirN2O} * 44/28 [10] Where: EF_{dirN2O} = IPCC (2006b) emission factors as function of manure management system that corresponded to 0.005 for liquid slurry, 0.015 for bedded-pack barns, 0.02 for pasture; 44/28 = conversion factor for N₂O-N to N₂O; N_{stored} = was calculated as remaining N in the manure subtracting the volatilized N (N_{vol}) from the excreted N (N_{exc}).

The amount of N lost by volatilization (N_{vol}) was calculated applying coefficients of nitrogen volatilization losses developed for Mediterranean conditions (Atzori et al., 2008; 2009):

 N_{vol} in liquid manure management system = N_{exc} * (1.39 * T + 18.51) [11] N_{vol} in bed-pack = N_{exc} * 036 for young animals; N_{exc} * 0.40 for dairy cows [12] Where: T is the monthly average atmospheric temperature (in °C) recorded within the district where the farm is located obtained from historical averages of CRA-CMA, (2013).

Indirect N_2O emissions from manure derive from the N_{vol} , and they are calculated with the following IPCC (2006) equation:

 N_2O indirect emissions (kg/d/head) = $N_{vol} * EF_{indirN2O} * 44/28$ [13] Where: $EF_{indirN2O} = IPCC$ (2006b) emission factor for N_2O emissions from atmospheric deposition of nitrogen on soils and water surfaces; default value of 0.01 (IPCC, 2006c).

The GHGs emissions produced by animal enteric fermentations and manure management can be classified as primary emissions, because they are produced directly from the animals and from manure, without involving secondary products or processes. All these emissions have also to be included among the on-farm emission group, because they always start within farm's boundaries. No secondary emissions and no offfarm emissions were recorded from these sources.

CF estimation from farm energy consumptions

 CO_2 emissions arising from the use of electricity, oil and gas were calculated by the analysis of the energy farm's consumptions. Energy consumptions were estimated from an energetic audit that allowed performing the estimation with a TIER 3 accuracy level of IPCC (2006).

Electric utilities consumptions were calculated on the basis of the farm equipments, machines power, and on the basis of their time of use. The operations considered are: milking procedures, milk refrigeration, manure management, ventilation and nebulization, animal brushing, water pumping, farm lighting and water heating.

Diesel's consumptions were obtained by evaluating all farm operations realized using every kind of machinery powered by diesel, such as animal feed rations preparation and distribution, manure management and agricultural tasks, and the relative time required for each operation.

Diesel's machineries consumptions per hour were estimated by applying the equation of Grisso et al. (2004):

Q (liters/hour) = (0.22 X + 0.096) × Ppto. [14]

Where: Q = diesel consumptions; X = motor load (range, 0.4 - 0.75, different value for each operation); Ppto = machine power (kW).

Energy consumption form gas (GPL) and energy production from alternative sources (biogas and photovoltaic plants) were also considered and accounted for.

The CO₂ equivalent emissions related to each energy source were calculated by the application of the following specific coefficients:

- 0.44 kg of CO₂/kWh for electric consumptions (ISPRA, 2011);
- 3.54 kg of CO₂/kg of diesel for fuel consumptions, of which 3.15 for combustion (ISPRA, 2011) and 0,39 for fuel production (Rotz et al., 2010);
- 1.50 kg of CO₂/kg of GPL for gas consumptions (ISPRA, 2011);
- 0.38 for alternative source energy production (ISPRA, 2011).

Total energy consumptions estimated with this second step of analysis are inserted within the on-farm emission group, because only the activities realized within farm's boundaries were considered. However, within the secondary emissions were included the CO_2 emissions attributable to fuel production (14.2% total fuel emissions), the emissions for the electricity use, because they are only referred to the production processes; secondary emissions derived from the GPL production processes are not considered within this estimation. The CO_2 amount remained after the subtraction of the secondary emissions from the total emissions deriving form energy can be considered within the primary emissions group.

CF estimation from animal feeds

The emissions from feed were estimated in two different ways either for purchased or produced feeds. An aggregation of feed types was performed from the original data, and the following classes of feed types were considered: corn silage, grass silage, grasses hay, mixed hay, alfa-alfa hay, corn meal, barley meal, soybean meal, protein meal, industrial by-products, protein supplement, concentrates, corn mash, straw, pasture, mineral and vitamin supplements, urea and amino acids supplements, fats, unified, cereal by-products, milk powder for calves. The amount of purchased and produced feeds was calculated per every type of feed used in each farm. Data were gathered from the ration information of each animal category reported in the survey.

<u>Emissions from produced feeds</u> where calculated per kg of DM of every crop produced on farm, considering the agronomic practices adopted. Within each farm, the average emissions, expressed in terms of CO_2eq/kg of DM of each feed type, were then multiplied for the amount of the same feed used in the formulated ration for dairy cattle feeding.

GHGs emissions related to the feed production processes included direct and indirect soil N_2O emissions activated by the application of N by organic and mineral fertilizers, emissions from crop residuals, and CO_2 emissions produced after the application of urea. Crop emissions of produced feeds were estimated considering a steady biomass C stock, with no C accumulation or depletion. Based on all these considerations, this CF estimation was realized without determining changes in the organic C stock of the soil.

<u>Soil N₂O direct emissions</u> from the N applied in the soil with organic and mineral fertilizers, and from crop residuals were estimated by applying the IPCC (2006c) equation:

$$N_2O_{direct} (kg N_2O yr^{-1}) = (F_{SN} + F_{ON} + F_{CR}) * EF_{N2Odirect} * (44/28)$$
[15]

Where: N_2O_{direct} = direct emissions of N_2O from N soil application; $F_{SN} = N$ from synthetic fertilizers (kg N₂O yr⁻¹) determined from the fertilizers N content; $F_{ON} = N$ from organic fertilizers (kg N yr⁻¹) determined considering two N average percentages: 0.7% of N for solid manure and 0.3% of N for liquid manure (wet basis); $F_{CR} = N$ from crops residual (kg N yr⁻¹; equation 11.6, IPCC, 2006c); $EF_{N2O \text{ direct}} =$ emission factor for N₂O emissions from N application in the soil equal to 0.056, proposed by the Centro tematico nazionale atmosfera, clima ed emissioni in aria (2002); 44/28 = conversion factor for N₂O-N to N₂O.

<u>Soil N₂O indirect emissions</u> derive from the atmospheric deposition of volatilized N from soil (N₂O_(ADT)), and from leaching N (N₂O_(L)). The volatilized N can derive from mineral and organic fertilizers applied to the soil; the leaching N can derive from mineral and organic fertilizers, and residual crops applied to the soil. These two emissions were estimated by applying the following equations (IPCC, 2006c):

 $N_2O_{(ADT)}$ (kg N₂O yr⁻¹) = [(F_{SN} * Frac_{GASF}) + (F_{ON} * Frac_{GASM})] * EFv * (44/28) [16] Where: N₂O_(ADT) = N₂O from atmospheric deposition of volatilized N; Frac_{GASF} = fraction of F_{SN} that volatilized as NH₃ and NO_x, kg N volatilized (kg of N applied)⁻¹ with the IPCC (2006c) default value equal to 0.10; Frac_{GASM} = fraction of F_{ON} that volatilized as NH₃ and NO_x, kg N volatilized (kg of N applied)⁻¹ with the IPCC (2006c) default value equal to 0.20; EFv = emission factor for N₂O emissions from atmospheric deposition of N on soils and water surfaces with the IPCC (2006c) default value is equal to 0.01.

 $N_2O_{(L)} = (F_{SN} * F_{ON} * F_{CR}) * Frac_{LEACH} * EFl * (44/28)$ [17]

Where: $Frac_{LEACH} = N$ fraction applied to the soil that may be subjected to leaching with an IPCC (2006) range between 0 and 0.30; EF1 = emission factor for N₂O emissions from N soil leaching with the IPCC (2006c) default value equal to 0.0075.

CO₂ emissions from the soil application of urea for fertilizations were estimated as:

 $CO_2 \text{ emission} (t C yr^{-1}) = M * EFu * (44/12)$ [18]

Where: CO_2 emission = annual C emissions urea application to the soil; M = annual amount of urea applied to the soil (t urea yr⁻¹); EFu = emission factor for C emissions that derive from urea application to the soil, t C (t urea)⁻¹ with the IPCC (2006c) default value equal to 0.20; 44/12 = conversion factor for CO₂-C to CO₂.

Secondary emissions from crop cultivation were represented by the CO₂ emissions that derive from the production of fertilizers, pesticides, seeds and plastics. These emissions were calculated applying the coefficients used by Rotz et al. (2010): 3.307 kg of CO₂eq/kg of N fertilizer; 1.026 kg of CO₂eq/kg of phosphatic fertilizer; 0.867 kg of CO₂eq/kg of potassic fertilizer; 22 kg of CO₂eq/kg of active ingredient within the pesticides; 0.3 kg of CO₂eq/kg of seeds; 2 kg of CO₂eq/kg of plastic.

Emissions produced from crop cultivation were considered within the on-farm emissions group, because they were estimated considering only the cultivations realized within farm's boundaries. At the same time, all those emissions were divided between primary and secondary emissions; N₂O direct emissions from N applied in the soil, indirect N₂O emissions from atmospheric deposition of volatilized N and from leaching N, and CO₂ emissions from urea soil application were considered as primary emissions, because they were produced directly from one specific process realized within the farm. CO₂ emissions derived from fertilizers, pesticides, seeds and plastics production were considered as secondary emissions because they derived from previously developed processes, realized in different places, outside of the farm.

<u>Emission from purchased feed</u> were calculated using emission coefficients based on values measured by Mogensen et al. (2012) for different imported feed commonly used in Europe (mainly concentrates) and using the average emissions measured for produced feeds in the studied farms for feeds purchased in the local market (mainly forages and silages). Only emissions for feed production, processing and transport were accounted for and were included within the off-farm emissions (Table 2.1).

GHGs emissions measured from the various emission sources were transformed into kg CO_2eq by applying the global warming potentials conversion factors of the IPCC (2007): 1 kg of $CO_2 = 1$ kg of CO_2eq ; 1 kg of $CH_4 = 25$ kg of CO_2eq ; 1 kg of $N_2O = 298$ kg of CO_2eq .

Milk is not the only product that is produced within the 285 analyzed dairy farms; calves not used for replacement and culled cows are generally sold for their meat outside of the farm. For this reason, the emission of each farm were separated among milk and meat, using product energy allocation criterion; in particular, the partitioning of the emissions was performed on the basis of the amount of energy of milk and meat

produced within each farm. The equation developed by the IDF (2010) for the biological allocation between milk and meat was adopted for this experiment:

Fm = 1 - 5.7717 * R [19] Where: Fm = fraction of total farm CF attributed to milk production; R = kg of milk/kg of meat produced; 1-5.7717 = allocation factor for milk.

Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed with MINITAB 16 with techniques of descriptive statistics, mean and standard error of the mean calculated on the 285 farms (SEM) were reported in tables. Analyses of CF means were performed among cooperatives and classes milk production level of the herd (kg of milk/yr per cow), housing type, level of on-farm feed production, and forage in ration of lactating cows. Significant level of P < 0.05 was tested preferring the Tuckey method of comparisons. Analyzed data included all observed values, and any outlier was excluded from the original dataset.

6.3. Results

Farm characteristics

The average size of the 285 dairy farms analyzed was equal to 44.41 ± 2.87 ha (Table 2.2). The smallest average farm size was recorded for the Cooperative A (41.1 ha), whereas the largest one was recorded for the Cooperative C (48.6 ha). The average herd size for the 285 farms analyzed was equal to 120.8 ± 7.72 cows. The number of mature animals raised in the sample of the Cooperative A was equal to 13855 cows, followed by the Cooperative B with 9700 cows, the Cooperative D with 5944 cows, and the Cooperative C with 4966 cows. A similar herd profile among the 4 Cooperatives was observed, on average. Considering all the 285 farms, the average percentage of young animals was equal to 39 ± 0.5 of the total cattle present in the farm (Table 2.2). Lactating and dry cows were equal to $81\pm0.5\%$ and $19\pm0.5\%$ of mature cows, respectively; the highest percentage of lactating cows was showed by the Cooperative B (83%), and the lowest value was showed by the Cooperative C (74%).

The average number of calvings/cow per year was equal to 0.82 ± 0.01 on the overall farms; the highest value was recorded for the farms of the Cooperative A (0.88), and the lowest value was recorded for the farms of the Cooperative C and D (0.74). The average milk production level for the 285 farms was equal to 6.1 ± 0.12 tons of FPCM/year per cow; a large difference was observed between the milk production levels of the 4 Cooperatives, considering that the Cooperative A showed a milk production level equal to 7.3 tons of FPCM/year per cow, whereas the lowest value, recorded for the Cooperative C, was equal to 4.6. The average amount of milk produced per hectare for all the 285 farms was equal to 16.8 ± 1.5 tons of FPCM/year per ha; the Cooperative A showed the highest value (26.3 tons of FPCM/year per ha), and the Cooperative C showed the lowest one (12.1 tons of FPCM/year per ha) (Table 2.2).

The percentage of purchased feeds calculated for the 4 Cooperatives was $45.5\pm0.9\%$. A high average value for the percentage of purchased concentrates ($90\pm0.9\%$) was recorded in the sample; the Cooperative B showed the highest value among all the farms (98.6%), and the Cooperative A showed the lowest result (78.9%) (Table 2.2). Regarding the percentage of forages in respect to total amount of DM consumed (pasture included) the Cooperatives C and D showed the highest percentages (64.1% and 59.1% of forages in the ration DM, respectively), and the average percentage recorded for the 285 farms was equal to $57.6\pm0.6\%$ (Table 2.2). The average percentage of corn silage in the lactating cow diet was equal to $11.4\pm1\%$ of DM for the 4

Cooperatives; a large difference between the Cooperative A (30.2% of corn silage of ration DM) and the Cooperative B (1.4% of corn silage of ration DM) was observed. The feed utilization efficiency (kg of FPCM produced with 1 kg of ration DM) of the 4 Cooperatives was equal to 1.16 ± 0.01 kg of FPCM per kg on average ration DM. The highest value was recorded for the farms of the Cooperative A (1.25), and the lowest for the farms of the Cooperative C (1.02; Table 2.2).

Emissions for feed production

In Table 2.3 the average of emission coefficients estimated for the feed produced of onfarm are presented. They were calculated according to the IPCC (2006c) method for each farm crop and expressed in terms of kg of CO_2eq per kg of DM produced by each farm. These values also represent the emission coefficients for feed purchased in the local market.

Carbon footprint emissions

The total amount of GHGs produced by the all 285 dairy farms was equal to 200.95 tons x 1000 of CO_2eq , for a total amount of milk produced of 141.466 tons x 1000 of FPCM (Table 2.4). The emission attributed to milk, considering the average biological allocation calculated for the 4 Cooperatives was equal to 94.6±0.05%; no significant differences were founded between the 4 allocation percentages calculated for each Cooperative.

The arithmetic mean of the CF measured in the 285 farms was equal to 1.66 ± 0.04 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM; the highest value was recorded for Cooperative C (2.19 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM), followed by the Cooperative D (1.85 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM), by the Cooperative B (1.45 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM), and by the Cooperative A (1.41 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM).

The CF expressed in terms of weighted mean, obtained by dividing the total amount GHGs emissions produced by each farm for the effective quantity of milk that each farm delivered to the cooperatives, was equal to 1.35 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM. Thus, the values of CF calculated for the single cooperatives were equal to 1.29, 1.32, 1.45 and 1.56 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM, for cooperatives A, B, C and D, respectively. These last results can be considered more accurate, because they can better describe the responsibility that each farm, and each Cooperative had on the general CF results; however, statistical analysis cannot be realized on weighted mean results, and only the
arithmetic mean CF will be used to describe the results of this research and to compare these results to the literature.

The difference between the CF of the Cooperative D, the CF of the Cooperative C, and the CF of the Cooperative B were statistically different ($P \le 0.05$); there were not significant differences between the CF of the Cooperative A and the CF of the Cooperative B (Table 2.4).

The frequency distribution of the 285 farms for CF classes (Figure 2.1) showed that almost 34% of the farms had 1.25 < CF < 1.5 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM; 23% of the farms have 1.0 < CF < 1.25 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM; 17% of the farms have 1.50 < CF < 1.75 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM, and the remaining farms had CF > 1.75.

Regarding the contribution of the main emission sources considered, 43% of the CF derived from enteric emissions, 20% from manure emissions, 8% from primary energy emissions, 3% from secondary energy emissions, 18% from the off-farm feed emissions, 6% from the on-farm feed primary emissions, and 2% from the on-farm feed secondary emissions (Figure 2.2). The details of contribution to CF in terms of kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM are reported in Table 2.4. Significant differences were observed among cooperatives for the contribution of the single emission source. In fact, enteric emissions resulted higher in Coop A and B than in Coop C and D (P<0.05); manure emissions of Coop C resulted much higher than in Coop D (P<0.05); energy emissions in Coop A and B (P < 0.05). Slight differences were also observed for emission related with feed produced on farm and that purchased (Table 2.4).

The CF range recorded for the 285 farms of Southern Italy was between 0.94 and 5.07 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM, whereas the milk production level ranged between 1,170 and 11,100 kg of FPCM/year per cow. A large influence of the milk production level of the herd was observed in each cooperative by plotting the values of CF versus the milk production level of each farm (Figure 2.3). A nonlinear relationship was observed between these two variables that was described using a power function CF= 304,49 * $MY^{\land -0.613}$ where MY is the milk production level of a given farm expressed as kg of FPCM/year per mature cow. The observed pattern was similar for each cooperative, and the power function reached the highest r² when fitted on farm data of Coop A (0.80; P < 0.001) and the lowest on farm data of Coop C (0.58; P < 0.001) (Figure 2.3). Similar pattern were observed for the single components of animal emissions (enteric and

manure), feed consumption emissions (produced on farm and purchased) and net emissions due to energy utilization (consumption and production) (Figure 2.4).

When the main farm characteristics of 4 classes of milk production level expressed as kg of FPCM/year per cow (low = < 4200; mid-low = 4200-6200; mid-high = 6200-8200; high = >8200) were compared, significant differences were observed (P<0.05; Table 2.5) for all variables, except for farm size and digestibility of dairy cow diets. Similarly, CF was negatively associated with milk production level and significantly different among classes (P < 0.05), except for mid-high and high groups (Table 2.5). The single CF components, such as enteric fermentation and purchased feeds contribution showed large differences among classes (P< 0.05), whereas emissions from manure, energy and on farm produced feed were significantly higher in the low level of production than for other groups.

The CF from purchased feeds showed a significant difference between the 4 milk production levels (P<0.05), with a decreasing trend between the low and the high milk production levels. Feed efficiency showed a significant difference between the 4 milk production level, following a positive trend between the low and the high milk production level (Table 2.5).

On the other hand, even if the total farm CF decreased with the increase of the production level, the percentage contribution of the emission source did not show large variations for enteric methane, showing increasing trend for manure and purchased feed emissions and decreasing trend of on-farm produced feed (Figure 2.5).

Differences in farm characteristics and CF among groups of farms classified for housing types are showed in Table 2.6. Four groups were considered, three main groups such as cubicle, bed-pack and farms that included pasture were selected. Then, the bedded pack housing solution group was divided into 2 other subgroups, on the basis of the milk production levels recorded in those farms. No differences were observed for ha of land, ration digestibility of dairy cows or number of raised cows among groups. On the other hand, cubicle farms and bed-pack farms showed significantly higher (P<0.05) production level and higher feed efficiency use for milk production and lower forages percentage of ration DM than pasture and bed-pack farms with lower milk production level. The CF from enteric fermentations, energy use, and purchased feeds were higher (P<0.05) for cubicle and bed-pack with high milk production level than the other two groups. Each group was different from each other for manure emissions, that resulted bed-pack low milk > cubicles > bed-pack high milk > pasture (P<0.05) whereas no

significant differences were recorded for the CF percentage of on-farm produced feeds among the 4 groups.

Differences in farm characteristics and CF among groups of farms classified for the degree of self sufficiency for consumed feed (expressed as % of on farm produced feed on the total consumed) are showed in Table 2.7. Three groups of farms were selected based on low self-sufficiency (<42% of on-farm feeds), medium self-sufficiency (42-54% of on-farm feeds), and high (>66% of on-farm feeds). Farm dimension and corn silage, as % DM in lactating cows diets, did not show significant differences among the 3 groups (P<0.05). The forage percentage (DM basis) and the DE% of the lactating cows diet, were positively associated with self sufficiency, being 63%, 55% and 50% in high, medium and low groups respectively (P<0.05; Table 2.7). The total CF and its single components of low level of self-sufficiency were only numerically different than medium level, but they were significantly different than high level and positively associate with the degree of self sufficiency (P<0.05; Table 2.7).

Differences in farm characteristics and CF among groups of farms classified for forage consumption are showed in Table 2.8. The farms were divided into 3 groups on the basis of the forage percentages of the ration DM, which were equal to < 55%, 55-65% and >65% of total DM, low medium and high respectively. The 3 groups differed for milk production level of the herd (P<0.05) that was negatively associated with both the level of forage percentage and feed efficiency. Ration DM forage percentages were negatively associated with both corn silage use and DE% of lactating cows diets (P < 0.05). Total CF, and emissions from enteric fermentations and energy, were positively associated with forage percentage (P<0.05). Otherwise, emissions from manure and from on-farm produced feeds of low and medium levels of forage percentages did not differ significantly among them but were lower than the high level of forage percentage (P<0.05) (Table 2.8).

2.4. Discussion

General considerations

The average CF estimated in the 285 farms, equal to 1.66 kg of CO₂ eq/kg of FPCM, was similar to the CF results obtained by several authors (e.g. Casey and Holden, 2005; Thomassen et al., 2008; Capper et al., 2009; Flysjö et al., 2011; Guerci, 2012; Guerci et al., 2013). In particular, if the CF value obtained in this experiment is compared with the CF results estimated within farms that showed a similar milk production level, the analogy between the CF results is even more evident. The average milk production level recorded within the 285 farms was included between 4.6 and 7.3 tons of FPCM/year per cow, and the CF results were included between 1.41 and 2.19 kg of CO₂ eq/kg of FPCM. Casey and Holden (2005), Thomassen et al. (2008), Capper et al. (2009), Penati et al. (2010), Rotz et al. (2010), Flysjö et al. (2011), Hegemann et al. (2011), Guerci et al. (2013), measured the CF of the dairy farms in different countries and in different dairy systems, obtaining a CF value included between 0.55 and 1.49 kg of CO₂ eq/kg of FPCM; these analyzed systems presented a milk production level included between 5.0 and 10.22 tons of FPCM/year per cow. The results obtained by the authors listed above were estimated using different functional units (e.g. ECM); in order to realize a valid comparison, all these CF results and their respective milk production levels were transformed using the FPCM formula of the IDF (2010).

The highest CF value among the estimations described before was obtained by Hegemann et al. (2011), which calculated a CF value equal to 2.06 kg of CO₂ eq/kg of FPCM with a milk production level of 5.8 tons of FPCM/year per cow. This estimation was realized on animals that presented a milk production level similar to that measured for the 285 farms of the present experiment. However, the CF value calculated by Hegemann et al. (2011) represents the average result of a large estimation realized on 38 countries, which showed different CF values. The results were included between 0.8 and 3.1 kg of CO₂ eq/kg of FPCM, for a range of milk production included between 8.2 and 0.8 tons of FPCM/year per cow. The highest CF recorded in this estimation was anyway small, compared to the low level of milk production. This difference can be explained by examining all the equations and coefficients used within this estimation. Methane enteric emissions of cows were calculated using different equations, taking into account the feed ration characteristics, milk production, and animal body weight; no differences between the different annual months were considered. Manure methane emissions were calculated by multiplying a default emission factor for the number of

cows and for the number of heifers considered (21 and 10.5 kg of CH₄/year per animal, respectively); no differences were considered for the housing solutions and for the atmospheric temperatures. Only direct N₂O emissions from manure were calculated, by applying the fixed coefficient of 0.0125 kg of N₂O/kg of N excreted calculated by Cederberg and Flysjö (2004). Direct N₂O emissions from fertilizers use and indirect N₂O emissions from fertilizers production were calculated by applying the fixed coefficients calculated by Cederberg and Flysjö (2004). Direct N₂O emissions from fertilizers use and indirect N₂O emissions from fertilizers production were calculated by applying the fixed coefficients calculated by Cederberg and Flysjö (2004) and Simon (1998), equal to 0.013 and 0.012 kg of N₂O/kg of N fertilizer, respectively. The difference between the CF measured by Hagemann et al. (2011), and the CF measured in the present study can be justified considering that Hagemann et al. (2011) considered a small number of variables, by applying only default coefficients, without taking into account all the differences related to the climatic conditions, feed production, animal feeding, animal and manure management.

The average CF recorded for the 285 farms is similar than the one estimated by Flysjö et al. (2011), which was equal to 1.40 kg of CO_2 eq/kg of FPCM, despite the lower milk production level recorded in the Italian farms (6.1 vs. 10.22 tons of FPCM). This difference depends by the emissions caused by the land use change factor considered by Flysjö et al. (2011), which provokes an increase in the final CF result included between 0.2 and 1.3 kg of CO_2 eq/kg of FPCM. Emissions from land use change were not considered in the present study.

The CF estimation realized by Rotz et al. (2010) showed a result equal to 0.55 kg of CO_2 eq/kg of FPCM for a milk production level of 8.5 tons of FPCM; this result was different from the one obtained in the present study, considering also that the average milk production level recorded in the 285 farms of Southern Italy was lower. However, the CF estimation of Rotz et al. (2010) can be compared with the one obtained in the present study by subtracting the CF that derive from the animal respiration, and adding the CF that derive from the crop respiration. In fact, the CF calculation of Rotz et al. (2010) was realized taking into account the same variables used for the present study, using similar equations and coefficients (except for those calculated on the basis of local measurements), but subtracting the CO₂ absorbed by plants, and considering the CO₂ from animal respiration. The total amount of CO₂eq produced by the 285 Italian farms was equal to 5836 kg. Rotz et al. (2010) calculated a total GHGs amount per cow equal to 5826 kg of CO₂eq. However, if the kg of CO₂eq absorbed by crops (8199 kg of

 CO_2eq/cow) are summed to this result, and the kg of CO_2eq emitted by the animals with their respiration (6213 kg of CO_2eq/cow) are subtracted from the final result, the total amount of GHGs emissions produced per cow will be equal to 7812 kg of CO_2 eq. This value is now higher than the one obtained in the present study (5836 kg of CO_2eq/cow), and this calculation demonstrates that by applying a similar method of estimation, and considering the same emission sources, the total amount of GHGs emitted per cow for the present study is lower than the amount calculated by Rotz et al. (2010). However, the milk production level of the farms still represents the factor that affects the final CF value, because the GHGs emitted by the animals can be assigned to a larger amount of milk, which will ensure a lower CF.

The CF value obtained in the present study is close to the CF calculated by Guerci et al., (2013) in the LCA of milk production of 41 dairy farms of Northern Italy; the author obtained an average CF equal to 1.30 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM. The estimation realized by Guerci et al. (2013) involved 41 intensive dairy farms that presented a high milk production level, both considering the milk production level in terms of tons/cow or tons/ha; the 41 dairy farms showed a milk production level equal to 10.3 tons of FPCM/cow per year, and equal to 30.89 tons of FPCM/ha per year. Compared to the present study, the farms of Northern Italy presented, on average, a higher feed efficiency (1.3 vs. 1.16 kg FPCM/kg DM ration). The CF estimation realized by Guerci et al. (2013) followed the Tier 2 of the IPCC (2006b) for the calculations referred to the CH₄ emissions from manure and animals, and for the calculation of the N₂O emissions from manure. Compared with the present study, no differences for the DE % of the ration were considered; besides, the MCF for the CH₄ emissions from manure were selected from the IPCC (2006b) tables, without considering different atmospheric temperatures as it was done in the present study. The N excretion rate was calculated by applying the IPCC (2006b) default values assigned on the basis of the animal category (lactating cow, heifer, calf) and on the basis of the animal weight. The N volatilized from manure was calculated by applying the IPCC (2006b) equation, whereas for the dairy farms of Southern Italy an equation developed by Atzori (2008) on the basis of the Mediterranean area climatic conditions was used. The direct and indirect N2O emissions from soil fertilizers use were realized using the Tier 1 of the IPCC (2006b); however, Guerci et al., (2013) did not consider the application of crop residues, estimating only the N₂O emissions that derived from the use of organic and mineral fertilizers. For the present study, emission factor used for the estimation of the direct N₂O emissions from

fertilizers application was selected from national data, compared with Guerci et al. (2013) that used the coefficient proposed by the IPCC (2006b).

Comparing the total CF calculated in the present study with the one obtained by Guerci et al., (2013) an important difference can be observed; within all the emission sources, emissions from animals and manure management represented the 50.1 % in Northern Italy, whereas in the farms of Southern Italy the same emission fraction within the farm represented the 63 % (43% for enteric emissions and 20% for manure management). On the other hand, the emissions that derived from the off-farm feed production represented the 21.2% in the study of Guerci et al., (2013), and the 18% in the present study; this difference can be explained considering the different approach used for the estimation. Guerci et al. (2013) used the Simapro PhD 7.3.3 software to calculate the emissions that derived from the off-farm feed production sthat happened within feed plants for the production of each kind of feed. In the present study the calculation for the CF that derives from the off-farm feed production was realized multiplying the fixed emission coefficients (Table 2.1) of each kind of feed for the amount of purchased feed.

Milk production level, Carbon footprint, and farm characteristics

As explained before, the milk production level affects the CF result. Basically, a high milk production level allow to assign the total amount of GHGs produced within a farm to a large amount of milk; in this way, it could appear that the milk production level does not have an effective participation within the processes that are responsible for the GHGs emissions.

The comparison between the CF results obtained by Cederberg and Flysjö (2004), Capper et al. (2009), Rotz et al. (2010), and Flysjö et al. (2011) can explain the relation between the CF and the milk production level. These authors obtained a CF included between 0.55 and 1.27 kg of CO_2 eq/kg of FPCM; the milk production levels recorded within the farms that presented these CF values were however included between 8.0 and 10.2 tons of FPCM. This fact means that even within the same milk production level, there could exist a high variability for the CF values.

In the present study, the milk production level affected the total CF and even the different components of it. The CF from enteric fermentations showed a significant difference between the first 3 milk production levels; as the milk production level

increased, the CF from enteric fermentations decreased. Bell et al. (2010) demonstrated that animal that achieve their maximum production level produce less enteric CH_4 , considering that a larger fraction of the feed energy is converted into milk production, and the amount of energy that can be excreted as N and CH_4 is reduced. As explained by Yan et al. (2010) and Wall et al. (2010), the feed efficiency can affect the CF of a farm because animals that are able to convert the energy content of the farm can be reduced. This last concept can be confirmed observing the feed efficiency of the 285 farms analyzed in the present study; as the milk level increased, even the amount of milk produced with 1 kg of DM ration increased, and this trend was followed even by the different CF emissions. Finally, as reported by Zehetmeier et al. (2012), the achievement of a high milk production level per cow allow to maintain a constant milk production within the farm by raising a lower amount of animals, reducing the total amount of GHGs emissions produced.

Housing type and carbon footprint

As showed in the Table 2.6, different housing solutions can affect the CF of a dairy farm. Basically, methane production occurs in animal manure if anaerobic conditions are preserved (Monteny et al., 2006); animals raised within the cubicles system produce liquid slurry manure and considering that no bedding material are used, the N₂O emissions are reduced because anaerobic condition are guaranteed (Chadwick et al., 2011). Methane emissions present a lower GWP compared to N₂O, and this is why farms that present the cubicles system presented a low CF compared to the other housing solutions. In the present study the housing solution that presented the highest CF level was the bedded pack; however, the farms that adopted this housing solution and that presented a high milk production level did not have a high CF. This different result can be explained in two different ways; first of all, a higher milk production level allows the allocation of the GHGs emissions to a larger amount of milk, causing a lower CF value. On the other hand, considering that the prevailing GHG emitted from bedded pack housing solution is represented by the nitrous oxide, because of the aerobic conditions that occur within this type of manure, and considering that animals that present high milk production levels generally have low amounts of N excretions because of their high feed efficiency, the CF will show different results. The CF calculated for the farms that adopted the cubicles and the CF calculated for the farms that adopted the bedded pack (with the higher milk production level) showed the lowest values, and the DE% of the DM ration and the feed conversion efficiency of these farms was higher compared to the other two groups, confirming that feed characteristics and the animal nutrition performances can affect the CF.

Animals raised on pasture can represent an important source of GHGs emissions, mainly because of urine deposited on the soil that can produce N_2O emissions and nitrate leaching (Monteney et al., 2006); farms that presented this system showed an high CF, but observing the different component of the total CF it can be seen that the emissions from manure recorded for this group were lower than the others, and they were lower even within the CF of this group, representing less than the 10% of the total amount. On the other hand, the enteric emissions produced by this group of animals represented more than the 45% of the total CF; this fact can be explained considering the low feed conversion efficiency of these animals and the high forage percentage of their DM ration that stimulate a high amount of methane enteric emissions.

A similar result was obtained by Guerci et al. 2012 in a comparison among the dairy farms of Germany, Denmark and Italy; among all the analyzed farms, those that presented the animals fed on pasture showed a low contribution for the total CF from manure emissions, but enteric emissions reached 83% of the total CF.

Ration characteristics and Carbon footprint

The results presented in the Table 2.8 demonstrate that the percentage of forages within the ration and the DE of the ration can strongly affect the CF of a dairy farm. By dividing the 285 farms on the basis of the percentage of forages within the rations, total CF, enteric CF, manure CF and energy CF showed a significant difference among the 3 groups; as the forage percentage increased, the DE of the DM ration and the feed conversion efficiency decreased, and the CF increased. The results of the present study confirm the result of Aguerre et al. (2011), who demonstrated that the increase of the forage percentage within the ration can partially affect the emissions from manure, but strongly influence the enteric methane emissions. In fact, the Table 2.8 shows that as the percentage of forage in the ration increased, enteric CF increased, with a significant difference among the 3 groups of farms; instead, the CF from manure had small differences as the forage percentage increased, and a significant difference was recorded only between the first 2 groups of farms and the 3^{rd} group, which had the highest forage percentage.

Despite the differences that exist among these farms, Figure 2.2 shows that the CF decreased when the milk production level increased, following the trend that many other authors have already recorded for several dairy systems.

Those differences were in part associated with the milk production level of the herd, which was higher in Coop A than in Coop B than in Coop D than in Coop C (Table 2.3). The milk production level, causing the dilution of the emissions in the amount of produced milk, directly influences the CF value.

When the emission were expressed in terms of percentages, the differences were less evident among cooperatives and among classes of production levels, as showed by the Figure 2.5, which presented the contribution of the main 5 emission sources to total CF for the 4 production levels already examined in the Table 2.5.

This fact suggests two considerations: the milk production level can affect the CF result even considering its components separately; the distribution of the CF among animals, feeds and energy basically follows the same percentage partition, even when the milk production level changes. This last consideration is confirmed by the Figure 2.5; where the average CF obtained by 4 groups of farms (grouped on the basis of their milk production level) is represented indicating also the participation in terms of percentage of each emission source within the total CF. Different CF results were obtained for all the Cooperatives for each emission source; however, only the CF from manure, energy, and off-farm feed production showed a significant difference among all the Cooperatives ($P \le 0.05$).

Observing the Figure 2.2, it is possible to understand why the 285 farms selected for this experiment were considered together to realize the CF estimation, despite the differences that exist between them, and that were underlined before.

Within the Figure 2.2 it is possible to find several farms that present the same production level with different CF results; on the other hand, it is also possible to find farms with the same CF result, showing different milk production levels. This is one of the reasons that clarify the selection of this farms sample. The CF estimation of the Southern Italy is not only realized to know the amount of GHGs emitted by the dairy sector of this part of Italy. Mitigation strategies have to be studied and organized in order to reduce the CF of the dairy farms, and analyzing the differences that exist within the different farms, and within the different Cooperatives, better mitigation solutions will be studied, considering that a large amount of information and characteristics will be included within them.

2.5. Conclusions

The average CF estimated in the 285 dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy was equal to 1.66 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM. The milk production level of the farms, expressed in term of kg of FPCM/year per cow, represented the most important factor that affected the CF result. Farms that presented high milk production levels obtained low CF results; however, within the same milk production level, different CF results were obtained. This fact suggested that further factors have to be considered in order to develop mitigation strategies to reduce the CF.

Besides the milk production level, the GHGs emissions that derived from the off-farm feed production processes demonstrated to have an important influence on the total farm CF, especially considering the high percentages of purchased feeds that were recorded for these farms. Furthermore, the largest percentage of the purchased feeds was represented by concentrates, which are mainly produced from industrial feed plants. The estimation of the GHGs emissions that derive from the production of the concentrate feeds was realized using default coefficients from the literature, without investigating all the sources of emission that compose these emissions. Additional studies have to be realized to accurately estimate the CF that derive from the off-farm feed production, in order to obtain a wide CF estimation, and in order to develop useful mitigation strategies.

2.6. References

- Atzori, A. S. 2008. Nitrogen volatilization losses, manure management and lameness in Mediterranean dairy cattle farms. PhD Thesis. Università degli Studi di Sassari. Sassari. Italy.
- Atzori, A.S., Boe, R., Carta, P., Fenu, A., Spanu, G., Francesconi, A.H.D., Cannas, A. 2009. Estimation of nitrose volatilization in the bedded-pack of dairy cow barns. Italian Journal of Animal Science. 8, 253-255.
- Aguerre, M.J., Wattiaux, M.A., Powell, J.M., Broderick, G.A., Arndt, C. 2010. Effect of forage-to-concentrate ratio in dairy cow diets on emission of methane, carbon dioxide, and ammonia, lactation performance, and manure excretion. Journal of Dairy Science. 94, 3081-3093.
- Bell, M.J., Wall, E., Russel, G., Simm, G., Stott, A.W. The effect of improving cow productivity, fertility, and longevity on the global warming potential of dairy systems. Journal of Dairy Science. 94, 3662-3678.
- Besset-Mens, C., Ledgard, S., Boyes, M. 2009. Eco-efficiency of intensification scenarios for milk production in New Zealand. Ecological Economics. 68,1615-1625.
- Boccaletti S. and Moro D. 2012. L'evoluzione della zootecnia bovina tra gli ultimi due censimenti dell'agricoltura. I cambiamenti della politica agricola comunitaria. AgriRegioniEuropa. 31, Dicembre 2012.
- Bouraoui R., Lahmar M., Majdoub A., Djemali M., Belyea R. 2002. The relationship of temperature-humidity index with milk production of dairy cows in a Mediterranean climate. Animal Research. 51, 479-491.
- Browne, N.A., Eckard, R.J., Behrendt, R., Kingwell, R.S. 2011. A comparative analysis of on-farm greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural enterprises in south eastern Australia. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 166-167, 641-652.
- Cadwick, D., Sommer, S., Thorman, R., Fangueiro, D., Cardenas, L., Amon, B., Misselbrook, T. 2011. Manure management: Implications for greenhouse gas emissions. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 166-167, 514-531.
- 10. Capper, J.L., Cady, R.A., Bauman, D.E. 2009. The environmental impact of dairy production: 1944 compared with 2007. Journal of Animal Science. 87, 2160-2167.
- 11. Casey, J. W., and Holden N. M. 2005. Analysis of greenhouse gas emissions from the Irish milk production system. Agricultural Systems. 86, 97-114.

- Cederberg, C. and Flysjö, A. 2004. Life cycle inventory of 23 dairy-farms in South-Western Sweden. SIK-rapport, Nr 728 2004.
- Centro Tematico Nazionale Atmosfera Clima ed Emissioni in Aria (Obiettivo OB06.12b- Manuale dei fattori di emissione) Rapporto n. 01. Manuale dei fattori di emissione nazionali, 2002.
- 14. CLAL, 2013. http://www.clal.it/index.php (visited October 2013).
- 15. CMI, 2012. http://www.centrometeoitaliano.it/. (visited May 2013).
- CRA-CMA, 2013. CMA, Unità di Ricerca per la Climatologia e la Metereologia applicate all'Agricoltura. 2013. <u>http://cma.entecra.it/homePage.htm</u>. (visited May 2013).
- 17. EPA, 2013. United States Environmental Protection Agency. Glossary of climate change terms. <u>http://www.epa.gov/climatechange/glossary.html</u> (visited October 2013).
- FAO, 2013. FAO Statistical Yearbook 2013, World Food and Agriculture. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy.
- 19. Gerber, P., Vellinga, T., Opio, C., Steinfeld, H. 2011. Productivity gains and green house gas emissions intensity in dairy systems. Livestock Science. 139, 100-108.
- Guerci, M. 2012. Life cycle assessment of bovine milk production in Northern Italy.
 PhD Thesis. Università degli Studi di Milano. Milano. Italy.
- Guerci, M., Bava, L., Zucali, M., Sandrucci, A., Penati, C., Tamburini, A. 2013. Effect of farming strategies on environmental impact of intensive dairy farms in Italy. Journal of Dairy Research. 80, 300-308.
- 22. IDF, 2010. A common carbon footprint approach for dairy. The IDF guide to standard life cycle assessment methodology of dairy sector. Bullettin of the International Dairy Federation 445/2010. © 2010, International Dairy Federation.
- 23. IPCC, 2006a. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories.
- IPCC, 2006b. Chapter 10. Emissions from Livestock and Manure Management. In 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Volume 4: Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use. 10.1–10.87.
- 25. IPCC, 2006c. Chapter 11: N₂O Emissions from Managed Soils, and CO2 Emissions from Lime and Urea Application. In 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Volume 4: Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use. 11.1–11.54.

- ISO, 2006. Environmental management-life cycle assessment-principle and framework, ISO 14040. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland. ©ISO 2006.
- ISPRA, 2011. Produzione termoelettrica ed emissioni di CO₂. Fonti rinnovabili e impianti soggetti a ETS. Rapporto 135/2011.
- 28. Mainard, L.A. and Loosli, J.K. 1969. animal Nutrition. Mc Graw-Hill, New York.
- 29. Minitab 16 Statistical Software (2010). State College, PA: Minitab, Inc. (<u>www.minitab.com</u>).
- 30. Mogensen, L., Kristensen, L., Nguyen, T.L.T., Knudsen, M.T. 2012. Greenhouse gas emissions from production of imported and local cattle feed. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on LCA in the Agri-Food Sector, Saint-Malo, France, 1-4 Oct 2012, 321-326.
- Monteney, G., Bannink, A., Chadwick, D. 2006. Greenhouse gas abatement strategies for animal husbandry. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. 112, 163-170.
- NRC, 2001. Nutrient Requirements of Dairy Cattle. 7th revised edition. DC: National Academy of Science, Washington.
- Phetteplace, H., Johnson, D., Seidl, A. 2001. Greenhouse gas emissions from simulated beef and dairy livestock systems in the United States. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems. 60, 99-102.
- 34. Penati, C, Sandrucci, A., Tamburini, A., de Boer, I.J.M. 2010. Effect of farming system changes on life cycle assessment indicators for dairy farms in the Italian Alps. LCA Food 2010. Bari, 22-24 September 2010. Italy.
- Pirlo, G. and Carè, S. 2013. A simplified tool for estimating carbon footprint of dairy cattle milk. Italian Journal of Animal Science. 12, 497-506.
- Rotz, C.A., Montes, F., Chianese, D.S. 2010. The carbon footprint of dairy production systems through partial life cycle assessment. Journal of Dairy Science. 93, 1266-1282.
- Storm, I. M. L. D., Hellwing, A. L. F., Nielsen, N. I., Madsen, J. 2012. Methods for measuring and estimating methane emission from ruminants. Animals. 2, 160-183.
- Sauvant, D. and Giger-Reverdin, S. 2009. Modelling of digestive interactions and methane production in ruminants. INRA Prod. Anim., 22. p. 375-384.

- 39. Simon, K-H. 1998. Reviewing the parameters used in the study. In: The impact of agriculture and Food on Climate Change. Center for Environmental Systems Research at University of Kassel, Kassel, Germany.
- 40. Thoma, G., Popp J., Nutter D., Shonnard D., Ulrich R., Matlock M., Kim D.S., Neiderman Z., Kemper N., East C., Adom, F. 2013. Greenhouse gas emissions from milk production and consumption in the United States: a cradle-to-grave life cycle assessment circa 2008. International Dairy Journal. 31, S3-S14.
- 41. Thomassen, M. A., van Calker K. J., Smits M. C. J., Iepema G. L., de Boer I. J. M. 2008. Life cycle assessment of conventional and organic milk production in the Netherlands. Agricultural Systems 96, 95-107.
- 42. Wall, E., Simm, G., Moran, D. 2010. Developing breeding schemes to assist mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions. Animal. 4, 366-376.
- 43. Yamulki, S. 2006. Effect of straw addition on nitrous oxide and methane emissions from stored farmyard manures. Agricultural Ecosystem Environment. 112, 140-145.
- 44. Yan, T., Mayne, C.S., Gordon, F.J., Porter, M.G., Agnew, R.E., Patterson, D.C., Ferris, C.P. 2010. Mitigation of enteric methane emissions through improving efficiency of energy utilization and productivity in lactating dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 93, 2630-2638.
- 45. Zehetmeier, M., Baudracco, J., Hoffmann, H., Heiβenhober, A. 2012. Does increasing milk yield per cow reduce greenhouse gas emissions? A system approach. Animal. 6, 154-166.

2.7. Tables

Table 2.1. Emission coefficients (kg of CO ₂ eq/kg of DM) used to calculate emissions of	f
purchased feeds.	

	Coefficients (kg of CO2eq/kg of DM)						
Feed type	Coop. A	Coop. B	Coop. C	Coop. D			
Corn silage	0.17*	0.09*	0.14*	0.15*			
Grass silage	0.25*	0.12*	0.19*	0.12*			
Grass hay	0.31*	0.16*	0.21*	0.22*			
Mixed hay (grass-legume)	0.23*	0.18*	0.19*	0.18*			
Alfa-alfa hay	0.06*	0.07*	0.11*	0.04*			
Corn meal	0.29	0.28	0.29	0.28			
Barley meal	0.36	0.18	0.25	0.24			
Soybean meal	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67			
Other meal high in protein	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25			
Industrial by-products	0.40	0.40	0.40	0.40			
High protein commercial mix	0.70	0.70	0.70	0.70			
Commercial mix	0.60	0.60	0.60	0.60			
High moisture grain	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28			
Straw	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04			
Pasture	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.06			
Mineral and vitamin supplements	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25			
Urea and amino acids supplements	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.25			
Fats	0.80	0.80	0.80	0.80			
Cereals by-products	0.40	0.40	0.40	0.40			
Milk powder	2.00	2.00	2.00	2.00			

*emission coefficient calculated as average values of on farm produced feed in the same cooperative.

Item	A	B	C	D	Total	Mean	SEM
Farms, n.°	83	88	44	70	285	285	-
Land, ha	41.15	44.83	48.67	46.73	12657.92	44.41	2.87
Total cattle, n.°	13855	9700	4966	5944	34434	120.8	7.72
Mature cows, n.°	7899	5770	3042	3610	20298	71.22	4.57
% lactating	81.75 ^{ab}	83.90 ^a	74.55 ^c	79.39 ^b	-	80.72	0.48
% dry	18.25 ^{bc}	16.10 ^c	25.45 ^a	20.61 ^b	-	19.28	0.48
Young cattle, % of mature	41.51 ^a	39.77 ^{ab}	33.55 ^c	38.10 ^b	-	38.91	0.49
cows							
Calves n/yr per cow	0.88^{a}	0.85^{a}	0.74 ^b	0.74 ^b	-	0.82	0.01
Milk yield, t FPCM/yr per ha	26.36 ^a	12.22 ^b	12.13 ^b	14.51 ^b	-	16.89	1.54
Milk yield, t FPCM/yr per	7.39 ^a	6.47 ^b	4.64 ^c	5.38 ^c	-	6.19	0.12
cow							
Purchased feeds, % DM	48.30	48.45	49.32	48.29	-	48.50	0.94
Purchased conc., % DM	78.90^{b}	98.61 ^a	84.67 ^b	96.02 ^a	-	90.08	0.96
Forages, % DM ration	54.16 ^c	56.33 ^{bc}	64.16 ^a	58.95 ^b	-	57.55	0.62
Corn silage*, % DM ration	30.22 ^a	1.45 ^b	5.24 ^b	5.46 ^b	-	11.40	0.98
kg FPCM/kg DM ration	1.25 ^a	1.21 ^a	1.03 ^b	1.05 ^b	-	1.16	0.01

Tale 2.2. Descriptive characteristics of the farms included in the sample. Values were separated for farms associated in different cooperatives (A, B, C, D)

*only for lactating cows.

	Coefficients (kg of CO ₂ eq/kg of DM)								
Feed type	Α	В	С	D	Mean	Max	Min		
Corn silage	0.17±0.005	0.09±0.01	0.14±0.017	0.15±0.03	0.15±0.006	0.44	0.04		
Grass silage	0.25±0.03	0.12±0.01	0.19±0.02	0.12±0.01	0.16±0.01	0.43	0.04		
Grasses hay	0.31±0.014	0.16±0.01	0.21±0.01	0.22±0.02	0.25±0.009	0.65	0.06		
Mixed hay	0.23±0.02	0.18±0.05	0.19±0.02	0.19±0.009	0.18±0.005	0.56	0.09		
Alfa-Alfa hay	0.06±0.01	0.07±0.02	0.11±0.016	0.04**	0.08 ± 0.008	0.42	0.01		
Corn meal	0.29±0.06	0.28*	0.29±0.06	0.28*	0.29±0.06	0.40	0.19		
Barley meal	0.36±0.07	0.18±0.01	0.25±0.02	0.24±0.02	0.22±0.01	0.57	0.03		
High moisture grain	0.29±0.06	0.28*	0.29±0.06	0.28*	0.29±0.06	-	-		
Straw	0.04*	0.04*	0.04*	0.04*	0.04*	-	-		
Pasture	0.06*	0.06*	0.06*	0.06*	0.06*	-	-		
Unifeed residuals	0.25*	0.25*	0.25*	0.25*	0.25*	-	-		

Table 2.3. Emission coefficients (kg of CO_2eq/kg of product) for on-farm feed production. Values were separated for farms associated in the 4 cooperatives (A, B, C, D)

* coefficients calculated from average local data

** only 1 farm presented this cultivation

Item	А	В	С	D	Total	Mean	SEM
CO ₂ eq tot, tons x 1000	84.73	56.57	25.84	33.98	200.95	0.70	0.045
Milk collected, tons x 1000	62.95	41.29	16.99	20.27	141.466	0.49	0.036
Weighted Coop mean CF,							
kgCO ₂ eq/kg of collected FPCM	1.29	1.32	1.45	1.56	-	1.35	-
A rithmatia farm maan CE							
kg CO_2 eq/kg FPCM	1.41 ^c	1.45 ^c	2.19^a	1.85 ^b	-	1.66	0.04
CFP allocated to milk, %	95.55	96.04	95.07	93.60	-	95.65	0.17
CF components, kgCO2eq/ kg FPC	Μ						
Enteric,	0.64^{b}	0.62^{b}	0.83 ^a	0.77^{a}	-	0.71	0.014
Manure,	0.30^{bc}	0.32 ^{ab}	0.38 ^a	0.27°	-	0.33	0.007
Energy,	0.11 ^c	0.12°	0.52^{a}	0.32^{b}	-	0.18	0.023
Primary emissions	0.07°	0.07^{c}	0.22 ^a	0.36 ^b	-	0.12	0.016
Secondary emissions	0.03 ^c	0.03 ^c	0.09 ^a	0.15 ^b	-	0.06	0.008
On-farm produced feeds,	0.14^{ab}	0.11 ^b	0.17^{a}	0.13 ^b	-	0.14	0.005
Primary emissions	0.10^{b}	0.09^{b}	0.13 ^a	0.10^{ab}	-	0.11	0.003
Secondary emissions	0.03 ^{ab}	0.02°	0.04^{a}	0.02^{bc}	-	0.03	0.001
Purchased feeds,	0.21 ^c	0.28 ^b	0.27 ^b	0.35 ^a	-	0.30	0.005

Table 2.4. Carbon footprint emissions measured in the sampled farm (n = 285) associated with the 4 Cooperatives (A, B, C and D).

^{a,b,c} within a row, means with a different superscript differ significantly for $P \le 0.05$.

Items	Milk production level (kg FPCM/yr per cow)							
	Low	Med-low	Med-high	High	Mean	SEM		
	(<4200)	(4200-6200)	(6200-82 ⁰ 0)	(>8200)				
Farms, n	54	75	101	55	-	-		
Land, ha	40.11	41.93	49.51	44.78	44.82	2.859		
Mature cows, n.°	51.36 ^c	90.16 ^{bc}	134.32 ^b	206.02 ^a	54.94	7.721		
Dry cows, % of mature	0.26 ^a	0.19 ^b	0.16 ^c	0.15 ^c	0.19	0.004		
cows								
Young cattle, % of mature	0.33 ^c	0.38 ^b	0.40^{ab}	0.42^{a}	0.38	0.004		
cows								
Cow calvings/yr	0.72°	0.80^{bc}	0.83 ^b	0.91 ^a	0.81	0.010		
Stocking rate, cows/ha	2.03 ^b	3.88 ^b	3.90 ^b	7.37^{a}	4.21	0.377		
Forages, % consumed DM	0.67^{a}	0.59 ^b	0.54 ^c	0.51°	0.57	0.006		
On-farm feeds,% consumed	0.60^{a}	0.50^{b}	0.49 ^b	0.48^{b}	0.51	0.009		
DM	_							
Feed efficiency, kg FPCM/kg	0.79 ^d	1.07 ^c	1.27 ^b	1.39 ^a	1.15	0.014		
of DM								
Corn silage, % of offered	0.03°	0.04°	0.12^{b}	0.27^{a}	0.11	0.009		
DM*								
Energy digestibility (DE), %	68.48	68.67	69.09	69.10	68.86	0.108		
gross energy*								
<u>CF components, kgCO₂eq/kg l</u>	FPCM	1 coh	1.076	1.000	1.65	0.040		
CF total	2.59 [°]	1.68°	1.37	1.20°	1.65	0.040		
CF enteric	1.06 ^a	0.71°	0.59°	0.53°	0.70	0.014		
CF manure	0.42^{a}	0.31°	0.28°	0.28°	0.31	0.007		
CF energy	0.52^{a}	0.22°	0.14	0.08°	0.23	0.023		
CF produced feeds	0.22^{a}	0.12°	0.11	0.10 ^o	0.13	0.005		
CF purchased feeds	0.35^{a}	0.30°	0.25°	0.21 ^ª	0.28	0.005		

Table 2.5. Main farm characteristics and carbon footprint (CF) of 4 groups of farms classified on the basis of the milk production level.

^{a,b,c} within a row, means with a different superscript differ significantly (P ≤ 0.05). *only for lactating cows.

Item	Housing type						
	cubicle	bedded	bedded	pasture	Mean	SEM	
		pack	pack	_			
		(low	(high				
		milk)*	milk)**				
Farms	88	76	76	45	-	-	
Land, ha	48.6	38.6	46.9	43.9	44.82	2.859	
Milk yield, tons FPCM/yr/cow	7.46 ^a	4.32 ^b	7.41 ^a	4.72 ^b	6.19	0.122	
Mature cows, n.°	158.1 ^a	99.5 ^b	109.9 ^{ab}	101. ^{8ab}	120.82	7.721	
Forages, % of consumed DM	0.52^{a}	0.64^{b}	0.55 ^a	0.62^{b}	0.57	0.006	
On-farm feeds,% of consumed	0.49	0.55	0.48	0.56	0.51	0.009	
DM							
Feed efficiency, kg FPCM/kg	1.29 ^a	0.98^{b}	1.30 ^a	0.94 ^b	1.15	0.014	
of DM							
Energy digestibility (DE)*, %	69.2 ^a	68.4 ^b	69.0 ^{ab}	68.7^{ab}	68.86	0.108	
gross energy							
CF components (kgCO_ea/kgF)	PCM						
CF total	1.45^{b}	2.06^{a}	1 34 ^b	1.92^{a}	1.65	0.040	
CF enteric fermentation	0.61^{b}	0.83 ^a	0.57 ^b	0.87^{a}	0.70	0.040	
CF manure	0.01 0.36 ^b	0.00^{a}	0.27°	0.07 0.19 ^d	0.70	0.007	
CF energy	0.11 ^b	0.40°	0.20°	0.17^{a}	0.23	0.023	
CF produced feeds	0.13^{b}	0.30°	0.10 ^b	0.14^{ab}	0.13	0.025	
CF nurchased feeds	0.13°	0.30 ^b	025°	0.35^{a}	0.15	0.005	

Table 2.6. Main farm characteristics and carbon footprint (CF) of 4 group of farms classified on the basis of the housing type adopted for lactating cows.

^{a,b,c} within a row, means with a different superscript differ significantly ($P \le 0.05$).

* = < 6000 kg FPCM/cow/year; ** = > 6000 kg FPCM/cow/year.

Item	Feed pr	oduced on far	m, %		
	consum	ed DM			
	Low	Medium	High	Mean	SEM
	(<42%)	(42-54%)	(>66%)		
Farms, n	59	101	125	-	-
Land, ha	47.32	43.67	44.58	44.82	2.859
Milk yield, tons	6.71 ^a	6.55 ^a	5.65 ^b	6.19	0.122
FPCM/yr/cow					
Forages, % of consumed	0.50°	0.55^{b}	0.63 ^a	0.57	0.006
DM					
Feed efficiency, kg	1.26 ^a	1.21 ^a	1.06 ^b	1.15	0.014
FPCM/kg of DM					
Corn silage, % of offered	0.12	0.10	0.12	0.11	0.009
DM*					
Energy digestibility (DE),	69.40 ^a	68.98 ^{ab}	68.53 ^b	68.86	0.108
% gross energy*					
CF components, (kgCO2eq/	kg FPCM)				
CF total	1.44 ^b	1.53 ^b	1.86 ^a	1.65	0.040
CF rumen fermentations	0.62^{b}	0.66 ^b	0.77^{a}	0.70	0.014
CF manure	0.30^{b}	0.29 ^b	0.35 ^a	0.31	0.007
CF energy	0.14 ^b	0.17^{b}	0.32 ^a	0.23	0.023
CF produced feeds	0.09^{b}	0.11 ^b	0.17^{a}	0.13	0.005
CF purchased feeds	0.25^{a}	0.30^{a}	0.30^{b}	0.28	0.005

Table 2.7. Main farm characteristics and carbon footprint (CF) of 4 group of farms classified on the basis of the degree of self sufficiency for consumed feed.

^{a,b,c} within a row, means with a different superscript differ significantly ($P \le 0.05$). *only for lactating cows.

	Forages,% DM ration							
items	Low (<55%)	Medium (55-65%)	High (>65%)	Mean	SEM			
Farms, n	127	95	63	-	-			
Milk yield, ton of FPCM/yr	7.34 ^a	5.98 ^b	4.19 ^c	6.19	0.122			
On-farm feeds,% DM ration	0.45 ^c	0.50 ^b	0.66 ^a	0.51	0.009			
Feed efficiency, kg FPCM/kg of DM	1.30 ^a	1.14 ^b	0.90 ^c	1.15	0.014			
Corn silage, % of offered DM*	0.18 ^a	0.08 ^b	0.03 ^c	0.11	0.009			
Energy digestibility (DE), % gross energy*	69.5 ^a	68.8 ^b	67.6 ^c	68.86	0.108			
<u>CF components</u> , (kgCO ₂ eq/k	g FPCM)							
CF total	1.35 ^c	1.68 ^b	2.24 ^a	1.65	0.040			
CF rumen fermentations	058 ^c	0.70^{b}	0.94 ^a	0.70	0.014			
CF manure	0.29^{b}	0.32 ^b	0.37 ^a	0.31	0.007			
CF energy	0.11 ^c	0.23 ^b	0.46 ^a	0.23	0.023			
CF on-farm crops	0.11 ^b	0.12 ^b	0.21 ^a	0.13	0.005			
CF off-farm crops	0.26^{b}	0.30 ^a	0.27^{ab}	0.28	0.005			

Table 2.8. Comparison of the main farm characteristics among 3 forage % of the feed ration, and effect of the forage % of the feed ration on the Carbon footprint.

^{a,b,c} within a row, means with a different superscript differ significantly (P ≤ 0.05).





Figure 2.4. Distribution of frequency of studied farm for GHG emissions.



Figure 2.2. Emissions distribution by carbon footprint components (n=285).



Figure 5.3. Carbon footprint and cow production level (n = 285).



Figure 2.4. Correlation between milk production level and Carbon footprint of the 3 main emissions sources of the dairy farm.

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari



Figure 2.5. Distribution of the CF within the 5 main emission sources for 4 milk production levels.

Comparison of different approaches to obtain values of methane enteric emissions to be used in carbon footprint calculations for dairy cattle farms.

3.1. Introduction

Production and elimination of methane from digestive tract is considered a physiological exigency for the ruminant (Moss et al., 2000). Methane production helps to maintain oxidative conditions of rumen anaerobic environment through reoxidation of electron carriers cofactors, such as NADH, FADH₂ and ferredoxin; on the other hand it represents a loss of energy for animals that removing CH_4 from their bodies by belching and flatulence can lose about the 6% of ingested energy (Johnson and Johnson, 1995). The interest into quantify, estimate and reduce methane losses is an essential factor in animal breeding, nutrition and management, because almost 2/3 of farm costs derive from feeds (Szumacher-Strabel and Cieślak, 2012). However, methane emissions can be considered at the same time an energy loss for animals and a strong environmental pollutant (Vercoe, 2007) with an effect of 25 times higher than CO2 on the greenhouse gas pollution (GHGs) and global warming (IPCC, 2006). In addition about 50% of emissions of global methane have to be attributed to livestock activities and are mostly represented by enteric emissions of raised cattle. For that reason a large number of studies have been carried out, already many years ago (Blaxter and Wainman, 1961; Steele et al., 1992) or more recently (Aguerre et al., 2011), to understand the biological processes, to directly and indirectly estimate and quantify enteric methane production of ruminants and to understand which strategies can be more effectively applied at farm level in order to improve both the animal efficiency and the environmental performances of the milk supply chain. CH₄ enteric emissions are mainly affected by feed ration characteristics, animal production levels, animal management and genetics characteristics (Monteney et al., 2006; Aguerre et al., 2011). Hydrogen rumen production is closely connected with feed characteristics because VFA derive from feed fermentations; acetate, butyrate and propionate are produced using different feed substrates and each one of them can originates or accept different amounts of H₂ (Moss et al., 2000); dietary fats can also reduce hydrogen concentration or either indirectly increase methane emission by reducing feed digestibility (Hristov et al., 2013). Many models have been published to propose equations that allow to predict and estimate enteric methane emission of dairy cattle using different approaches. Linear and non-linear equations were developed in order to perform quickly estimations of enteric methane that might be used for nutritional purposes (e.g. to estimate the amount of energy losses caused by methane eructation (Johnson and Johnson, 1995) or with environmental purposes (e.g. to estimate the global warming potential of world herd size; Gerber et al., 2011). Direct or indirect measurements are not always feasible,

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

especially when estimations are referred to big areas like regions, countries or even continents; in addition, the application of direct and indirect methods would be expensive and they would require too much time to be realized. Models and set of equations used to predict methane emission are associated, positively or negatively, to various predictors, mainly dietary factors and physiological characteristic than can be obtained for many animals or farms (Storm et al., 2012). The proposed equations basically differ for the variables that take into account and the predictions made (Bhatta et al., 2007). The most simplified method is the IPCC (2006) TIER 1 which proposes a default value for lactating cows and for other cattle per world macro areas taking into account the mainly adopted livestock systems. More detailed methods or equations were developed, in order to account only for animal energy requirements or DMI (TIER 2 IPCC, 2006; Corrè 2002; Mills et al., 2003; Gerber et al., 2011) and they where further used as reference in simplified sets of equations (Pirlo e Carè, 2013; Rotz et al., 2010). Other empirical equations, based both on animal requirements and dietary information, were developed aggregating large individual databases from previous studies (Ellis et al., 2008). More specific models were developed analyzing additional effects of dietary components such as organic matter digestibility, NDF or ADF intake and content, fat content, fatty acid profil of the diet, NSC or NFC content, feeding level etc (Moe and Tyrrel, 1979; Ramin and Hutanen, 2013; Wilkerson et al., 1995; Sauvant and GigerRiverdin, 2009) and then sometimes used in whole farm models (Ellis et al., 2010). Recently a large review of the literature and the models used and proposed for methane enteric estimation in dairy cattle was reported by Hristov et al., (2013). In their report the authors also cited equations based on animal information and dietary composition elaborated by Moraes et al., (2013; cited by Hristov et al., 2013) especially developed for quantification and planning of mitigation strategies of enteric methane emissions. The choice of the equations and coefficients to be used for the CF estimation represents a crucial point within al the estimation phases. Despite the large number of models available for the CF estimation, there is still some uncertainty about all the models that should be used for the environmental issue. Frequent doubts in CF estimations regarding the use prediction equation in whole farm models or in large inventories are: i) if different models returns different estimations in similar conditions and, ii) if the effort to gather detailed information from the area of study can be counterbalanced obtaining more accurate outputs. In fact, from a generic perspective, the use of more complex equations sets (i.e. based on dietary composition in respect to equations that only uses animal intake or animal body weight) can potentially give a better description of the variability of studied system or, at the opposite only represents a different way to obtain similar results. Starting from these considerations the aim of this work was to test few different approaches, recently suggested to estimate enteric methane emissions in dairy cattle farms or regional areas, using information reported in a regional database of Southern Italy farms and to discuss the differences in enteric methane and its effects on total farm emissions.

3.2. Material and methods

Enteric methane estimation approaches

Methane enteric estimates were performed using 8 approaches that were based on literature coefficients and equations. Selected approaches were:

- 1. TIER I reported in the Volume 4, Chapter 10 of IPCC (2006) guidelines;
- 2. TIER II reported in the Volume 4, Chapter 10 of IPCC (2006) guidelines;
- 3. TIER II modified: diet energy digestibility (Sauvant and Giger-Riverdin, 2009);
- 4. TIER II modified: energy digestibility (Sauvant and Giger-Riverdin, 2009) and fraction of gross energy intake emitted as enteric methane (Ym; Gerber et al., 2011);
- 5. CH₄ emission estimated with equations suggested by Hristov et al., 2013;
- 6. Linear equation 2d of statistical models developed for dairy, table 5 of Ellis et al., (2008);
- 7. Linear equation 7d of statistical models developed for dairy, table 5 of Ellis et al., (2008);
- 8. Non linear equation 2 of Mills et al., (2003) reported in table 3 of Ellis et al., (2008).

Complete equations and details are listed in Table 1. For each selected approach, when specific equations for different animal categories were proposed by the same reference, they were used together, alternatively the equation for lactating cows was applied to lactating and dry cows and heifers.

Dataset and emission calculations

Data used for the evaluation were obtained from a sample of farms associated with 4 cooperatives operating in Southern Italy (3A for Sardinia, Granarolo for Puglia and Basilicata, Asso.La.C. for Calabria, Progetto Natura for Sicilia). The selected sample included 285 farms among all cooperatives (A = 83 farms; B = 88 farms; C = 44 farms; D = 70 farms). A detailed survey to farmers was realized in order to collect farm data and the information needed for the CF estimation regarding i) general information (location, owned ha, raised animal categories, labor, etc), ii) herd consistency, and feeding and manure management adopted for each animal group iii) farm's energy utilization, equipment and tools characteristics, machines and farm operations, milking plant, irrigation, and energy production plants iv) crops cultivation and crops yield, and to farm lands management and fertilizations. The information collected with the detailed questionnaire were implemented in a file Excel® in order to perform the calculations of GHGs emissions.

All the animals within each farm were divided into three categories: lactating cows, dry cows, and young animals; this last group was divided in three subgroups: calves, open heifers and pregnant heifers. The number of replacement calves was also separately recorded. The amount of monthly milk production of each farm was obtained from the cooperatives records and converted into fat and protein corrected milk (FPCM; 4.0% of fat and 3.6% of crude protein) using the equation suggested by IDF (2010):

FPCM (kg) = milk (kg) × $(0.1226 \times \text{fat }\% + 0.0776 \times \text{protein }\% + 0.2534)$.

Net energy (NE) requirements of the herd were calculated using the Tier II set of equations of IPCC, (2006), and then DMI was calculated as GE/18.45. Efficiency of energy use DE to ME was calculated equal to 0.82 (NRC, 2000). Ration digestibility in the reference database was estimated with the equation of Sauvant and Giger-Riverdin, (2009) except than for calves from birth to weaning for which an average digestibility of 85% was considered. Considering that calves were included in the default values off IPCC (2006) Tier 1, emission from calves were calculated for all the approaches using emissions obtained with approach 2; it was preferred to avoid the exclusion of calves from the dataset.

The IPCC (2006) estimation method was chosen to calculate the emissions from manure management, and crop cultivation. CO_2 emissions arising from the use of electricity, oil and gas were calculated from energy farm's consumptions estimated from an energetic audit. The emission from purchased or produced feeds where obtained separately per each type of feed used in the farm. The consumption of each feed type was obtained by combining the estimated DMI with the proportion of feeds supplied to each animal category which was gathered from the ration information reported in the survey. The CO_2 eq emissions were calculated as the product of the quantity of every type of feed consumed by each animal category and a coefficient of emission (kg of CO_2 /kg of DM) of the same feed type. For produced feeds the emission coefficient was calculated from survey data on the agronomic practices adopted for each crop cultivation, using the IPCC (2006) method as reference basis. For purchased feeds in the local market (mainly hays and silages) were used the average values of emission calculated in the same database for local crops; for imported feeds coefficient measured by Mogensen et al. (2012) were used.

In this research CO_2 absorption by plants and CO_2 emissions from animal respiration, manure and soils were not accounted for, considering those as accounted for in the short term biogenic carbon cycle (IDF, 2010).

All the equations and coefficients not included in the IPCC (2006), but used to obtain emissions from manure management, feed production, purchased feeds and energy use or production were detailed in the Chapter 2 of this thesis.

Following the Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) procedure (ISO, 2006), the selected system boundaries included only the emissions "from-cradle-to-farm-gate", considering only emissions generated from the input production until the milk storage in farm facilities (i.e. transport of milk fro farm to processing plant was excluded). The criterion of biological allocation between milk and meat was used to calculate emissions attributed to milk (IDF, 2010).

For each one of the 285 farms CH_4 enteric emission of raised animals, emission related to manure management, produced and purchased feeds and energy consumption were calculated with the 8 selected approaches and the whole farm CO_2 eq emissions for farm was obtained. Carbon footprint was then expressed as kg of CO_2 eq emissions per kg of FPCM produced.

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was performed on the parameters considered by the selected equations. Independent variables of equation reported in Table 1 were changed at once in order to asses the differences estimation of enteric methane within a range of variation for each independent variable included between mean $\pm 2.5 \times$ standard deviation (SD) of values observed in surveyed farms. Average, maximum and minimum enteric emissions were calculated for a lactating cow of 626 kg of BW, producing 6206 kg of FPCM in a standard lactation of 305 days.

Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed with the statistical software MINITAB 16 (2010). Before the comparison of method, 3 farms were excluded as outlier from the original dataset because surveyed farm data were not biologically consistent. On the remaining 282 farms, differences among the 8 approaches, on methane and carbon footprint estimates, were evaluated using a general linear model analysis. The approach was included as fixed factor in the model (8 levels).

The farms were divided in three groups for productive level of the herd (MYL; kg of FPCM/year per cow) from 1000 to 3999, from 4000 to 6999, and \geq 7000 respectively. Then, a nested general linear model was used to evaluate the differences among the selected approaches (8 levels) within classes of herd milk production (3 levels). Tuckey method was preferred for comparisons. Final results were graphically shown in a boxplot of the calculated data per classes of production level in order to show the observed range of variation.

3.3. Results

Farms description

Studied farms raised a mean (\pm SEM) of 71 (\pm 4.2) mature cows ranging from 8 to 820. The most part of the raised cattle were Frisona Italiana including a small part of Bruna, Pezzata Rossa and other crossbreeds. Average herd profile was described in details in Table 3.1. Considering the raised breeds, the average body weight, in the overall dataset, resulted 625 (\pm 2.26) kg for mature cows, 438 (\pm 1.58) for pregnant heifers and 294 (\pm 0.8) kg for non-bred heifers (Table 3.2).

Average milk yield of the studied farms was 6206 (\pm 124) kg of FCPM/yr per present cow. Estimated dry matter intake of lactating cows, on the basis of energy requirements, resulted in 16.7 (\pm 0.16) kg/d, ranging from 9.9 to 24.0 kg/d; diet included, on average, 46% of concentrates, 43% of NDF and 4.4% of ether extract (EE). Lower intake and percentage of concentrates and fat, and higher values of NDF were observed for non-productive categories of cattle (Table 3.2). Energy digestibility of lactating cows was on average 69% of GE, higher than the value of 65% considered by the TIER II of (IPCC, 2006).

Results of the sensitivity analysis on the reference lactating cow showed that TIER I and TIER II have low flexibility in respect to the other methods (Table 3.3). The estimation of CH_4 emission with TIER II leaded to slightly higher value of CH_4 than TIER 1 (Table 3.3). It was probably due to the specific characteristics of the cows and diet the studied farms (i.e. BW, maintenance requirements); in addition, in TIER 1 emissions of the dry period are included in the default value, whereas only 305 days of lactation and respectiveenergy requirements for pregnancy and activity are considered for the other approaches.

Changes in CH₄ emission (kg/yr per cow) considering a variation of mean $\pm 2.5 \times$ SD of each independent variable used in the equation will be presented. The use of equation to estimate the DE of the diet, (approach 3, DE prediction on concentrate to forage ratio; Sauvant and Giger-Riverdin, 2009), estimated emissions 3 kg lower than TIER I and 7 kg lower than TIER II, introducing changes of the 10 % of the mean for emitted CH₄ (Table 3.3). The estimation of Ym using the approach 4 (Ym predicted using DE information; Gerber et al., 2011) resulted in a overall reduction of the average annual enteric emission, until 111 kg/yr per cow, and caused additional changes of CH₄ emission equal to 5% of the mean, in the considered range of DE.

The integration of diet composition and gross energy intake using the approach 5 (CH₄ emissions predicted using the equation of Hirstov et al., 2013) resulted in higher variability in respect to previous approaches and returned an overall value of emissions of about 98 kg/year of CH₄ per cow, lower than the previous approaches. In the considered range of variation of the correspondent independent variables, the changes of CH₄ estimates resulted equal to $\pm 27\%$, $\pm 6\%$ and $\pm 10\%$ of the mean in the cases of gross energy intake (GEI), NDF % of DM and EE, respectively. Using the approach 6, (equation 2d of Ellis et al., 2008) which accounted for the

only DMI of the cows, was predicted the lowest values of annual emissions per head was predicted (on average 92 kg of CH_4 ; Table 3.3) but introducing large variability within the two extremes of DMI considered (±33% of mean emission).

Using diet information with the approach 7 (CH₄ emissions predicted as a function of metabolizable energy intake (MEI, Mj/d) and NDF intake (kg/d), equation 7d of Ellis et al., 2008) the highest average values of emission was predicted, equal to 133 kg of CH₄ /year per cow, with changes of \pm 12% of mean caused by variation of MEI, and \pm 39% of mean caused by variation in NDF intake.

Using the only variation of MEI (approach 8, Mills et al., 2003) the average emission value was equal to 105 kg of CH_4 /year per cow with variation of 34% of the mean within the observed range of MEI.

Average annual values of methane emission per each animal category were calculated per each farm using all the 8 approaches and results were reported in Table 4.

For lactating cows mean (±SEM) value obtained including all methods was 131.6 (±0.9) kg of CH_4/yr per head ranging from 117 to 159 kg. The values of approaches 2 and 7 were the highest among others (148 and 159 kg, respectively; p < 0.05); intermediated values of emissions were given by the approaches 3, 4 and 8 (between 125.1 and 136,6 kg), and the lowest values of 117 kg was given by the approaches 1, 5 and 6. The differences observed between the values of sensitivity analysis and the results obtained in the sample of 282 farms are due to the fact that data of 282 farms were calculated considering 365 days of presence for the animal groups.

For dry cows mean (\pm SEM) value obtained including all methods was 77.1 (\pm 0.6) kg of CH₄/yr per head. The value from approaches 1, 7 and 5 resulted to be highest and significantly different than others (p < 0.05). The values obtained from approaches 2, 3, 4, 6 and 8 presented very little differences among them and ranging between 63.5 kg and 67.3 kg of approaches 2 and 4, respectively.

For pregnant heifers mean (±SEM) value obtained including all methods was 66.7 (± 0.6) kg of CH₄/yr per head. Among all, the value of approach 1 and 5 obtained, among all, the lowest values ((p < 0.05) whereas the approach 7 obtained the highest value ((p < 0.05). The values from approaches 2, 3, 4, 6 and 8 presented very little differences among them, ranging between 64.3 kg and 67.1 kg of approaches 2 and 4, respectively. For non-bred heifers mean (±SEM) value obtained including all methods was 57.8 (±0.9) kg of CH₄/yr per head. Among all, the value of approach 5 obtained, among all, the lowest value (p < 0.05), whereas the approach 7 obtained the highest value (p < 0.05), whereas the approach 7 obtained the highest value (p < 0.05). The values obtained from approaches 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 and 8 presented very little differences among them, ranging between 2 and 8 presented very little differences among them, ranging between 54.6 kg and 59.4 kg of approaches 2 and 6, respectively.

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari For calves the value of approach 1 was about 5 times higher than the sum of 365 days of emissions of an unweaned calf calculated with the approach 2. Values of 33 g of CH_4/d per head were observed using DE of 85% of GE, and Ym of 6.5% of GE.

The average value calculated per livestock unit, (total enteric emissions divided by number of mature cows) by all methods resulted equal to 199.2 (\pm 2) kg of CH₄/yr per head. The highest value was given by the approach 7 (243 kg of CH₄/yr per head; p < 0.05); whereas intermediated values were given by the approaches 1, 2, 3 and 4 (between 195.4 and 209.5 kg), and lowest values were given by the approaches 5, 6 and 8 (between 177.1 and 186.6 kg).

Emissions of an average raised head considering all methods resulted equal to 90.9 (\pm 0.8) kg of CH₄/yr with similar differences among approaches as presented for livestock unit.

In terms of CO₂eq per kg of FPCM the differences among approaches were less noticeable (Table 3.5) because the effect of all categories and the milk production level were combined. Estimated emissions ranged from 0.64 and 0.88 kg of CO₂eq per kg of FPCM. The approach 7 resulted in highest emissions (p < 0.05), the approaches 1 and 2 returned intermediate emissions in respect to others (p < 0.05), whereas approaches 5, 6 and 8 returned the lowest values of emissions (p < 0.05). Approaches 3 and 4 were not statistically different from approaches 1, 2, 5 and 6.

The differences were further reduced with the inclusion of the manure and feed production management and energy use. The final value of carbon footprint allocated to milk ranged from 1.45 to 1.67 kg of FPCM. Only the approach 7 was significantly higher than others (p < 0.05) and not significantly different than approach 2. The proportion of enteric methane on total emissions reflected the differences among approaches already observed for enteric emissions expressed per kg of FPCM (Table 3.5).

When estimates of different approaches were analyzed within classes of production level (MYL), the results indicated that methane emissions per cow increased with MYL and emissions of methane and CO₂eq per kg of FPCM decreased with MYL (Table 3.6). It was already observed in literature by many authors (Capper et al., 2009). However, when methane emissions were expressed as kg of CH_4 /year per livestock unit (mature cow and relative proportion of young cattle) they were negatively associated with classes of MYL for the approach 1 whereas positively associated with classes of MYL for all other approaches. Interestedly, within classes of MYL, the differences on estimates among approaches were still evident also when all farm emission sources were considered and when results were expressed as milk carbon footprint in CO₂eq per kg of FPCM (Table 3.6).

3.4. Discussions

Studied sample included a large number of combinations of herd profiles, farming systems, farm equipment and milk production level. Average milk yield of the studied farm (6206 ± 124 kg of FCPM/yr per cow) was very close to that one considered by the IPCC (2006) for west Europe dairy farms (6000kg of FCPM/yr per cow); it made reasonable the comparison with approach 1 (TIER 1, IPCC, 2006). Furthermore, a large number of information was available in the original database to calculate emission using different approaches including dietary composition variables. It allowed testing also the most recently developed equations for CH₄ enteric prediction, suggested by Hristov et al., (2013) in order to perform inventories at farm level pursuing objective of mitigation strategy planning.

Obtained values were in the range of emissions observed in other works respectively to equations used. Observed values of emissions are included in the range of values reported in different studies, carried out with different dietary treatments, cited by Ellis et al., (2010) that varied between 76 and 168 kg of methane/cow on annual basis. In particular the studies of Moe and Tyrrel (1977) where the DMI was at the same level of the studied farm and the proportion of corn in the diet was equal 45% of DM the emissions resulted equal to 113 kg of enteric methane on annual basis. The sensitivity analysis revealed that average emissions of a general lactating cow it could range from 91 to 133 kg of enteric methane per lactation just with the effect of the range of variation of a single variable within the developed dataset. On the other hand, the effects of considered predictors could have an effect lower than 10% (DE in approach 3 or NDF in approach 5) or higher than 30% (DMI in approach 6, NDF intake in approach 7 and MEI in approach 8; Table 3). Maximum and minimum values of emission calculated within the range of variation observed in experimental dataset (equal to mean ± 2.5 times SD of independent variables) ranged from 62 (approach 6) to 202 kg/year of methane per cow.

The approach 1 can be considered as an average reference for other approaches. The approach 2 gave significant higher results than the approach 3 and 4 because of the effect of its higher DE on GE intake. On the other hand a small and not significant effect of Ym was observed comparing the approaches 3 and 4. Looking at the values calculated for each animal category, the strictest approach (1) and the most flexible approach (5) gave similar average results for lactating cows; approach 6 was not different from them. Considering that i) approaches 2, 3 and 4 were mainly based on the effect of DE, and ii) DMI intake was based also on DE, approach 6 lead to lower significant values than approaches 2, 3 and 4. A probable estimation of DMI with other equations (i.e. NRC, 2001) and a further comparison is needed to explore that result.

In respect to the approach 1 all the approaches resulted more flexible to estimate the emission of the young categories of cattle (Table 3.4). Emissions for calves need to be discussed separately. In fact, the IPCC, 2006 judge calves as the same of other cattle in the TIER 1. Thus, their emission resulted too high in comparison to their biological characteristics. In fact, applying the
approach 2 or other equations the emission of calves were heavily reduced (Table 3.4). In addition, Berends et al., (2012), testing the use of different proportion of solid feeds on dairy calves (108 kg of BW; based diet 800 kj/d from milk), found that supplying an additional amount of solid feed from 0% to 40% of total GE intake, methane emissions ranged from 2 to 36 g/d of enteric methane per head, and 0.2% and 2.2% of GE, respectively.

Estimates of enteric emission for non-bred heifers, resulted similar to TIER 1 for the approaches 2, 3, 4, 6, and 8 and lower for approach 5. On the other hand all the approaches estimated higher emission than approach 1 for pregnant heifers, indicating that the approach 5 (the only one including a special equation for young cattle), returned the most flexible method, and close results, on average to the TIER 1. Emissions of dry cows were similar to those obtained for pregnant heifers, except than in approach 1 that uses a single default value for all mature cows, and except in approach 5 that suggested a separated equations (Table 3.1) for dry cows and pregnant heifers (Table 3.4). Results reflected that the dry cows, in respect to pregnant heifers, had higher maintenance requirements and lower growth requirements, but often those groups were fed with similar diets (Table 3.2) and only specific equations can help to highlight real differences.

Values expressed per kg of FPCM little differences were observed among approaches for enteric methane, on average, and there were even not evident when included in the total carbon footprint allocated to milk. Even if a detailed exploration of the effect among farms was not executed, it is possible to state that all approaches performed with good accuracy and they can lead to similar results when used to study large areas or a large number of farm. This result was also obtained by Guerci et al., (2013) which compared a simplified approach (TIER 1 of IPCC, 2006) vs a detailed approach (modified TIER 2 method of IPCC, 2006). In their work they concluded that, the good accuracy, might justify the use of a simplified method to estimate animal emissions in large inventories, sparing time and efforts in order to obtain quickly results. A similar approach for animal emissions and a detailed approach for other emission sources was used by Fantin et al., (2012) for a LCA estimations in Italian dairy farms. The same group of Guerci et al., (2013) suggested that detailed methods can be useful for the investigation of dairy production processes and especially for the identification of the most viable mitigation strategies for specific farms and areas (Guerci et al., 2013). It was the purpose of Hristov et al., (2013) which developed a specific set of equations adapted to predict enteric methane for mitigation strategies evaluations. Estimates performed in this comparison were the most flexible The equations of Hristov et al., (2013) gave the best performance in this approach comparison in terms of flexibility moreover when results were compared within classes of productive level. In fact, the approaches 2, 3, and 4 where limited by the fact that all the variability is generated by the estimation of DE (Table 3.1). Hristov et al., (2013) reviewed the limits of equations that did not account for dietary components (i.e. fiber, carbohydrates and ether extract) explaining their limits in to explain the variability of methane emissions. The approach 6, which accounted for DMI, and the approaches 7 and 8 which accounted for dietary components, respectively were considered less flexible than approach 5 when emissions of unproductive categories were compared (Table 3.4). Specifically, approach 6 returned very similar estimations, on average, to approach 5 but have to be considered that estimation of DMI in this database was based on GE, that accounted for the larger variability in the sensitivity analysis of equation 5 (Table 3.3). A further comparison with different estimations of DMI should be performed in order to better compare the average values of approaches 6 and 5 in specific.

Looking also at the difference within MYL is possible to notice that the importance of detailed methods and approaches based on dietary information might be more important when the MYL of the farm increases. It can be explained with the fact that in farms with low MYL, unproductive categories have ha heavy impact on nutritional efficiency and on emission per kg of milk because of the low milk yield. This impact is higher than in farms with high MYL, even if intensively managed farms have a bigger percentage of young animals per cow, as observed in the Chapter 2 of this thesis. Consequently, the proportion of young and dry animals in respect to lactating cows and the dilution of maintenance requirements on high milk productions are the main factor causing differences on emissions in farms with low MYL. At the same time this differences can be detected also by using a simplified approach or by a method that account for energy requirements. On the other hand, in intensive farms, and probably even more within farms in small ranges of high production level, the differences in animal emissions are mainly caused by diet formulation, fiber quality, concentrate type and percentage and type of fat.

3.5. Conclusions

In this work, 8 approaches to estimate methane enteric emission of a large sample of dairy cattle farms located in Southern Italy were compared. Mean values of enteric emissions calculated with different approaches and the impact of these estimations on the quantification of the farm carbon footprint was evaluated. From this analysis resulted that all considered approaches behave with similar accuracy often returning the same average values on the entire dataset. However, approaches based on animal consistency, performance and requirements might be enough detailed for quantification inventories in large areas or at farm level. At the opposite, approaches based on dietary composition and with detailed equations for animal categories should be preferred to highlight differences among farms and within farm intensively managed, in order to plan effective methane mitigation strategies.

3.6. References

- Aguerre, M.J., Wattiaux, M.A., Powell, J.M., Broderick, G.A., Arndt, C. 2011. Effect of forage-to concentrate ratio in dairy cow diets on emission of methane, carbon dioxide, and ammonia, lactation performance, and manure excretion. Journal of Dairy Science. 94, 3081-3093.
- Berends, H., van den Borne, J.J., Alferink, S.J., van Reenen, C.G., Bokkers, E.A., Gerrits, W.J. 2012. Low-protein solid feed improves the utilization of milk replacer for protein gain in veal calves. Journal of Dairy Science. 95, 6654-6664.
- 3. Bhatta, R., Enishi, O., Kurihara, M. 2007. Measurements of methane production from ruminants. Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Science. 20, 1305-1318.
- 4. Blaxter, K.L. and Wainman, F.W. 1961.The utilization of food by sheep and cattle. Journal of Agricultural Science. 57, 419-425.
- Capper, J.L., Cady, R.A., Bauman, D.E. 2009. The environmental impact of dairy production: 1944 compared with 2007. Journal of Animal Science. 87, 2160-2167.
- Corré, W.J., 2002: Agricultural land use and emissions of methane and nitrous oxide in Europe. Report 40. Plant Research International. Wageningen.
- Ellis, J.L., Dijkstra, J., Kebreab, E., Bannink, A., Odongo, N.E., McBride, B.W., France, J. 2008. Aspects of rumen microbiology central to mechanistic modeling of methane production in cattle. Journal of Agricultural Science. 146, 213-233.
- Ellis, J.L., Bannink, A., France, J., Kebreab, E., Dijkstra, J. 2010. Evaluation of enteric methane prediction equations for dairy cows used in whole farm models. Global Change Biology. 16, 3246-3256.
- Fantin, V., Buttol, P., Pergreffi, R., Masoni, P. 2012. Life cycle assessment of Italian high quality milk production. A comparison with EPD study. Journal of Cleaner Production. 28, 150-159.
- 10. Gerber, P., Vellinga, T., Opio, C., Steinfeld, H. 2011. Productivity gains and green house gas emissions intensity in dairy systems. Livestock Science. 139, 100-108.
- Guerci, M., Bava, L., Sandrucci, A., Zucali, M., Tamburini, A. 2013. How different emission estimation methods can affect final results? The case of milk production. In: VII Convegno della Rete Italiana LCA, Life Cycle Assessment e ottimizzazione ambientale: esempi applicativi e sviluppi metodologici. Milano, 27-28 June 2013. Italy.
- Hristov, A.N., Oh, J., Lee, C., Meinen, R., Montes, F., Ott, T., Firkins, J., Rotz, A., Dell, C., Adesogan, A., Yang, W., Tricarico, J., Kebreab, E., Waghorn, G., Dijkstra, J., Oosting, S. 2013. Mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions in livestock production – A review of technical options for non-CO2 emissions. Edited by Pierre J. Gerber,

Benjamin Henderson and Harinder P.S. Makkar. FAO Animal Production and Health Paper No. 177. FAO, Rome, Italy.

- IDF, 2010. A common carbon footprint approach for dairy. The IDF guide to standard life cycle assessment methodology of dairy sector. Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation 445/2010. © 2010, International Dairy Federation.
- 14. IPCC, 2006. IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories.
- ISO, 2006. Environmental management life cycle assessment principle and framework, ISO 14040. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland. ©ISO 2006.
- Johnson, K.A. and Johnson, D.E. 1995. Methane emissions from cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 73, 2483-2492.
- Mills, J. A. N., Kebreab, E., Yates, C. M., Crompton, L. A., Cammell, S. B., Dhanoa, M. S., Agnew, R. E., France, J. 2003. Alternative approaches to predicting methane emissions from dairy cows. Journal of Animal Science. 81, 3141-3150.
- 18. Minitab 16 Statistical Software (2010). State College, PA: Minitab, Inc. (www.minitab.com)
- 19. Moe, P. W., Tyrell, H.F. 1977. Effects of feed intake and physical form on energy value of corn in timothy hay diets for lactating cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 60, 752-758.
- 20. Moe, P. W., Tyrell, H.F. 1979. Methane production by dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 62, 1583-1586.
- 21. Mogensen, L., Kristensen, L., Nguyen, T.L.T., Knudsen, M.T. 2012. Greenhouse gas emissions from production of imported and local cattle feed. In: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on LCA in the Agri-Food Sector, Saint-Malo, France, 1-4 Oct 2012, 321-326.
- 22. Monteney, G., Bannink, A., Chadwick, D. 2006. Greenhouse gas abatement strategies for animal husbandry. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. 112, 163-170.
- 23. Moss, A.R., Jouany, J., Newbold, J. 2000. Methane production by ruminants: its contribution to global warming. Annales de Zootechnie 49, 231-253.
- 24. NRC, 2001. National Research Council. Nutrient Requirements of Beef Cattle. National Academy Press, Washington, DC.
- 25. Pirlo, G. and Carè, S. 2013. A simplified tool for estimating carbon footprint of dairy cattle milk. Italian Journal of Animal Science. 12, 497-506.
- 26. Ramin, M. and Huhtanen, P. 2013. Effects of dietary and animal factors on methane production: A meta-analysis. Journal of Dairy Science. 96, 2476-2493.
- 27. Rotz C.A., Montes F., Chianese D.S. 2010. The carbon footprint of dairy production systems through partial life cycle assessment. Journal of Dairy Science. 93, 1266-1282.

- 28. Sauvant, D. and Giger-Reverdin, S. 2009. Modelling of digestive interactions and methane production in ruminants. INRA Productions Animales. 22, 375-384.
- Steele, L.P., Dlugokencky, E.J., Lang, P.M., Tans, P. P., Martin, R.C., Masari, K.A. 1992. Slowing down of the global accumulation of atmospheric methane during the 1980s. Nature. 358, 313-316.
- 30. Storm, I. M. L. D., Hellwing, A. L. F., Nielsen, N. I., Madsen, J. 2012. Methods for measuring and estimating methane emission from ruminants. Animals. 2, 160-183.
- Szumacher-Strabel, M. and Cieślak, A. 2012. Dietary Possibilities to Mitigate Rumen Methane and Ammonia Production, Greenhouse Gases - Capturing, Utilization and Reduction, Dr Guoxiang Liu (Ed.), ISBN: 978-953-51-0192-5.
- 32. Vercoe, P.E., Makkar, H.P.S. 2007. Measuring methane production from ruminants. Published by Springer.
- Wilkerson, V.A., Casper, D.P., Mertens, D.R. 1995. The prediction of methane production of Holstein cows by several equations. Journal of Dairy Science. 78, 2402-2414.

3.7. Tables

Table 3.1. List of methods and equations tested to estimate enteric methane emissions of different animal categories.

Approach	Reference	Equation used			
		Lactating cows equation or values	Dry cows	Replacement cattle	
1	IPCC, 2006 TIER 1	117 kg CH_4 / year per head	57 kg CH_4 / year per head	57 kg CH ₄ / year per head	
2	IPCC, 2006 TIER 2	DE = 65% of GE;Ym= 6.5% of GE	DE = 65% of GE; $Ym = 6.5\%$ of GE	DE = 65% GE; Ym = 6.5% of GE	
3	IPCC, 2006 TIER II modified DE from Sauvant (2009)	DE 59,3 + 21,2 PCO; Ym = 0.065	DE 59,3 + 21,2 PCO; Ym = 0.066	DE 59,3 + 21,2 PCO; Ym = 0.067	
4	IPCC, 2006 TIER II modified DE from Sauvant (2009 and Ym from Gerber et al., 2011)	DE = 59.3 + 21.2 PCO; Ym = 9.75–0.05×DE	DE = 59.3 + 21.2 PCO; Ym = 9.75–0.05×DE	DE = 59.3 + 21.2 PCO; Ym = 9.75-0.05×DE	
5	Hristov et al., 2013	$\begin{array}{l} CH_4 \; (GE\;Mcal/day) = 0.37\; (0.37) + 0.0392 \\ (0.0015)\;GEI\;(Mcal/day) + 0.0189\; (0.0077) \\ NDF\;(\%\; of\;DM) - 0.156\; (0.034)\;EE\;(\%\; of\; DM) + 0.0014\; (0.0003)\;BW\;(kg) \end{array}$	CH ₄ (GE Mcal/day) = 0.45 (0.13) + 0.0503 (0.0014) GEI (Mcal/day) – 0.0556 (0.015) EE (% of DM) + 0.0008 (0.0002) BW (kg)	$\begin{array}{l} CH_4 \mbox{ (GE Mcal/day)} = -\ 0.056 \mbox{ (0.122)} + 0.0447 \\ (0.0028) \mbox{ GEI (Mcal/day)} + 0.0039 \mbox{ (0.0018)} \mbox{ NDF} \\ (\% \mbox{ of DM}) - 0.033 \mbox{ (0.019)} \mbox{ EE } (\% \mbox{ of DM}) + \\ 0.00141 \mbox{ (0.00014)} \mbox{ BW (kg)} \end{array}$	
6	Ellis et al., 2008	$CH_4 (MJ/d) = 3.23 (\pm 1.12) + 0.809 (\pm 0.0862) \times DMI (kg/d)$	$CH_4 (MJ/d) = 3.23 \ (\pm 1.12) + 0.809 \ (\pm 0.0862) \times DMI \ (kg/d)$	CH ₄ (MJ/d) = 3.23 (± 1.12) + 0.809 (± 0.0862) × DMI (kg/d)	
7	Ellis et al., 2008	CH ₄ (MJ/d) = 1.64 (\pm 1.56) + 0.0396 (\pm 0.0170) × ME intake (MJ/d) + 1.45 (\pm 0.521) × NDF (kg/d)	$CH_4 (MJ/d) = 1.64 (\pm 1.56) + 0.396 (\pm 0.0170) \times ME \text{ intake } (MJ/d) + 1.45 (\pm 0.521) \times NDF (kg/d)$	CH ₄ (MJ/d) = 1.64 (\pm 1.56) + 0.396 (\pm 0.0170) × ME intake (MJ/d) + 1.45 (\pm 0.521) × NDF (kg/d)	
8	Mills et al., cited by Ellis et al., 2008	Nonlinear 2: $CH_4 (MJ/d) = 45.89 - (45.89 + 0) \times e[-0.003 \times MEI (MJ/d)]$	Nonlinear 2: CH ₄ (MJ/d) = $45.89 - (45.89 + 0) \times e[-0.003 \times MEI (MJ/d)]$	Nonlinear 2: CH ₄ (MJ/d) = $45.89 - (45.89 + 0) \times e[-0.003 \times MEI (MJ/d)]$	

DE = diet energy digestibility, % of gross energy; PCO = percentage of concentrate in ration; GE = gross energy; Ym = percentage of gross energy intake converted to methane; NDF = neuter detergent fiber, % of DM; EE, ether exctract, % of DM; GEI = gross energy intake; MEI = metabolizable energy intake. × = fixed values correspond to mean values of the variable used for the same equation (GEI = 308 MJ/d; NDF = 42,7% of DM; EE 4.36 % of DM; MEI = 181 Mj/d; NDF intake = 10.7 kg/d).

Item	UM	Lactating cows	Dry cows	Pregnant heifers	Non-bred heifers	Calves
		Mean SEM	Mean SEM	Mean SEM	Mean SEM	Mean SEM
Cattle heads	n	58.2 3.50	13.0 0.77	20.7 1.23	22.5 1.33	12.7 0.75
Current body weight	kg	625.9 2.26	625.9 2.26	438.2 1.58	294.1 0.79	70.0 0.04
Weight gain	kg/d		0.200 0.001	0.500 0.001	0.800 0.001	0.800 0.001
Milk yield	kg/year per cow	6206 124				
Dry matter intake	kg/d	16.67 0.16	8.45 0.05	8.48 0.05	6.99 0.04	1.71 0.08
Concentrate in ration	% of DM	0.46 0.01	0.19 0.01	0.22 0.01	0.27 0.01	0.65 0.02
Neuter detergent fiber	% of DM	0.43 0.003	0.56 0.004	0.55 0.004	0.52 0.005	
Ether extract	% of DM	0.044 0.001	0.020 0.001	0.021 0.001	0.022 0.001	

Table 3.2. Herd chacteristics of the sampled farms.

Table 3.3. Sensitivity analysis of the effect of independent variables considered by 7 methods on the estimation of enteric methane emissions of lactating cows. The reference animal is a lactating cow of 626 kg of BW, producing 6200 kg of fat (4.0%) and protein (3.6%) corrected milk in 305 days.

				Observ	ved data (1	n = 282)	C	H ₄ (kg/yı	· per he	ad)
Appro	^D Equation set modified in thisanalysis	Fixedvalues in the equation	Variables	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Diff.
ach					+2.5SD	+2.5SD		+2.5SD	-2.5SD	frommean
1	IPCC (2006) TIER 1	117 kg CH ₄ /head	-				117.0	117.0	117.0	0%
2	IPCC (2006) TIER 2	DE = 65% ofGE, Ym 0.065	-				121.0	121.0	121.0	0%
3	DE = 59,3 + 21,2 PCO %; Ym = 6.5% ofGE	Ym = 6.5%	DE	68.9	75.2	62.7	114.2	104.7	125.6	10%
4	DE = 59.3 + 21.2 PCO %; Ym = 9.75–0.05×DE	DE =65% ofGE	Ym	6.31	5.99	6.62	110.8	96.5	127.9	15%
5	CH ₄ (GE Mcal/day) = 0.37 + 0.0392GEI (Mcal/day) +	BW,NDF, EE*	GEI	308	433	183	97.7	124.5	70.8	27%
	0.0189 NDF (% of DM) – 0.156 ×EE	BW, GEI, EE*	NDF	42.67	56.05	29.30	97.7	102.6	91.9	6%
	(% of DM) + $0.0014 \times BW$ (kg)	BW, NDF,GEI*	EE	4.365	7.115	1.615	97.7	87.8	107.5	10%
6	$CH_4 (MJ/d) = 3.23 + 0.809 \times DMI (kg/d)$		DMI	16.7	23.5	9.9	91.7	121.8	61.7	33%
7	$CH_4 (MJ/d) = 1.64 + 0.0396 \times MEI (MJ/d)$	NDF = 10.7 kg/d*	MEI	181	254	108	133.0	148.9	117.1	12%
+ 1.45 × NDFinta	+ $1.45 \times \text{NDFintake} (\text{kg/d})$	MEI = 181 MJ/d*	NDF intake	10.7	19.4	4.2	133.0	202.1	81.8	39%
8	$CH_4 (MJ/d) = 45.89 - (45.89 + 0) \times e^{[-0.003 \times MEI (MJ/d)]}$		MEI	181	254	108	105.3	134.1	69.5	34%

DE = diet energy digestibility, % of gross energy; PCO = percentage of concentrate in ration; GE = Gross Energy; Ym = percentage of gross energy intake converted to methane; NDF = neuter detergent fiber, % of DM; EE, ether exctract, % of DM; GEI = gross energy intake; MEI = metabolizable energy intake. * = fixed values correspond to mean values of the variable used for the same equation (GEI = 308 MJ/d; NDF =42,7% of DM; EE 4.36 % of DM; MEI = 181 Mj/d; NDF intake = 10.7 kg/d).

Approach	n	Lactating cow*	Dry cow	Pregnant heifer	Non-bred heifer	Calf	Livestock unit	Average head
1	282	117.0 e	117.0 a	57.0 e	57.0 bc	57.0 a	201.4 bc	91.6 c
2	282	148.4b	63.5f	64.3c	54.6c	12.1 b*	209.5b	95.7b
3	282	136.6c	66.4 de	66.5 bc	55.0 c	12.1 b*	199.5c	91.0c
4	282	132.4c	67.3d	67.1 b	55.1c	12.1 b*	195.4 c	89.1 c
5	282	116.9e	76.3c	61.1 d	47.7 d	12.1 b*	177.1e	80.7 e
6	282	117.0 e	65.9 de	66.5 bc	59.4 b	12.1 b*	180.6de	82.3 de
7	282	159.0 a	96.0b	86.2 a	77.6a	12.1 b*	243.3 a	111.2 a
8	282	125.1d	64.5ef	65.1bc	55.7bc	12.1 b*	186.6d	85.1d
Mean		131.6	77.1	66.7	57.8	12.1 b*	199.2	90.9
SEM		1.2	0.6	0.6	0.9	12.1 b*	2.0	0.8

Table 3.4. Enteric methane (kg of CH₄/year per head) estimated with 8 different methods in the studied database.

Within column, values that not show the same letter are significantly different for p < 0.05. The same value obtained with method 6 was applied.

Approach	n	CO ₂ /kg of FPCM	CO ₂ /kg of FPCM from animals and	CO ₂ /kg of FPCM	Carbon footprint,	CO ₂ from enteric
		nom enteric C114	feed production	from animals, feed and energy use	allocated to milk	emissions
1	282	0.76b	1.42bc	1.63 b	1.55b	0.46b
2	282	0.74b	1.46 ab	1.67 ab	1.59ab	0.45 bc
3	282	0.71bc	1.38 bc	1.59 b	1.51b	0.46 b
4	282	0.70bc	1.37bc	1.58 b	1.50b	0.45 bc
5	282	0.64c	1.31c	1.52 b	1.45 b	0.43 d
6	282	0.65c	1.32c	1.53 b	1.46 b	0.43 d
7	282	0.88a	1.55a	1.76 a	1.67a	0.50 a
8	282	0.67c	1.34c	1.55 b	1.47b	0.44 cd
Mean		0.72	1.39	1.60	1.52	0.45
SEM		0.017	0.027	0.038	0.035	0.003

Whitin column, values that not show the same letter are significantly different for p <0.05.

Class of MYL	Approach	CH ₄ from	CH ₄ from	CO ₂ from	Milk
		lactating cow	livestock unit	enteric CH ₄	Carbon footprint
UM		kg/y	ear (365 d)	kg/l	kg of FPCM
	1	117.0 jkl	218.3bcdef	1.45a	2.63ab
	2	111.0 klm	178.7hijkl	1.16b	2.47b
	3	105.8lmn	176.7hijkl	1.15b	2.44b
1000 2000	4	103.9mn	175.3ijkl	1.14b	2.43b
1000-3999	5	97.84n	167.31	1.09b	2.39b
(n=45)	6	97.65n	168.2kl	1.10 b	2.40 b
	7	137.2fg	227.0 bc	1.50 a	2.77a
	8	100.8mn	169.1jkl	1.10 b	2.40 b
	1	117jk	200.1defg	0.72d	1.46cde
	2	142.3ef	201.4fg	0.72d	1.55cd
	3	130.7gh	191.9ghi	0.69de	1.47cd
1000 2000	4	126.6hi	187.9ghij	0.68de	1.46cde
4000-0999	5	113.4kl	171.81	0.62efg	1.40 def
(11-130)	6	113.7kl	175.1jkl	0.63ef	1.41def
	7	148.1de	227.3bc	0.82c	1.60 c
	8	121.6ij	181.0 hijkl	0.65def	1.43cdef
	1	117jk	195.6gh	0.49i	1.09h
	2	171.4b	232.3b	0.59fgh	1.26fgh
	3	156.6c	218.2bc	0.55ghi	1.17gh
7000	4	151.3cd	212.8cdef	0.54hi	1.15gh
(n=107)	5	129.1gh	187.5ghijk	0.47i	1.09h
	6	129.1gh	192.4ghi	0.48i	1.10 h
	7	181.2a	269.4a	0.68de	1.29efg
	8	139.6f	200.6efg	0.51hi	1.12gh

Table 3.6. Comparison of enteric emissions estimated with different methods and their effects on the total carbon footprint emissions in the studied database.

3.8. Figures



Figure 3.1. Boxplot of carbon footprint values estimated in 3 groups of farms classified on their herd production level (MYL, kg of milk/year per cow) with 8 different methods to estimate methane enteric emissions. Detailed equation set for methane estimation are reported Table 2. Carbon footprint included enteric emissions, manure emissions, on-farm and off-farm feed production emissions, and energy consumption emissions.

CHAPTER 4

Identification of production and management variables of dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy with the highest impact on their emissions of green house gases

4.1. Introduction

Several estimations of the emission of green house gases (GHG) and of the carbon footprint (CF) of the dairy farms have been published, each one realized using different equations, considering different variables, and obtaining different results. The most important variables that are generally considered in a CF estimation of a dairy farm are represented by the number of raised animals and their characteristics (breed, age, body weight), feeds characteristics, manure management (housing solutions for animals and storage solutions for manure), farm crops cultivation, energy consumptions, off-farm production of feed, fertilizers and energy. Kristensen et al. (2011), Capper et al. (2009), Casey and Holden (2005), and Flysjo et al. (2011) realized the CF of the dairy farms in different countries using different equations and coefficients, but considering the same variables exposed above; the CF values obtained by these authors were included between 1.25 and 1.82 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM. The differences of these results can be explained considering that each estimation was referred to a different farm, and different inputs obviously provide a different result. On the other hand, Guerci et al. (2013a) obtained a CF value equal to 1.30 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM considering within the variables all the information related to the feed factories that produces the animal feeds. It could be reasonable to suppose that if CF estimation considers more variables, the CF result can be higher than the one obtained with few variables. This concept is not always true. The CF estimation on dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy, described in the Chapter 2 of this thesis, showed that the 2 cooperative whose farms had the highest milk production per cow had a CF around 1.4 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM, as arithmetic mean. This value is similar to the one obtained by Guerci et al. (2013a), even if the estimation realized on the dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy did not consider the emissions from feed processing plants, and used a default coefficient for each purchased feed. Besides, within all the variables considered by Guerci et al. (2013a), atmospheric temperatures of the farm's area and the digestible energy of the ration were not taken into account, as instead in the estimation of dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy was done. This fact suggests that the CF value is not only affected by the number of variables considered, but it can be also affected by the relation between these variables and the GHG emissions produced within the farm.

The relation between the different variables has to be considered even because the reduction of one type of emissions within the farm can positively or negatively affect another emission source. Dijkstra et al. (2011) demonstrated that the reduction of N excretion in dairy cows realized through different feeding strategies, and improving milk production, can positively or negatively affect CH_4 emissions, depending on the adopted solution.

On the other hand, it is important to consider that the CF estimation can be realized to develop mitigation strategies for the reduction of the GHG emissions of the farms, and to improve their economic gains. It is a known fact that several variables that affect the CF of the dairy farm can also affect its profitability. Guerci et al. (2013a) demonstrated that high milk production intensity and high animal efficiency were strongly connected with the mitigation of the environmental impact; besides, high milk production levels and high animal efficiency can positively affect the profitability of the farm, considering the gain that derive from the increased amount of produced milk, and the reduction of feeding costs related to the increased feed conversion efficiency.

The aim of this work was to find among all the variables used to calculate the CF in the dairy farms of Southern Italy, those that were more correlated with it, in order to reduce the number of information needed to calculate the CF still obtaining a reliable result. Besides, the individuation of the variables that are more correlated with the CF will allow to concentrate the development of the mitigation strategies on the critical points of the dairy system that hold the larger influence on the GHG emissions.

4.2. Materials and methods

The study was conducted considering the 4 cooperatives operating in Southern Italy (3A for Sardinia, Granarolo for Puglia and Basilicata, Asso.La.C. for Calabria, Progetto Natura for Sicily) that were selected for the CF estimation calculated in the previous chapter.

All the information collected with the detailed survey realized on the 285 farms was implemented in a file of Microsoft Excel® to perform the calculations for the GHG emissions estimation. The estimation method is described in details in the Chapter 2 of this thesis.

Breafly, the he IPCC (2006) estimation method was chosen to calculate the emissions from animals, manure management, and crop cultivation. Coefficients used to calculate GHG emissions derived from farm energy consumptions and production were estimated using published standard coefficients adaptable to the national conditions.

 CO_2 absorption by plants and CO_2 emissions from animal respiration, manure and soils were not accounted for in this research, considering those as accounted for in the short term biogenic carbon cycle (IDF, 2010).

Following the life cycle assessment procedure (ISO, 2006), the selected system boundaries included only the emissions "from-cradle-to-farm-gate", considering only emissions generated from the input production until the milk storage in farm facilities (i.e. transport of milk from farm to processing plant was excluded).

A selection among all the variables collected with the detailed survey was realized, in order to consider only those variables that were actually inserted in the equations for the CF calculation. The selected variables were represented by:

- 5 variables referred to the general characteristics of the farm (e.g. farm size, farm localization, farming system, hectares of productive land, hectares of irrigated land);
- 12 variables indicating the average monthly temperature of the province in which each farm is located;
- 20 variables referred to the herd profile and its characteristics (e.g. number of lactating cows, average body weight of each group of animals);
- 32 variables referred to the ration characteristics of each group of animals (e.g. forage to concentrate ratio for the ration of each animal category of the farm);
- 5 variables referred to the energy consumptions of the farm (e.g. kg of GPL, kg of fuel consumed for feed cultivation and feeding management, kg of fuel consumed for other activities, kW of electric energy consumed, kW of energy produced from renewable sources);
- 13 variables referred to the crop cultivation activities within the farm (e.g. hectares of corn silage cultivated within each farm, kg of mineral or organic fertilizers/ha used within each farm).

The farms were then divided into 10 classes on the basis of their milk production level, in steps of 1000 kg, as reported in Figure 4.1. The CF for the farms within each class was studied to identify possible outliers. The farms that presented a CF value that exceeded the distance between the 1st and the 3rd quartile multiplied for 1.5 were considered outliers. A conservative approach was used and only 3 outliers (maximum values of CF of the classes 3000, 4000 and 6000) were excluded from the dataset in order to perform further statistical elaborations.

The new dataset was divided into two new datasets on the basis of the milk production level recorded for each farm (Figure 4.2); the 1st dataset, called low milk production (**LMP**), included 82 farms that presented a milk production level included between 1170 and 4984 kg of FPCM/year per cow; the 2nd dataset, called high milk production (**HMP**), included 200 farms that presented a milk production level included between 5002 and 11100 kg of FPCM/cow per year. This separation was realized considering that the relationship between the CF and the milk production level showed a different trend when the milk production level was lower than 5000 kg of FPCM/cow per year, by pointing out a distribution of the farms that was less affected by the milk production level. Furthermore, the separation of the dataset between the LMP farms and the HMP farms allowed to divide the dataset into 2 groups with a sufficiently high numbers of farms. About 30% of the farms were included within the low milk production level, and the 70% of the farms were included within the high milk production level group.

Data were analyzed with MINITAB (Minitab 16 Statistical Software. Minitab, Inc. State College, PA, USA) with techniques of descriptive statistics; mean and standard error of the mean (**SEM**) calculated on the 282 farms were reported in the tables. Analyses of CF means were performed among the two groups of farms, and milk production level of the herd (kg of milk/yr per cow and per hectare), herd parameters (% of lactating cows, % of dry cows, and % of replacing animals), and ration characteristics (% or forages, % of corn silage, % of purchased feeds) were also compared. Significant level of P < 0.05 was tested by using the Tuckey method of comparisons. A linear regression analysis was performed with R Software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) for the 2 datasets, in order to predict the equation that explained the CF trend on the basis of the milk production level recorded for each farm, and in order to identify those farms that presented a CF higher or lower than the mean CF calculated for each milk production level in the regression analysis.

The residues obtained from each regression analysis were plotted into 2 graphs, and those that were included within \pm SD/3 were eliminated, in order to considerate only those that presented a large distance from the predicted CF.

For each one of them a linear discriminant analysis (**LDA**) was performed to determine which variables were more correlated with the CF, and which variables could determine the position of the farm in respect of the CF value predicted by the linear regression analysis. A new variable was created in order to define the position of the farms on the basis of the LDA; all the farms

that presented an estimated CF value higher than the predicted one were assigned to the group 1 by the LDA; all the farms that presented an estimated CF value lower than the predicted one were assigned to the group 0 by the LDA.

A new selection among the variables was realized in order to select, on the basis of the coefficients assigned by the LDA, the variables that were more correlated with the CF calculation. A new LDA was then performed using the new selection of variables to check if even with a lower amount of variables the LDA was able to assign the farms to the group 1 or to the group 0, obtaining the same distribution realized with all the considered variables.

The selection of the variables for the 2^{nd} discriminant analysis was realized by eliminating from each group of variables those that presented a coefficient lower than \pm SD/10.

4.3. Results

Table 4.1 shows the results of the descriptive statistics realized on the two groups of farms. A significant difference was recorded for all the considered variables, except for the farm dimension (P < 0.05).

Figure 4.3 and the Figure 4.4 show the distribution of the residues of the HMP farms and of the LMP farms, respectively. Figure 4.5 and the Figure 4.6 show the distribution of the residues after the elimination of the elements included within \pm SD/3 for the HMP farms and for the LMP farms, respectively. After this first step, the HMP group was composed by 139 farms, and the LMP group presented 57 farms.

Figure 4.7 presents the distribution of the HMP farms resulting after the LDA. The farms represented with a circle (code 1) presented a CF value higher than that predicted by the regression equation yHMP of Figure 4.1; the farms represented with a square (code 0) presented a CF value lower than that predicted by the regression equation yHMP of Figure 4.1.

Figure 4.8 presents the distribution of the LMP farms resulting after the LDA. The farms represented with a circle (code 1) presented a CF value higher than that predicted by the regression equation yLMP of Figure 4.1; the farms represented with a square (code 0) presented a CF value lower than that predicted by the regression equation yLMP of Figure 4.1.

Table 4.2 presents the results of the 1st LDA, indicating the number of the farms that were correctly allocated to their own CF group (code 1 or 0) on the basis of the coefficients calculated by the LDA. Within the HMP group, 72 farms presented a CF value lower than the value predicted by the regression line of Figure 4.2, and 67 farms presented a CF value higher than the value predicted by the regression line of Figure 4.2. The principal diagonal of the LDA includes the farms assigned correctly to their own group, which were 72 for the group 0, and 65 for the group 1; the secondary diagonal includes the farms assigned to the wrong group, which were 0 for the group 0, and 2 for the group 1. Among the 139 HMP farms, only 2 farms were assigned to the wrong group, with an error equal to the 1.4%. Within the LMP group, 34 farms presented a CF value lower than the value predicted by the regression line of Figure 4.2. The principal diagonal includes the farms assigned to the wrong group, with an error equal to the 1.4%. Within the LMP group, 34 farms presented a CF value lower than the value predicted by the regression line of Figure 4.2. The principal diagonal includes the farms assigned correctly to their own group, which were 34 for the group 0, and 23 for the group 1; the secondary diagonal includes the farms assigned to the wrong group, which were 0 for the group 1. Among the 57 LMP farms, none was assigned wrongly.

Table 4.3 and the Table 4.4 show the list of the variables that were selected among those used for the 1st LDA, to perform the new LDA. Within Table 4.3, 29 variables, referred to the HMP group, are classified on the basis of the coefficients determined during the 1st LDA; within Table 4.4, 33 variables, referred to the LMP group, are classified on the basis of the coefficients determined during the 1st LDA.

Figure 4.9 shows the new distribution realized by the LDA for the HMP farms, and Figure 4.10 shows the new distribution realized by the LDA for the LMP farms. Circles and squares still represent the farms that presented a CF value higher or lower than the CF predicted by the linear regression equation of Figure 4.2, respectively.

Table 4.5 presents the results of the 2^{nd} LDA, indicating the number of the farms that were correctly allocated to their own CF group (1 or 0) on the basis of the new coefficients calculated by the LDA. Within the HMP group, the LDA assigned 74 farms to the group 0 and 67 farms to the group 1. Only 57 of the 74 farms that are included within the group 0 were actually assigned to their own group, and the remaining 15 farms were assigned to the group 1. The same thing happened to the 67 farms of the group 1; 52 of them were correctly assigned to their own group, and the remaining 15 mere assigned to the group 0.

Figure 4.9 can clarify this unexpected result ; 15 circles that were supposed to be in the group 1 are actually positioned among the squares of the group 0; on the other hand, 15 squares are positioned among the circles in the group 1. The principal diagonal includes the farms assigned correctly to their own group, which were 57 for the group 0, and 52 for the group 1; the secondary diagonal includes the farms assigned to the wrong group, which were 15 for the group 0, and 15 for the group 1. Among the 139 HMP farms, 30 farms were positioned in the wrong groups and the error percentage was equal to the 21.5%.

Within the LMP group, the principal diagonal includes the farms assigned correctly to their own group, which were 33 for the group 0, and 19 for the group 1; the secondary diagonal includes the farms assigned to the wrong group, which were 4 for the group 0, and 1 for the group 1. Among the 57 LMP farms, 5 farms were positioned in the wrong groups and the error percentage was equal to the 8.7%.

4.4. Discussions

General considerations

The comparison between the 2 groups of farms divided on the basis of the milk production level confirmed the differences that were previously underlined by the linear regression analysis (Figure 4.2). The average CF recorded in the HMP farms and in the LMP farms were different (P<0.005), and they were equal to 2.04 and 1.29 kg of CO₂eq/kg of FPCM, respectively. The average milk production level recorded for the HMP farms was equal to 7.26 t of FPCM/year per cow, and it was different (P<0.005) from the average milk production level recorded for the LMP farms, which was equal to 3.62 t of FPCM/year per cow.

The results obtained for the HMP farms are similar to those obtained by several authors that measured the CF from farms that presented the same milk production level. Thomassen et al. (2008), Kristensen et al. (2011), Guerci et al. (2013b), and Guerci et al. (2013c) obtained different CF, included between 1.11 and 1.91 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM measuring the GHG emissions in farms with different characteristics, which however had an average milk production level included between 6.40 and 7.98 t of FPCM/year per cow.

The mean CF measured in the LMP was significantly higher than the average value of the HMP farms. However, mean milk production level measured within these farms was very low, especially if the CF obtained for the LMP farms is compared with the CF estimation realized by Hegemann et al. (2011) or with the CF estimation realized by Guerci et al. (2013b). Hegemann et al. (2011) obtained a CF value equal to 2.06 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM with an average milk production equal to 5.81 t of FPCM/year per cow; Guerci et al. (2013b) obtained a CF value equal to 1.77 kg of CO_2eq/kg of FPCM for an average milk production level equal to 4.13 t of FPCM/year per cow.

These last considerations, referred to the farms that present a milk production level \leq 5.0 t of FPCM/year per cow, confirm the preliminary observations which suggested the separation of the original dataset among high and low milk production levels. When the milk production level is lower than 5.0 t of FPCM/year per cow, the CF does not follow the same trend that is showed by the farms that presented a milk production level higher than 5.0 t of FPCM/year per cow. Within the HMP group, farms that had the same milk production level showed CF values included within a short range; this fact was confirmed above comparing the average CF of the HMP farms with the results obtained by Thomassen et al. (2008), Kristensen et al. (2011), Guerci et al. (2013b), and Guerci (2013). On the other hand, within the LMP group, farms that had the same milk production level showed CF values included within a large range, pointing out that the CF estimation can be affected by many different variables besides the milk production level.

The distribution of the residues (Figures 4.3 and 4.4) confirmed this consideration, showing the different trend followed by the CF values obtained for the HMP farms and for the LMP farms.

The significant differences in the repartition of the total CF among the various components between the HMP and the LMP farms (Table 4.1) evidenced that the various GHG sources can participate to the final CF with different percentages. The CF from enteric fermentations was significantly different (P<0.005) in terms of absolute value between LMP and HMP; however, the percentage of these emissions within the total CF remained constant for both groups. This result can be explained considering that the enteric CH₄ emissions are strongly correlated to the milk production level (Yan et al., 2010), and considering that the HMP and the LMP are divided on the basis of this variable, the proportion of the CF attributed to the enteric emissions is suppose to remain constant, because it grew following the increasing milk production level.

The CF from manure presented a significantly different value between the HMP and the LMP farms; however, the percentage of this GHG source was similar between the 2 groups, with the HMP farms that presented a percentage of CF from manure equal to the 17.12%, and the LMP farms that presented a percentage of CF from manure equal to the 21.48%.

A dramatic difference was recorded for the CF derived from the use of energy; the HMP farms had a percentage of the CF from energy use much lower (P<0.005) than that of the LMP farms (8.14% vs. 17.54% for HMP and LMP, respectively). This fact can be explained considering the low amount of purchased feeds (41.16%) recorded for the LMP farms, which suggest a high level of on-farm feed production and thus high GHG emissions from energy use. Indeed, Guerci et al. (2013a) demonstrated that the main components of the CF from energy are represented by the energy used for the production and transportation of concentrate feeds purchased off-farm, and by the energy used for the on-farm feed production. It is obvious that if the percentage of purchased feeds increases, the amount of energy used within the farm for the production of feeds will decrease. As a consequence, the percentage of the CF that derives from the off-farm feed production and transportation will increase. This is what happened in the HMP farms, where the percentage of CF from energy use showed a lower value compared with the one of the LMP farms; on the other hand, the CF from the off-farm feed production was higher, respecting the increase on the percentage of purchased feeds recorded for these farms.

Discriminant analysis

The results of the 1st LDA showed that the 87 considered variables were useful to assign correctly each farm to its CF class. Considering that only 2 of the 139 HMP farms were assigned in the wrong class and none of the 57 LMP farms was assigned incorrectly, the 1st LDA demonstrated to be reliable for 98.9% of the farms.

The selection of the variables realized in the 2nd LDA presented an interesting result. The variables selected for the HMP farms were 29, and those that were selected for the LMP farms were 33. This difference between the numbers of the selected variables can be explained considering the higher variability showed by the residues of the LMP farms, compared with the

residues obtained from the HMP farms. The high variability required a higher amount of information in order to assign the farms to their own groups. The fact that the 2nd LDA, based on fewer variable than the first, caused a high error in the identification of the values of CF value higher or lower than those predicted by the regression equation of Figure 4.2, suggests that even the variable with low coefficient in the first LDA, and excluded from the second LDA, were important in determining the overall CF.

Despite this limitation, the classification of the variables selected for 2nd LDA (Tables 4.3 and 4.4) is of high value, because identified the variables with high leverage on the CF for the two classes of level of production.

The classification of the variables selected for 2nd LDA of the HMP farms (Table 4.3) presented in the first 12 positions the average atmospheric temperatures of 10 months (average temperatures of May and January were assigned to the 19th and to the 29th place), and the forage to concentrate ratio of dry cows and bred heifers. In the 13th, 14th, and 15th place there were the variables referred to the forage to concentrate ratio of the lactating cows, the nitrogen efficiency recorded for the corn grain cultivation, and the forage to concentrate ratio of the open heifers. All the variables that were positioned under the 15th place presented a coefficient lower than 2, and they were referred to the ration characteristics and to the crop cultivation; no variables concerning the energy consumptions of the farm were selected, and within the general information of the farm, the housing type and the farm localization were selected.

The farms that have a high milk production level are generally characterized by high technology levels regarding the feeding techniques and the crop cultivation, showing a sort of standardized management system that reduces the variability between these classes of farms.

The classification of the variables selected for 2^{nd} LDA of the LMP farms (Table 4.4) presented in the first 4 positions, with very high coefficients, the dietary forage to concentrate ratio of the animal categories considered. In the first positions were those of the heifers. Then, in the 5th position there was the cultivation of corn and then various variables associated to climatic conditions or to the diet.

It appears that for the HMP farms diet quality was less important, in determining the CF, than the climatic variables. This can be due to the fact that in HMP farms the quality of the diet is generally high, while the climatic conditions can both affect CF production from manure and the production performances of the animals. In the case of LMP farms, the quality of the diet is usually much lower (higher fiber concentration), especially for replacement animals, and this can greatly affects GHG emissions directly, from enteric and manure fermentations, and indirectly, markedly varying milk production. The latter would explain the steep slope in the relationship between milk production and CF reported in Figure 4.2 for LMP farms.

4.5. Conclusions

This study explored the mechanism that cause a curvilinear relationship between milk production and CF, with marked variation of CF for small variation of milk yield until the average milk production is around 5000 kg/year per cow and limited variation of CF above this threshold.

A statistical methodology to approach this issue when large dataset are available was proposed. The results showed that:

- a) It was possible to identify the variables with the higher impact on the CF of the farms;
- b) These variables were different from LMP and HMP farms, with the formers strongly affected by dietary quality, the latter by climatic conditions;
- c) Many of the variables considered had a small impact. However, as a whole they were important. Indeed, when not considered in the linear discriminant analysis the markedly increased prediction errors in the CF estimation.

Based on these results, it is possible to appear that the CF of dairy cattle farms is controlled by a large number of factors. The rank in the importance of these factors, achieved in this study, need to further explored to evaluate which of the variables can be actually controlled, and at which cost, to mitigate the CF of dairy cattle farms.

4.6. References

- Browne, N.A., Eckard, R.J., Behrendt, R., Kingwell, R.S. 2011. A comparative analysis of on-farm greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural enterprises in south eastern Australia. Animal Feed Science and Technology 166-167, 641-652.
- 2. Capper, J.L., Cady, R.A., Bauman, D.E. 2009. The environmental impact of dairy production: 1944 compared with 2007. Journal of Animal Science. 87, 2160-2167.
- 3. Casey, J.W., Holden, N.M. 2005. Analysis of greenhouse gas emissions from the average Irish milk production system. Agricultural Systems. 86, 97-114.
- Dijkstra, J., Oenema, O., Bannink, A. 2011. Dietary strategies to reducing N excretion from cattle: implications for methane emissions. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability. 3, 414-422.
- Flysjö, A., Cederberg C., Henriksson, M., Ledgard, S. 2011. The interaction between milk and beef production and emissions from land use change-critical considerations in life cycle assessment and Carbon footprint studies of milk. Journal of Cleaner Production 28,134-142.
- Guerci, M., Bava, L., Zucali, M., Sandrucci, A., Penati, C., Tamburini, A. 2013. Effect of farming strategies on environmental impact of intensive dairy farms in Italy. Journal of Dairy Research. 80, 300-308.
- Guerci, M., Bava, L., Zucali, M., Tamburini, A., Sandrucci, A. 2013b. Effect of summer grazing on carbon footprint of milk in Italian Alps: a sensitivity approach. Journal of Cleaner Production, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.11.021.
- IDF, 2010. A common carbon footprint approach for dairy. The IDF guide to standard life cycle assessment methodology of dairy sector. Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation 445/2010. © 2010, International Dairy Federation.
- 9. IPCC, 2006. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. 2006. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Overview.
- ISO, 2006. Environmental management life cycle assessment principle and framework, ISO 14040. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland. ©ISO 2006.
- 11. Kristensen, T., Mogensen, L., Trydeman Knudsen, M., Hernansen, E. 2011. Effect of production system and farming strategy on greenhouse gas emissions
- 12. Storm, I. M. L. D., Hellwing, A. L. F., Nielsen, N. I., Madsen, J. 2012. Methods for measuring and estimating methane emission from ruminants. Animals. 2, 160-183.
- Thomassen, M.A., van Calker, K.J., Smits, M.C.J., Iepema, G.L., de Boer, I.J.M. 2008. Life cycle assessment of conventional and organic milk production in the Netherlands. Agricultural Systems. 96, 95-107.

 Yan, T., Mayne, C.S., Gordon, F.J., Porter, M.G., Agnew, R.E., Patterson, D.C., Ferris, C.P. 2010. Mitigation of enteric methane emissions through improving efficiency of energy utilization and productivity in lactating dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 93, 2630-2638.

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari

4.7. Tables

Table 4.1. Descriptive characteristics of the farms inc	cluded in the sample. Values were
separated for farms with different milk production lev	vels (low and high).

ITEM	Milk produc FPCM/cov	Total	Mean	SEM	
	<i>Low</i> (>5000)	High (<5000)	A	ll farms	
Farms, n.°	82	200	282	282	-
Land, ha	40.91 ^a	46.79 ^a	12712.72	45.8	2.88
Total cattle, n.°	61.15 ^b	146.55 ^a	34324	121.72	4.61
Mature cows, n.°	38.66 ^b	85.30 ^a	20231	71.74	4.61
% lactating	75.43 ^b	83.00 ^a	-	80.8	0.48
% dry	17.00^{b}	24.57 ^a	-	19.2	0.48
% young animals	34.94 ^b	40.69^{a}	-	39.0	0.48
Calvings per cow n/yr	75.43 ^b	84.76^{a}	-	82.05	1.02
Milk yield, t FPCM/yr/ha	5.54 ^b	21.54 ^a	-	16.85	1.55
Milk yield, t FPCM/yr/cow	3.62 ^b	7.26^{a}	-	6.20	0.12
Purchased feeds, % DM	41.16 ^b	51.80^{a}	-	48.7	0.95
Purchased conc., % DM	94.36 ^a	88.18 ^b	-	89.9	0.97
Forages, % DM ration	65.57 ^a	54.04 ^b	-	57.3	0.62
Corn silage*, % DM ration	3.59 ^b	14.64 ^a	-	11.4	0.98
kg FPCM/kg DM ration	0.86 ^b	1.27 ^a	-	1.15	0.01
CO ₂ eq tot, tons x 1000	0.31 ^b	0.86 ^a	199.42	0.70	0.045
Milk sold, tons x 1000	0.14^{b}	0.64^{a}	141.15	0.50	0.036
CFP allocated to milk, %	94.0 ^b	96.3ª	-	95.6	0.17
MEAN CFP.					
kgCO ₂ eq/kgFPCM	2.04	1.29	-	1.35	-
Composition of CF, kgCO ₂ eq/ l	kg FPCM				
Enteric,	$0.96^{a}(42.10\%)$	$0.59^{b}(43.70\%)$	-	0.70	0.014
manure,	$0.39^{a}(17.12\%)$	$0.29^{b}(21.48\%)$	-	0.32	0.008
Energy,	$0.40^{a}(17.54\%)$	$0.11^{b}(8.14\%)$	-	0.20	0.016
primary emissions	0.28^{a}	0.08 ^b	-	0.14	0.011
secondary emissions	0.12 ^a	0.03 ^b	-	0.06	0.005
On-farm feed,	$0.20^{a}(8.77\%)$	$0.11^{b}(8.14\%)$	-	0.13	0.005
primary emissions	0.15 ^a	0.09 ^b	-	0.10	0.004
secondary emissions	0.05 ^a	0.02 ^b	-	0.03	0.002
Off-farm feed,	0.33 ^a (14.47%)	0.25 ^b (18.54%)	-	0.28	0.006
CF, kg CO ₂ eq/kg FPCM	2.28 ^a	1.35 ^b	-	1.62	0.03

^{a,b} within a row, means with a different superscript differ significantly for $P \le 0.05$.

Table 4.2. Results for the high milk production (HMP) and low milk production (LMP) farms of the 1^{st} linear discriminant analysis (LDA). Allocation of the farms to the groups 1 (CF value higher than that predicted by the regression equation) and 0 (CF value lower than that predicted by the regression equation) on the basis of the LDA results.

HMP Farms (n=139),				LMP Farms (n=57),				
with 8	37 variał	oles	LDA with 87 var			ariables		
	Regression				Regre	ession		
	0	1			0	1		
0	72	2	I D A	0	34	0		
1	0	65	LDA	1	0	23		
	P Farn with 8	P Farms (n=13 with 87 varial Regree 0 0 72 1 0	P Farms (n=139), with 87 variables Regression 0 1 0 72 2 1 0 65	P Farms (n=139), with 87 variables Regression 0 1 0 72 2 LDA 1 0 65	P Farms (n=139),LMPwith 87 variablesLDA vRegression00107220110651	P Farms (n=139), LMP Farms (n with 87 variables LDA with 87 va Regression Regression 0 1 0 0 72 2 0 34 LDA 1 0 65 1 0		

Variables selected for the 2 nd LDA for the HMP farms							
name	Unit of measure	Coefficient					
1- average atmospheric temperature, September	°C	14.3039					
2- average atmospheric temperature, July	°C	13.8864					
3- forage:concentrates ratio, dry cows	% of DMI	8.9966					
4- average atmospheric temperature, June	°C	8.9493					
5- forage:concentrates ratio, bred heifers	% of DMI	7.3507					
6- average atmospheric temperature, December	°C	6.0873					
7- average atmospheric temperature, March	°C	5.6018					
8- average atmospheric temperature, October	°C	4.7088					
9- average atmospheric temperature, November	°C	4.6369					
10- average atmospheric temperature, August	°C	4.2862					
11- average atmospheric temperature, April	°C	2.7942					
12- average atmospheric temperature, February	°C	2.7895					
13- forage:concentrates ratio, lactating cows	% of DMI	2.6975					
14- nitrogen efficiency use, corn grain	kg DM/kg N	2.6259					
15- forage:concentrates ratio, open heifers	% of DMI	2.6164					
16- corn cultivation	yes/no	1.9001					
17- gross energy intake, dry cows	kg DM/day	1.5732					
18- forage:concentrates ratio, unweaned calves	% of DMI	1.5552					
19- average atmospheric temperature, May	°C	0.8391					
20- gross energy intake, bred heifers	kg DM/day	0.7526					
21- housing type	cubicle/bed-pack/pasture	0.7517					
22- gross energy intake, unweaned calves	kg DM/day	0.3857					
23- farm localization	flatland, hill, mountain	0.3241					
24- consumption of mineral fertilizers	kg N/ha	0.2284					
25- gross energy intake, lactating cows	kg DM/day	0.2245					
26- dry cows	n.	0.1694					
27- corn silage cultivation	yes/no	0.0888					
28- age at first calving	years	0.0883					
29- average atmospheric temperature, January	°C	0.0681					

Table 4.3. Classification of the variables on the basis of the coefficients assigned by the first LDA realized for the high milk production (HMP) farms (n=29).

Variables selected for the 2 nd LDA for the LMP farms						
name	Unit of measure	coefficient				
1- forage:concentrates ratio, open heifers	% of DMI	11.2867				
2- forage:concentrates ratio, bred heifers	% of DMI	11.0767				
3- forage:concentrates ratio, dry cows	% of DMI	5.9421				
4- forage:concentrates ratio, lactating cows	% of DMI	5.1571				
5- corn cultivation	yes/no	2.8098				
6- average atmospheric temperature, September	°C	2.2270				
7- average atmospheric temperature, August	°C	1.9991				
8- average atmospheric temperature, May	°C	1.5103				
9- housing type	cubicle/bed-pack/pasture	1.0950				
10- gross energy intake, dry cows	kg DM/day	1.0803				
11- average atmospheric temperature, October	°C	1.0601				
12- forage:concentrates ratio, unweaned calves	% of DMI	1.0016				
13- gross energy intake, bred heifers	kg DM/day	0.7362				
14- average atmospheric temperature, November	°C	0.7312				
15- average atmospheric temperature, January	°C	0.7039				
16- farming system	confined/mixed/pasture	0.6791				
17- corn silage cultivation	ha	0.6674				
18- average atmospheric temperature, February	°C	0.5722				
19- average atmospheric temperature, July	°C	0.5412				
20- gross energy intake, open heifers	kg DM/day	0.5304				
21- average atmospheric temperature, April	°C	0.3972				
22- average atmospheric temperature, June	°C	0.3701				
23- dry cows	% of DMI	0.3521				
24- gross energy intake, lactating cows	°C	0.2745				
25- bred heifers	% of DMI	0.2720				
26- on-farm feeds, unweaned calves	kg DM	0.2404				
27- average atmospheric temperature, March	°C	0.1738				
28- consumption of mineral fertilizers	kg N/ha	0.1728				
29- irrigation service	ha	0.0747				
30- surplus cows	n.	0.0674				
31- beef calves	n.	0.0532				
32- average atmospheric temperature, December	°C	0.0503				
33- nitrogen efficiency use, corn grain	kg DM/kg N	0.0448				

Table 4.4. Classification of the variables on the basis of the coefficients assigned by the first linear discriminant analysis (LDA) realized for the low milk production (LMP) farms (n=33).

	esuits.							
HMP Farms (n=139), LDA with 29 variables				LMP Farms (n=57), LDA with 33 variables				
		0	1			0	1	
	0	57	15	I D A	0	33	4	
LDA	1	15	52	LDA	1	1	19	

Table 4.5. Results for the high milk production (HMP) and low milk production (LMP) farms of the 2^{nd} linear discriminant analysis (LDA). Allocation of the farms to the groups 1 (CF value higher than that predicted by the regression equation) and 0 (CF value lower than that predicted by the regression equation) on the basis of the LDA results.



Figure 4.1. Boxplot of the original data classified for herd production level (kg of milk/year per cow). The last class included all the values > 1000 kg.

Maria Gabriella Serra – "Estimation of carbon footprint in dairy cattle farms of Southern Italy" Tesi di Dottorato in Scienze dei Sistemi Agrari e Forestali e delle Produzioni Alimentari Indirizzo Scienze e Tecnologie Zootecniche – Università degli Studi di Sassari



Figure 4.2. Carbon footprint (CF) and cow production level for 2 different milk production levels. With open dots are reported the farms, and the corresponding regressions between milk production and CF, with milk production below 5000 kg/y per cow, with triangles those above this threshold and the corresponding regression equation (n=82 for yLMP; n=200 for yHMP).



Figure 4.3. Distribution of the residues for the high production farms (HMP) farms on the basis of the CF value estimated with the linear regression analysis (n=200).



CF, kg of $CO_2 eq/kg$ of FPCM

Figure 4.4. Distribution of the residues for the low production farms (LMP) on the basis of the CF value estimated with the linear regression analysis (n=82).



Figure 4.5. Distribution of the residues of the high production farms (HMP) after the elimination of those included within \pm SD/3 (n=139).



Figure 4.6. Distribution of the residues of the low production farms (LMP) after the elimination of those included within \pm SD/3 (n=57).



Figure 4.7. Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) graph plot for the high production farms (HPM; n=139) realized with all the selected variables (n=87). Circles and squares indicate the farms that presented a CF higher or lower, respectively, than the CF predicted by the linear regression analysis.



Figure 4.8. Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) graph plot for the low production farms (LPM; n=57) realized with all the selected variables (n=87). Circles and squares indicate the farms that presented a CF higher or lower, respectively, than the CF predicted by the linear regression analysis.



Figure 4.9. Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) graph plot for the high production farms (HPM) (n=139) realized with the variables that obtained the higher coefficients in the previous LDA (n=29). Circles and squares indicate the farms that presented a CF higher or lower, respectively, than the CF predicted by the linear regression analysis.



Figure 4.10. Linear discriminant analysis (LDA) graph plot for the low production farms (LPM) (n=57) realized with the variables that obtained the higher coefficients in the previous LDA (n=33). Circles and squares indicate the farms that presented a CF higher or lower, respectively, than the CF predicted by the linear regression analysis.